
 

{00470210.1 }  

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

 

 

John E. DeWulf (006850) 
Marvin C. Ruth (024220) 
Vidula U. Patki (030742) 
COPPERSMITH BROCKELMAN PLC 
2800 North Central Avenue, Suite 1900 
Phoenix, Arizona  85004 
T:  (602) 224-0999 
F:  (602) 224-0620 
jdewulf@cblawyers.com 
mruth@cblawyers.com 
vpatki@cblawyers.com 
 
Attorneys for Defendants 
 
 

SUPERIOR COURT OF ARIZONA 

COUNTY OF MARICOPA 
 
Peter S. Davis, as Receiver of DenSco 
Investment Corporation, an Arizona 
corporation, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
Clark Hill PLC, a Michigan limited liability 
company; David G. Beauchamp and Jane Doe 
Beauchamp, husband and wife, 
 

Defendants. 

No. CV2017-013832 
 
 
 
DEFENDANTS’ RESPONSE TO 
PLAINTIFF’S CONTROVERTING 
STATEMENT OF FACTS 
 
 
 
  
(Assigned to the Honorable Daniel Martin) 
 

Pursuant to Arizona Rule of Civil Procedure 56(c)(3), Defendants respond to 

Plaintiff’s Controverting Statement of Facts and Additional Facts (“CSOF”)  In Opposition 

to Defendants’ Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment On In Pari Delicto by identifying 

which of Plaintiff’s Additional Statement of Facts are controverted.  Exhibits supporting 

disputed facts are cited as “DCSOF Ex. __.”  Many of the exhibits noted with a DCSOF 

exhibit number have previously been included as attachments to other filings before the 
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OBJECTIONS 

1. To the extent the Receiver cites to any of Denny Chittick’s purported 

“business” or “corporate” journals or suicide letters, Defendants object on hearsay grounds 

as those documents are self-serving, demonstrably untrue and inadmissible.   Defendants 

incorporate herein their briefing on their Motion in Limine to preclude use of those journals 

and letters under Rule of Evidence 807, which was denied without prejudice.  Defendants 

dispute all “facts” that rely on Chittick’s journals and letters. 

2. Defendants object that the Receiver’s Controverting Statement of Facts 

violates Ariz. R. Civ. P 56(3)(A), which requires that the Receiver set forth facts “in 

concise, numbered paragraphs” that “cite the specific part of the record where support for 

each fact may be found.”  Many of the Receiver’s “facts” are purportedly supported by 

reference to several, if not dozens, of other statements of fact filed in support of other 

motions, which themselves then cite multiple documents, opinions, and deposition 

excerpts.  Neither Defendants (nor the Court) are required to wade through multiple levels 

of citation to ascertain the support for an alleged “fact.” 

3. Defendants object that most of the “facts” listed in the Controverting 

Statement of Facts are in fact argument or opinions regarding Defendants’ standard of care 

that are flatly refuted by Defendants’ experts, Scott Rhodes and Kevin Olson.  Defendants 

dispute all of the Receiver’s conclusory assertions that Defendants acted below the 

standard of care. 

PLAINTIFF’S ADDITIONAL STATEMENT OF FACTS 

60. Disputed.  Plaintiff’s characterization of DenSco as a purportedly “high-risk” 

client is not a “fact,” but an opinion expressed in an expert report that has been refuted by 

Defendants’ expert and that ignores significant facts relating to DenSco.  For example, 

while DenSco operated in a regulated industry, at the time the 2011 Private Offering 

Memorandum (“POM”) was issued, DenSco had funded more than $300 million in loans 
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without significant issue, all while being a “One-Man Shop” wholly controlled by Denny 

Chittick.  CSOF Ex. 2 (“Wertlieb Report”) at p. 42.  Denny Chittick was also universally 

recognized by investors prior to his death as a talented and hardworking man, who operated 

DenSco professionally and who disclosed to his investors that he operated DenSco on his 

own and that DenSco’s growth could challenge the company’s management and resources. 

DCSOF Ex. 1 (Excerpts of investor depositions); DCSOF Ex. 2 (2011 POM) at 

DIC0004509.  Defendants also object to any inference that Defendants should have 

substituted their own business judgment for that of their client, including making business 

decisions regarding DenSco’s staffing.  As local securities expert Kevin Olson explains, 

while DenSco had some characteristics of a high-risk business, Chittick had shown himself 

to have “the ability to manage through the most difficult real estate market since at least 

World War II – a market that brought down may hard-money lenders and others who were 

in less risky parts of the real estate industry.”  DCSOF Ex. 3 (Rebuttal Expert Opinion of 

Kevin Olson) at ¶ 6. Defendants also dispute that there was confusion as to who 

Defendants’ client was or that there was a conflict.  DCSOF Ex. 4 (Rhodes Report) at ¶ 27. 

Objection: irrelevant and argumentative. 

61. Disputed.  Plaintiff’s Paragraph 61 is not a fact but controverted expert 

opinion about what Defendants “should” have done given the Plaintiff’s characterization of 

DenSco as a purported “high-risk” client. The opinion expressed is Paragraph 61 is flatly 

contradicted by the Preliminary Expert Declaration of J. Scott Rhodes (“Rhodes Report”).  

The Rhodes Report notes, among other things, that under Arizona’s Ethical Rules, lawyers 

representing an organization are advisors only, not regulators who are required to do “much 

more monitoring and counseling than would otherwise be the case.”  DCSOF Ex. 4 at 

¶¶ 30-32.  Objection: irrelevant, argumentative, legal conclusion. 

62. Disputed in part.  While Beauchamp did securities work for DenSco starting 

in approximately 2003, including work on the 2003, 2005, 2007, 2009 and 2011 POMs, 



 

{00470210.1 } 4 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

 

 

there is no evidence that Beauchamp was “DenSco’s securities lawyer” after May 2014.  

DCSOF Ex. 5 (Defendants Eighth Supplemental Disclosure Statement) at p. 6.  Defendants 

further object to any inference that the POMs were solely the product of Beauchamp’s 

work.  The POMs required significant input from DenSco, and required information, 

documentation, and explanation that was solely in DenSco’s possession.  Defendants’ 

attempts to update the 2011 POM in the summer of 2013 and the spring of 2014 failed, in 

part, due to Chittick’s failure to provide such information.  (Defendants’ Statement of Facts 

In Support of Their Motions for Summary Judgment on (1) Joint and Several Liability and 

(2) Aiding and Abetting ¶ 21). 

63. Disputed in part.  Though the 2011 POM that Beauchamp prepared recited 

the number of loans DenSco had made annually since its inception in 2001 up until June 

30, 2011, it does not include a projection regarding the total loans that DenSco would make 

in 2011 or any evidence that Beauchamp knew anything about loans made after the 2011 

POM was drafted.  DSCOF Ex. 2 at p. DIC0004506.  Defendants further dispute any 

inference that the increase in DenSco lending was a “red flag,” rendered DenSco as “high 

risk” client, or otherwise obligated Defendants to investigate DenSco’s business practice or 

question Chittick’s business judgment.  Denny Chittick was universally recognized by 

investors prior to his death as a talented and hardworking man, who operated DenSco 

professionally and who disclosed to his investors that he operated DenSco on his own and 

that DenSco’s growth could challenge the company’s management and resources. DCSOF 

Ex. 1 (Excerpts of investor depositions); DCSOF Ex. 2 (2011 POM) at DIC0004509. 

64. Disputed in part.  The 2011 POM contained no “expiration” date.  Rather, it 

explained that DenSco “intends to offer the Notes on a continuous basis until the earlier of 

(a) the sale of the maximum offering, or (b) two years from the date of this memorandum; 

provided, however, the Company reserves the right to amend, modify and/or terminate this 
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offering if the Company changes its operations or method of offering in any material 

respect.”  DCSOF Ex. 2 at p DIC0004462.  

65. Disputed.  Paragraph 65 has no evidentiary support.  Plaintiff points to 

paragraphs 19-20 in the Statement of Facts In Support of Motion for Determination That 

Plaintiff Has Made A Prima Facie Case For Punitive Damages For Aiding and Abetting 

Breach of Fiduciary Duty to support its assertions, but those paragraphs cite to a 2007 

email in which Beauchamp is responding to an individual inquiry regarding DenSco and its 

offerings.   That email has no bearing on what Beauchamp knew about investors rolling 

over money in 2011. Moreover, that email indicates that Beauchamp historically had no 

knowledge regarding the status of roll-over investments.  DCSOF Ex. 6 (June 15, 2007 

email exchange between Beauchamp and R. Carney) at DIC0002470 (“Since DenSco has 

regular roll-over investments, there have probably been sales within the last six months.  

Although I have not confirmed with Denny, there have probably also been some sales since 

June 1, due to the regular roll-over of investors.”) (emphasis added).  There is no evidence 

that Beauchamp ever had access to DenSco financial or business records prior to Chittick’s 

death.   

66. Disputed.  Though Chittick sent Beauchamp an email on March 17, 2013, it 

did not ask about starting the POM.  Instead, Chittick wrote, “we’ll get together in april 

[sic] and start on our project again!”  DCSOF Ex. 7 (March 17, 2013 email from Chittick to 

Beauchamp) at BC_001906.  Beauchamp started working on an updated 2013 POM in May 

2013 and worked on those updates through August 2013. DCSOF Ex. 8 (June 2013 Bryan 

Cave invoices); DCSOF Ex. 9 (July 2013 Bryan Cave invoices); DCSOF Ex. 11 (August 

2013 Bryan Cave invoices).  Objection: vague. 

67. Disputed.  Vague as to meaning of “preliminary steps,” “new POM,” and 

“reasonable securities [].” Contemporaneous billing invoices from May, June and July 

2013 evidence that Beauchamp did significantly more than take “some preliminary steps to 
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prepare a new POM.”  Beauchamp worked to update the POM on June 14, June 25, July 

12, July 15, July 17, July 23 and July 25. DCSOF Ex. 8 (June 2013 Bryan Cave invoices); 

DCSOF Ex. 9 (July 2013 Bryan Cave invoices).  He had circulated a preliminary updated 

draft of the POM by June 25, 2013, as a colleague noted in her billing records that she 

“[r]eview[ed] draft of 2013 offering memorandum.”  Id. at BC_003084.  Beauchamp’s 

testimony also contradicts Plaintiff’s opinion and legal conclusion that he “did not conduct 

due diligence that a reasonable securities [sic] would have done to prepare a new POM for 

an entity issuing hundreds of loans.”  Beauchamp noted that in updating the 2011 POM, he 

“reviewed the file and the previous files with respect to status of disclosure items, 

background information.”  DCSOF Ex. 10 (Beauchamp Depo. Tr.) at 285:24 – 286:2.  In 

any event, Plaintiff has proferred no evidence to support its assertion that Beauchamp did 

not do the due diligence required, as the statement of facts paragraphs cited have no 

evidentiary support. Plaintiff further has submitted no evidence as to what “due diligence” 

was purportedly required.  Defendants object to any suggested inference that Defendants 

were required to conduct further due diligence on DenSco business or Chittick’s business 

judgment, or that Defendants were required to draft a “new POM,” rather than update the 

prior POM.  Objection: vague, legal conclusion. 

68. Disputed and vague as to the meaning of “limited work”.  Contemporaneous 

billing invoices from July and August 2013 evidence that Beauchamp did significantly 

more than “some limited work on an updated POM.”  Beauchamp worked to update the 

POM on July 12, July 15, July 17, July 23, July 25 and August 6. DCSOF Ex. 9 and 

DCSOF Ex. 11 (August 2013 Bryan Cave invoices).  Defendants further dispute that the 

“expiration” of the 2011 POM rendered it unusable.  Objection: vague. 

69. Disputed in part.  Defendants admit that Beauchamp left Bryan Cave in 

August 2013.  Beyond that, Plaintiff cites no evidence that Beauchamp was “preoccupied 

with changing law firms.”  To the contrary, Beauchamp explicitly testified that after he was 
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asked to leave Bryan Cave, his “first priority was to [his] clients, as it’s ethically required” 

and that he continued to “focus[] on client matters” as he transitioned from Bryan Cave to 

Clark Hill.  Defendants also dispute any inference that Beauchamp was “asked to leave” for 

any reason other than the realization between Beauchamp and Bryan Cave that his practice 

and Bryan Cave were not a good fit.  DCSOF Ex. 10 at 43:20-21, 45:25-46:1 and 46:11-12.  

Objection: Irrelevant, argumentative.  

70. Disputed.  The documents cited, including the complaint Chittick provided to 

Beauchamp, do not support the stated “fact,” because the documents did not allege that 

Menaged had double-liened a property, nor do they allege that DenSco’s lien was 

subordinate.   On June 14, 2013, Chittick sent Beauchamp the first four pages of the 

complaint in the Freo lawsuit and wrote: “I have a borrower, to which I’ve done a ton of 

business with, millions in loans and hundreds of loans for several years, he’s getting sued 

along with me.  He bought a property at auction, was issued a trustee’s deed, I put a loan on 

it.  Evidently the trustee had already sold it before the auction and received money on it . . . 

.”  Chittick did not ask Beauchamp to take any action with respect to the Freo lawsuit, 

writing instead that he “just wanted [Beauchamp] to be aware of it.”  DCSOF Ex. 12 

(Partial Freo Complaint and accompanying June 14, 2013 email from Chittick to 

Beauchamp).  The Freo lawsuit did not concern lien priority or double encumbering of 

properties, and would not have put anyone on notice otherwise.  DCSOF Ex. 13 (Expert 

Report of Kevin Olson) at p. 15 (“neither the information in the FREO lawsuit, nor the 

information Mr. Chittick shared with Beauchamp about the FREO lawsuit, would have or 

should have prompted Mr. Beauchamp to raise additional concerns about DenSco’s 

business practices”).   

71. Disputed in part.  Defendants do not dispute that the email includes the 

language quoted in Paragraph 71, but the citation is incomplete and lacks context.  The full 

paragraph of the cited email explains, “Easy Investments, has his attorney working on it, 
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i’m ok to piggy back with his attorney to fight it, Easy Investments willing to pay the legal 

fees to fight it.  I just wanted you to be aware of it, and talk to his attorney.  Contact info is 

below.”  DCSOF Ex. 12.  Chittick then forwarded that email to Menaged and told Menaged 

that “I’m going to keep [Beauchamp] from running up any unessary [sic] bills, just talk to 

your guy and hadn [sic] if off ot [sic] him.”  DCSOF Ex. 14 (June 14, 2013 email from 

Chittick to Menaged).  Defendants object to any inference that Chittick wanted Beauchamp 

to perform any legal work with respect to the FREO complaint. 

72. Disputed in part.  Though Beauchamp received a copy of the Freo lawsuit 

which includes the quoted language, the Freo lawsuit did not focus on double liens,  and 

Chittick did not ask Beauchamp to investigate the underlying allegations of the lawsuit.  

DCSOF Ex. 13 at p. 15 (“neither the information in the FREO lawsuit, nor the information 

Mr. Chittick shared with Beauchamp about the FREO lawsuit, would have or should have 

prompted Mr. Beauchamp to raise additional concerns about DenSco’s business 

practices”). 

73. Disputed.  Paragraph 73 contains no facts and Plaintiff has provided no 

evidence that the Freo complaint put Beauchamp on notice that the 2011 POM was 

materially misleading or that “DenSco was not following the ‘proper method and 

procedures for funding a loan.’”  The Freo lawsuit did not relate to lien priority or double 

encumbering of properties.  Chittick additionally explained the alleged reason the lawsuit 

had arisen, which related only to a single property.  DCSOF Ex. 12, DCSOF Ex. 13 (Expert 

Report of Kevin Olson) at p. 15 (“neither the information in the FREO lawsuit, nor the 

information Mr. Chittick shared with Beauchamp about the FREO lawsuit, would have or 

should have prompted Mr. Beauchamp to raise additional concerns about DenSco’s 

business practices”).  Objection: Argumentative.  

74. Disputed in part and vague as to what Plaintiff is referring to when he states 

that “this” would be material.  Defendants admit Beauchamp informed Chittick that the fact 
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of the lawsuit would have to be disclosed in an updated POM.   DenSco’s POMs provided 

short explanations as to whether collateral was foreclosed on, or if loans did not yield a 

profit.  The POM would then provide an explanation as to how that particular loan loss 

affected the company.  DCSOF Ex. 2 at DIC0004505-4508.  Chittick responded that “1 

sentence should suffice!”  DCSOF Ex. 16 (June 14, 2013 email exchange between Chittick 

and Beauchamp).  A cursory reference to the lawsuit was appropriate given that a motion 

for summary judgment was granted in favor of Easy Investments on January 6, 2013.  

DCSOF Ex. 17 (Minute Entry (CV 2013-007663)).  There is no evidence that Beauchamp 

was suggesting that DenSco was required to disclose double liening issues or the alleged 

failure to follow “the proper method and procedures for funding a loan” because the FREO 

complaint would not have put him on notice of such issues in any event.  DCSOF Ex. 13 at 

p. 15 (“neither the information in the FREO lawsuit, nor the information Mr. Chittick 

shared with Beauchamp about the FREO lawsuit, would have or should have prompted Mr. 

Beauchamp to raise additional concerns about DenSco’s business practices”).  Objection:  

vague. 

75. Disputed.  Beauchamp did not investigate the underlying allegations in the 

Freo complaint or represent DenSco in the litigation because Chittick did not request such 

advice or assistance, nor was it needed.  DCSOF Ex. 12; DCSOF Ex. 13 at p. 15 (“neither 

the information in the FREO lawsuit, nor the information Mr. Chittick shared with 

Beauchamp about the FREO lawsuit, would have or should have prompted Mr. Beauchamp 

to raise additional concerns about DenSco’s business practices”).  To the contrary, Chittick 

noted that he only wanted Beauchamp “to be aware” of the lawsuit.  Id.  Having reviewed 

the complaint, and after talking with Chittick, Beauchamp also reminded Chittick that he 

should fund loans directly to the trustee or escrow company conducting the sale, rather than 

provide loan funds directly to the borrower.   DCSOF Ex. 10 at 59:3-12 and 252-253, 

305:12-19.  Plaintiff’s assertion that this advice constitutes an “admission that Beauchamp 
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knew in June 2013 that the 2011 POM was materially misleading” has no evidentiary 

support and is argument, not fact.  Objection: Irrelevant and argumentative.  

76. Disputed in part.  Beauchamp did not investigate the underlying allegations 

in the Freo complaint or represent DenSco in the litigation because Chittick did not request 

such advice or assistance, nor was it necessary.  DCSOF Ex. 12; DCSOF Ex. 13 at p. 15 

(“neither the information in the FREO lawsuit, nor the information Mr. Chittick shared 

with Beauchamp about the FREO lawsuit, would have or should have prompted Mr. 

Beauchamp to raise additional concerns about DenSco’s business practices”).  Defendants 

object to an inference that Beauchamp was required to conduct any further investigation.  

Further, Paragraph 76 is not a statement of fact, but merely hypothesizes about what 

Beauchamp purportedly would have discovered had he engaged in some hypothetical 

conduct.  Objection: Irrelevant and argumentative, incomplete hypothetical.  

77. Disputed.  Paragraph 77 contains no facts, cites no supporting evidence, and 

is purely argumentative.  There is no evidence that there was a conflict of interest with 

Easy Investments’ attorney representing both DenSco and Easy Investments, given the 

issues in the case.  DCSOF Ex. 12.  In fact, there was no conflict of interest.  DenSco and 

Menaged’s entity, Easy Investments, were not adverse in the FREO litigation. Objection: 

Argumentative. 

78. Disputed.  The 2011 POM was not updated at the direction of Chittick.  

Chittick failed to provide the business and financial information needed to update the 

POM.  DCSOF Ex. 10 at 74:16-75:2, 287:22-24, 289:18-22.  Defendants further dispute 

that the FREO lawsuit itself was a material fact that needed to be disclosed.  DenSco’s 

POMs provided short explanations as to whether collateral was foreclosed on, or if loans 

did not yield a profit.  The POM would then provide an explanation as to how that 

particular loan loss affected the company.  DCSOF Ex. 2 at DIC0004505-4508.  Whether a 

single loan on a single property was foreclosed on was not (and is not) itself material.   
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79. Disputed.  Defendants object that Plaintiff’s statement of “fact” is vague as to 

what “material” change existed from the 2011 POM, or what “materially incorrect” 

information Beauchamp purportedly knew about.  First, the 2011 POM did not “expire”.  

See Response to Paragraph 64.  Second, Beauchamp did not know that the 2011 POM was 

materially incorrect as of July 1, 2013.  The only information that had not been disclosed in 

an updated POM was the fact of the Freo lawsuit.  As discussed, the Freo lawsuit did not 

concern lien priority or double encumbering of properties, and would not have put anyone 

on notice that there were “materially incorrect” statements in the POM.  DCSOF Ex. 13 at 

p. 15 (“neither the information in the FREO lawsuit, nor the information Mr. Chittick 

shared with Beauchamp about the FREO lawsuit, would have or should have prompted Mr. 

Beauchamp to raise additional concerns about DenSco’s business practices”).  See 

generally Response to Paragraphs 72-78.  Chittick himself noted that the Freo lawsuit 

would be discussed in a single sentence in the updated POM.  DCSOF Ex. 16.  Finally, 

Beauchamp had long advised DenSco since the inception of the attorney-client relationship 

that proper disclosures had to be made to investors, of which Chittick was indisputably 

aware.  DCSOF Ex. 5 at p. 6.  Objection: Argumentative, vague.  

80. Disputed.  Plaintiff’s summary of the email is vague and incomplete.  

Chittick sent Beauchamp an email on December 18, 2013 that stated: “since you moved, 

we’ve never finished the update on the memorandum.  Warren is asking where it is.”  

DCSOF Ex. 18 (December 18, 2013 email from Chittick to Beauchamp). The email did not 

acknowledge that Beauchamp had halted work on updating the POM at the behest of 

Chittick.  DCSOF Ex. 10 at 74:16-75:2, 287:22-24, 289:18-22.  Defendants object to the 

suggested inference that Defendants were asked to work on the 2013 POM in the interim.  

The 2011 POM was not updated at the direction of Chittick, who failed to provide the 

business and financial information needed to update the POM.  DCSOF Ex. 10 at 74:16-
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75:2, 287:22-24, 289:18-22. Objection: argumentative, vague, incomplete, legal 

conclusion. 

81. Disputed in part.  Paragraph 81 is purely argument.  Defendants are not 

“claiming” anything.  Defendants have provided information regarding the contents of the 

December 2013 phone call.  DCSOF Ex. 5 at p. 9.   As expert Olson opined, “Under these 

circumstances, I do not believe there was sufficient information from which Mr. 

Beauchamp could surmise that there was a systemic issue regarding double liening at 

DenSco.  I also believe that Mr. Beauchamp could reasonably believe…that Mr. Chittick 

would handle this as a business matter and keep Mr. Beauchamp reasonably apprised.” 

DCSOF Ex. 13 at p. 16-17. Objection: Irrelevant and argumentative. 

82. Disputed.  Paragraph 82 contains no facts and is pure argument.  Further, 

Beauchamp reminded Chittick during the conversation that he still needed to update 

DenSco’s POM in that telephone call, but did nothing more at his client’s direction. 

DCSOF Ex. 5 at p. 9. Defendants dispute the inference that the phone call required 

Beauchamp to conduct any investigation, that Defendants’ client asked Defendants to 

perform an investigation, or that Defendants should have determined as a result of 

Chittick’s minimal disclosure during the phone call that DenSco was suffering from 

systemic problems.  As expert Olson opined, “Under these circumstances, I do not believe 

there was sufficient information from which Mr. Beauchamp could surmise that there was a 

systemic issue regarding double liening at DenSco.  I also believe that Mr. Beauchamp 

could reasonably believe…that Mr. Chittick would handle this as a business matter and 

keep Mr. Beauchamp reasonably apprised.” DCSOF Ex. 13 at p. 16-17. Objection: 

Irrelevant and argumentative. 

83. Disputed in part.  Beauchamp has testified that Chittick instructed him to 

hold off on additional work to update the 2013 POM in August and September 2013.  The 
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remaining statements in Paragraph 83 contain no facts and are purely argument.  Objection: 

Irrelevant and argumentative. 

84. Disputed.  Paragraph 84 contains no facts and is pure opinion and argument.  

Further, Defendants experts disagree.  DCSOF Ex. 13 at p. 30 (“Mr. Beauchamp properly 

advised DenSco about nature, timing, and necessity of disclosures of material information 

to investors (including new and rollover investors) and his advice in this respect was 

consistent with the law and regulations and . . . met the standard of care.”).  Objection: 

Irrelevant, argumentative, legal conclusion. 

85. Disputed.  Paragraph 85 contains no facts and is pure opinion and argument.  

Plaintiff is required to set out individual statements of fact supported by evidence.  

Paragraph 85 is argument purportedly supported by 34 separate statements of fact included 

in a prior pleading.  Defendants dispute that they fell below the standard of care or aided 

and abetted any breaches of fiduciary duty.  DCSOF Ex. 13; DCSOF Ex. 4.  Objection: 

Irrelevant and argumentative.   

86. Disputed and vague.  Paragraph 86 contains no facts, is pure argument, and 

fails to cite any supporting evidence. Further, it’s unclear what “this knowledge” or “what 

was known” are supposed to refer to.   Defendants dispute that they fell below the standard 

of care or aided and abetted any breaches of fiduciary duty.  DCSOF Ex. 13; DCSOF Ex. 4.  

Objection: Irrelevant and argumentative. 

87. Disputed.  Paragraph 87 contains no facts and is pure opinion and argument, 

the inferences of which are contradicted by Defendants’ experts.  DCSOF Ex. 13 at p. 30.  

Defendants dispute that they fell below the standard of care or aided and abetted any 

breaches of fiduciary duty.  DCSOF Ex. 13; DCSOF Ex. 4.  Id. Objection: Irrelevant, 

argumentative, legal conclusion.   

88. Disputed.  Paragraph 88 contains no facts and is merely a summary of their 

expert’s opinion, that is contradicted by Defendants’ experts.  DCSOF Ex. 13 at p. 30.   
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Defendants dispute that they fell below the standard of care or aided and abetted any 

breaches of fiduciary duty.  DCSOF Ex. 13; DCSOF Ex. 4.  Objection: Irrelevant, 

argumentative, legal conclusion. 

89. Disputed.  Paragraph 89 contains no facts and is merely a summary of their 

expert’s opinion that is contradicted by Defendants’ experts.  DCSOF Ex. 13 at p. 30.   

Defendants dispute that they fell below the standard of care or aided and abetted any 

breaches of fiduciary duty.  DCSOF Ex. 13; DCSOF Ex. 4. Objection: Irrelevant, 

argumentative, legal conclusion.     

90. Disputed and vague as what “advice” Plaintiff is asserting Defendants did not 

provide.  Beauchamp met with Chittick and Menaged on January 9, 2014 to discuss the 

double liening issue.  The meeting followed a January 7, 2014 email in which Chittick 

provided some preliminary details relating to the double liening.  The email explained that 

DenSco had “been lending to [Menaged] through a few different LLC’s and his name since 

2007.  I’ve lent him 50 million dollars and i have never had a problem with payment or 

issue that hasn’t been resolved.”  The email went on to explain that in the prior year, 

Menaged’s wife had become “ill with cancer” and Menaged’s cousin “took on a stronger 

day to day role as [Menaged] was distracted with his wife.”  The cousin soon began double 

encumbering properties and then fled the country with any excess money.  The email went 

on explain that Menaged and Chittick had devised and implemented a plan to resolve the 

double encumbering.  DCSOF Ex. 19 (January 7, 2014 email from Chittick to Beauchamp) 

at DIC0007135-7318.  At the January 9, 2014 meeting, Chittick and Menaged reiterated the 

details provided in the January 7 email.  Contemporaneous notes kept by Beauchamp of 

that meeting recite that Chittick and Menaged asserted that Menaged’s cousin was 

responsible for the double liening problem, that issues with 10% of the double liened 

properties had been resolved “in [the] last 45 days” pursuant to a plan developed earlier, 

and that there were likely between 100 and 125 properties effected.  DCSOF Ex. 20 
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(January 9, 2014 Beauchamp notes).  Contrary to Plaintiff’s statement, Chittick and 

Menaged had already entered into a work out agreement, and were performing on that 

agreement, by the time of the meeting.  DCSOF Ex. 19. Defendants dispute that they fell 

below the standard of care or aided and abetted any breaches of fiduciary duty.  DCSOF 

Ex. 13; DCSOF Ex. 4. 

91. Disputed.  Paragraph 91 is not supported by any facts and is vague as to what 

“material information” Beauchamp purportedly knew DenSco was withholding from 

investors.  Defendants dispute that they fell below the standard of care or aided and abetted 

any breaches of fiduciary duty.  DCSOF Ex. 13; DCSOF Ex. 4.  Objection: Irrelevant and 

argumentative. 

92. Disputed.    Beauchamp believed that the Forbearance Agreement to 

memorialize Chittick and Menaged’s work out plan would be finalized before the end of 

January, at which point an updated POM could be issued.  DCSOF Ex. 21 (January 21, 

2014 email from Beauchamp to Chittick) at DIC0006528 (“I am just very concerned about 

the payoffs getting so far ahead of the documentation.  I have authorized the preparation of 

the Forbearance Agreement and the related documents.  Under normal circumstances, this 

should be finalized and signed before you advance all of this additional money.  We plan to 

get the documents to you and Scott later this week.  Hopefully, we can get the documents 

signed later this week.”).  Beauchamp further advised Chittick repeatedly that while the 

Forbearance Agreement was being documented, Densco could not raise money (either 

through new investments or rollovers) without full disclosure.  DCSOF Ex. 10 at 78:15-

79:6, 158:24 – 159:4, 159:14 – 160:7, 172:7-21.  Though the Forbearance Agreement 

ultimately took longer to document, Clark Hill and Beauchamp began to update the POM 

in May 2014. DCSOF Ex. 22 (May 14, 2014 email from Schenck to Beauchamp with 2014 

POM attached) (Exh. 101).  Another Clark Hill attorney, Daniel Schenck, emailed a draft 

of the 2014 POM to Beauchamp on May 14, 2014.  That draft included a description of the 
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First Fraud and Forbearance Agreement.  Id.  The draft had numerous blanks that required 

information from DenSco, and included numerous comments and questions for Chittick.  

Id.  Beauchamp shared the draft POM with Chittick and requested that he approve the 

description of the double lien issue and the workout.  Chittick refused, prompting 

Beauchamp to terminate DenSco as a client in May 2014.  DCSOF Ex. 10 at 121:20-122:4, 

164:1-14; DCSOF Ex. 23 (Schenck Depo Tr.) at 111:5-112:12.  Defendants never advised 

Chittick that he could put off disclosure for a year.  Defendants repeatedly advised Chittick 

that he had a fiduciary duty that included disclosure requirements, and that Chittick could 

not raise money without disclosure.  DCSOF Ex. 25 (February 4, 2014 email from 

Beauchamp to Chittick) at DIC0006673; DCSOF Ex. 26 (February 7, 2014 email from 

Beauchamp to Goulder) (Exh. 343); DCSOF Ex. 27 (February 9, 2014 email from 

Beauchamp to Chittick) at DIC0006708; DCSOF Ex. 28 (February 14, 2014 email from 

Beauchamp to Chittick) (Exh. 75); DCSOF Ex. 29 (February 25, 2014 email from 

Beauchamp to Chittick) (Exh. 360); DCSOF Ex. 30 (March 13, 2014 email from 

Beauchamp to Chittick) (Exh. 383).  Defendants dispute that they fell below the standard of 

care or aided and abetted any breaches of fiduciary duty.  DCSOF Ex. 13; DCSOF Ex. 4 

(Rhodes Report). Objection: Hearsay regarding Menaged’s testimony as to what Chittick 

purportedly told him about what Beauchamp purportedly told Chittick; objection to 

Plaintiff’s citation to 32 different statements of fact in support of an unrelated motion to 

support a single purported “statement of fact”.   

93. Disputed.  Paragraph 93 contains no facts and is pure opinion and argument.  

DCSOF Ex. 13 at p. 30.  Defendants dispute that they fell below the standard of care or 

aided and abetted any breaches of fiduciary duty.  DCSOF Ex. 13; DCSOF Ex. 4.   Id.  

Objection: Irrelevant, argumentative, legal conclusion. 
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94. Disputed in part.  Defendants are not “claiming” anything.  They have 

testified as to the advice provided.  Defendants’ experts opine that Defendants met the 

standard of care.  DCSOF Ex. 13 at p. 30.   Objection: Irrelevant, argumentative. 

95. Disputed in part.  Defendants are not “claiming” anything.  They have 

truthfully testified as to their knowledge and the advice provided.  Defendants’ experts 

opine that Defendants met the standard of care.  DCSOF Ex. 13 at p. 30.  Defendants’ 

experts further opine that DenSco could make disclosures to investors verbally – an 

updated POM was not required.  Id. at p. 9.   

96. Disputed.  First, Plaintiff has provided no evidentiary support for its assertion 

that “[a]ll other evidence indicates that Beauchamp and Clark Hill knew and encouraged 

the continued efforts to raise money without telling DenSco’s investors.”  Second, Plaintiff 

blatantly misstates the record.  For one, Chittick clearly understood that he was required to 

provide disclosures to investors from whom he was raising money, as he had done for more 

than a decade, as Defendants advised him to do so.  DCSOF Ex. 24 (February 11, 2014 

email from Chittick to Menaged) (Exh. 548); DSOF at ¶¶ 11-15. Further, there is ample 

written evidence that Defendants provided proper advice to Chittick regarding his 

disclosure obligations. DCSOF Ex. 25; DCSOF Ex. 26; DCSOF Ex. 27; DCSOF Ex. 28; 

DCSOF Ex. 29; DCSOF Ex. 30.  Objection: argumentative. 

97. Disputed, lacks foundation as to what Chittick knew or believed, vague as to 

what Chittick wrote in his journal.  Plaintiff’s only support for its assertions in Paragraph 

97 are the purported corporate journals kept by Chittick.  Those corporate journals 

constitute hearsay, have no indicia of reliability and will not be admissible at trial.  

Defendants incorporate herein their Motion in Limine to preclude use of the corporate 

journals and suicide letters, which was denied without prejudice.  The corporate journal 

entries are also flatly contradicted by the numerous emails from Beauchamp between 

January and May 2014 where Beauchamp reminded Chittick of his fiduciary duties to 
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DenSco, including his duties of disclosure.  DCSOF Ex. 24; DCSOF Ex. 25; DCSOF Ex. 

26; DCSOF Ex. 27; DCSOF Ex. 28; DCSOF Ex. 29; DCSOF Ex. 30.  Further, Beauchamp 

repeatedly advised Chittick as to his need to make disclosure in order to raise money.  

Chittick’s vague journal entries to not refute that advice.  DCSOF Ex. 10 at 78:15-79:6, 

158:24-159:4, 159:14-160:7, 172:7-21.  Objection: hearsay, lacks foundation.  

98. Disputed in part.  Plaintiff does not accurately represent the full email 

exchange between the parties.  In addition to telling Beauchamp that he has “spent the day 

contacting every investor that has told me they want to give me more money,” Chittick 

informed Beauchamp that the double liening issue would be “all done in 30 days easy, less 

than three weeks would be my goal” and that Menaged was raising additional capital.  

Beauchamp then responded that Chittick “should feel very honored that you could raise 

that amount of money that quickly” and also asked for details of how Menaged was 

injecting more money into the deal.  DCSOF Ex. 31 (January 12, 2014 email exchange 

beween Beauchamp and Chittick) (Exh. 150).  There is no evidence that Beauchamp’s 

email condoned Chittick raising additional money from DenSco investors without proper 

disclosures, or suggests that Beauchamp was or should have been aware that Chittick was 

raising money without proper disclosures, nor does Chittick’s email suggest that he is 

raising money without making disclosures.  Beauchamp repeatedly advised Chittick as to 

his need to make disclosure in order to raise money.  DCSOF Ex. 10 at 78:15-79:6, 158:24-

159:4, 159:14-160:7, 172:7-21. 

99. Disputed in part.  Plaintiff does not accurately represent the full email 

exchange between the parties.  Chittick sent Beauchamp a long email summarizing how 

“scott and i have been talking about how do we eliminate as many as these loans as fast as 

possible.”  DCSOF Ex. 29.  Chittick then asks how much room he has under the 

Forbearance Agreement to devise solutions to eliminating the loans.  Id.  Beauchamp 

responds that the various solutions suggested by Chittick are “[g]ood ideas and probably 
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something that we might need to work on,” but then advises that “[w]e will probably need 

to focus on an alternative approach, because [Menaged’s attorney’s] demands and changes 

have pretty much killed your ability to sign the Forbearance Agreement, which I believe 

[Menaged’s attorney] wanted to do from the beginning.”  Id.  Defendants object to the 

inference that Beauchamp responsive email fell below the standard of care.  It did not.  

DCSOF Ex. 13; DCSOF Ex. 4. 

100. Disputed.  This statement of “fact” is vague, incomplete, and nonsensical.  

Plaintiff does not accurately represent the full email exchange between the parties.  The 

parties were discussing how the work out plan would be affected if Chittick began making 

loans to Menaged “at 120% of LTV.”  Chittick explained why he thought increasing the 

loan-to-value ratio made sense, to which Beauchamp responded, “I completely agree that it 

makes a lot of sense, but I am concerned about the disclosure to your investors.”  Chittick 

then responds, “so am i but the [sic] details of the agreement are confidential, how my 

ratios end up, i can explain without giving details.”  DCSOF Ex. 32 (March 17, 2014 email 

exchange between Beauchamp and Chittick) (Exh. 387).  Nothing in the email provides 

that Beauchamp advised Chittick to follow whatever vague “plan” is allegedly set forth in 

the email. There is no evidence that Beauchamp had the necessary financial information to 

determine what DenSco’s overall loan to value ratio might be.  

101. Disputed.  Paragraph 101 contains no facts, is vague as to what “examples” 

Plaintiff is referring to, and is pure argument.  Defendants incorporate herein their 

responses set forth above.  Defendants did not fall below the standard of care or aid and 

abet breaches of fiduciary duty.  DCSOF Ex. 13; DCSOF Ex. 4.  Objection: Irrelevant and 

argumentative. 

102. Disputed in part.  Beauchamp became concerned that Chittick was not 

making the necessary oral disclosures to investors from whom he was raising money in 

approximately mid-April 2014.  CSOF Ex. 4.  
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103. Disputed.  Plaintiff mischaracterizes the 8 pages of Scott Rhodes’s cited 

testimony, most of which responds to Plaintiff’s incomplete hypotheticals.  Mr. Rhodes 

testified that an attorney has a mandatory duty to withdraw when the attorney knows that 

his client is committing an ongoing crime.  DCSOF Ex. 33 (Rhodes Depo. Tr.) at 181:21-

25.  He also testified, however, that prior to withdrawal, the attorney should determine 

whether it is possible to remedy the unlawful conduct.  Id.  Further, the statement is vague 

as to what “that point” refers to, whether a specific point in time, or some specific 

knowledge that Beauchamp purportedly possessed.   

104. Disputed.  Paragraph 104 contains no facts and is pure opinion and argument.  

It additionally mischaracterizes Scott Rhodes’s deposition, comment 11 to ER 1.1 and ER 

1.13(c)(2), all of which Plaintiff cites to in support of its argumentative paragraph.  First, 

Mr. Rhodes merely explained that a noisy withdrawal could be done in response to an 

incomplete hypothetical question involving DenSco posed by Plaintiff’s attorney.  Second, 

there is no comment 11 to ER 1.1.  Third, ER 1.13(c)(2) merely provides that an attorney 

“may reveal information relating to the representation” if a number of conditions are met.  

Nothing cited by Plaintiff obligates an attorney to violate attorney client privilege.  The 

Rhodes Report opines that Defendants were not required to report out.  DCSOF Ex. 4 at ¶ 

43.  Objection: Irrelevant, argumentative, legal conclusion. 

105. Disputed.  Paragraph 105 contains no facts and is pure argument.  Moreover, 

it is simply not correct.  Not only did Beauchamp testify that he terminated DenSco as a 

client in May 2014, but another attorney at Clark Hill, David Schenck, testified to the same 

fact.  DCSOF Ex. 10 at 121:20-122:4, 164:1-14; DCSOF Ex. 23 at 111:5-112:12.  There 

are also no invoices for securities work done on behalf of DenSco after May 2014 until 

March 2016, other than limited clean up work on the Forbearance Agreement that was 

completed in June 2014.  DCSOF Ex. 34 (March, April, May and June 2016 Clark Hill 



 

{00470210.1 } 21 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

 

 

invoices). As expert Rhodes points out, a termination need not be in writing.  Ex. 4 at ¶ 42. 

Objection: Irrelevant and argumentative. 

106. Disputed in part.  Plaintiff does not accurately represent Beauchamp’s full 

testimony.  Beauchamp testified that Chittick said “Don’t bother, don’t sent me a letter.  

I’m looking for other counsel.”  DCSOF Ex. 10 at 197:18-21.   

107. Disputed.  Paragraph 107 contains no facts and is pure argument.  The lack of 

any legal invoices, the lack of any further communication between Defendants and 

Chittick, and Schenck’s testimony, further support the testimony that Defendants 

terminated DenSco as a securities client in May 2014. See Response to Paragraph 105. 

Objection: Irrelevant and argumentative. 

108. Disputed.  Paragraph 108 contains no facts and is pure argument.  

Additionally, the corporate journals and suicide letters that Plaintiff relies on to support its 

argumentative paragraph constitute hearsay, have no indicia of reliability and are not 

admissible.  Defendants incorporate herein their Motion in Limine to preclude use of the 

corporate journals and suicide letters, which was denied without prejudice.  There is further 

no evidence aside from Chittick’s self-serving suicide letters (written under extreme duress 

and clearly intended to absolve Chittick while falsely casting blame on others) to support 

the false claims Chittick makes therein. See generally Responses to Paragraphs above 

disputing assertion that Defendants counseled DenSco that it did not need to make 

disclosures, and citing to various communications wherein Defendants counseled DenSco 

regarding its fiduciary duties, including duty of disclosure.  Objection: Hearsay, irrelevant 

and argumentative. 

109. Disputed.  Paragraph 109 contains no facts, cites to no supporting evidence 

and is pure argument.  It is also flatly contradicted by the evidence available.  See 

Paragraph 105 above.  Objection: irrelevant, argumentative. 
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110. Disputed.  Rather than giving Chittick time to work things out after the 

Forbearance Agreement was executed, Beauchamp terminated DenSco as a client for 

failing to make mandatory disclosures.  See Paragraph 105 above.  This is precisely the 

action that Plaintiff alleges Beauchamp should have taken.  Defendants further object to 

Plaintiff’s citations to nine separate statements of fact used to support a prior motion to 

support a single purported statement of “fact.”  To the extent Plaintiff relies on Chittick’s 

journals and suicide letters to support his contentions, those documents are inadmissible 

hearsay.  See Defendants’ Motion in Limine incorporated herein by reference.  See 

generally Responses to Paragraphs above disputing assertion that Defendants counseled 

DenSco that it did not need to make disclosures, and citing to various communications 

wherein Defendants counseled DenSco regarding its fiduciary duties, including duty of 

disclosure. 

111. Disputed in part.  Though Beauchamp wrote to Chittick in March 2015, it 

was not to “check on his progress,” but to reconnect after DenSco was terminated as a 

client.  The email explicitly asked Chittick if he was “willing to move beyond everything 

that happened and still work with me.”  DCSOF Ex. 35 (March 13, 2015 email from 

Beauchamp to Chittick) (Exh. 412).  The statement that Beauchamp “gave me a year to 

straighten stuff out we’ll see what pressure I’m under to report now,” is a corporate journal 

entry that constitutes hearsay, has no inidica or reliability and is not admissible.  It is also 

wrong.  See generally Responses to Paragraphs above disputing assertion that Defendants 

counseled DenSco that it did not need to make disclosures, citing to various 

communications wherein Defendants counseled DenSco regarding its fiduciary duties, 

including duty of disclosure, and noting Chittick’s long held understanding that material 

information must be disclosed.  Objection: hearsay. 

112. Disputed.  Paragraph 112 is premised entirely on an entry from Chittick’s 

corporate journal.  Those journals constitute hearsay, have no indicia of reliability and are 
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not admissible. At no point did Beauchamp advise Chittick he could delay issuing 

DenSco’s POM or that he could raise money without disclosures.  DCSOF Ex. 10 at 74:16-

75:2, 78:15-79:6, 158:24 – 159:4, 159:14 – 160:7, 172:7-21, 287:22-24, 289:18-22.  See 

generally Responses to Paragraphs above disputing assertion that Defendants counseled 

DenSco that it did not need to make disclosures, citing to various communications wherein 

Defendants counseled DenSco regarding its fiduciary duties, including duty of disclosure, 

and noting Chittick’s long held understanding that material information must be disclosed.  

Further, the journal entry is vague and there is no foundation as to what it purportedly 

means or to what it is referring.  Objection:  hearsay, vague, lack of foundation. 

113. Disputed.  Beauchamp did not give DenSco time to work things out after the 

Forbearance Agreement was executed – he terminated DenSco as a client for failing to 

make mandatory disclosures.  See Paragraph 105 above.  That is precisely the action that 

Plaintiff alleges Beauchamp should have taken.  Beauchamp did not do any other work for 

DenSco until March 2016, when Clark Hill represented DenSco in a discrete matter 

relating to the Arizona Department of Financial Institutions.  DCSOF Ex. 34.  Nor did 

Beauchamp advise Chittick that he had a year to perform on the workout before making 

disclosures to DenSco’s investors. DCSOF Ex. 10 at 74:16-75:2, 78:15-79:6, 158:24 – 

159:4, 159:14 – 160:7, 172:7-21, 287:22-24, 289:18-22.  See generally Responses to 

Paragraphs above disputing assertion that Defendants counseled DenSco that it did not 

need to make disclosures, citing to various communications wherein Defendants counseled 

DenSco regarding its fiduciary duties, including duty of disclosure, and noting Chittick’s 

long held understanding that material information must be disclosed. 

114. Disputed.  Beauchamp did not give DenSco time to work things out after the 

Forbearance Agreement was executed – he terminated DenSco as a client for failing to 

make mandatory disclosures.  See Paragraph 105 above.  That is precisely the action that 

Plaintiff alleges Beauchamp should have taken.  Beauchamp did not do any other work for 



 

{00470210.1 } 24 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

 

 

DenSco until March 2016, when Clark Hill represented DenSco in a discrete matter 

relating to the Arizona Department of Financial Institutions.  DCSOF Ex. 34 (March, April, 

May and June 2016 Clark Hill invoices).  Nor did Beauchamp advise Chittick that he had a 

year to perform on the workout before making disclosures to DenSco’s investors.  DCSOF 

Ex. 10 at 74:16-75:2, 78:15-79:6, 158:24 – 159:4, 159:14 – 160:7, 172:7-21, 287:22-24, 

289:18-22.  Further, Menaged’s statements, about what Chittick purportedly told him, as 

well as statements about what Beauchamp purported told Chittick, are inadmissible 

hearsay.   Objection:  hearsay, vague, lack of foundation. 

115. Disputed in part.  Though Menaged, a convicted felon, may have testified 

that Chittick never told him that Beauchamp had fired DenSco as a client, that does not 

mean that it did not happen.  Multiple Clark Hill attorneys testified to that fact and there is 

no evidence that Clark Hill remained as securities counsel for DenSco.  See Paragraph 105 

above. 

116. Undisputed.  As further set forth in that email, Chittick and Menaged 

developed their own work out plan, and implemented it, prior to consulting Defendants. 

117. Undisputed although an incomplete recitation of Chittick and Menaged’s 

work out plan. 

118. Disputed in part.   The email described a portion of Chittick and Menaged’s 

workout plan in those terms, but did not make clear that DenSco, as opposed to Chittick 

himself, would extend Menaged additional credit.  The email actually provided that “I’m 

extending him a million dollars against a home at 3%.” 

119. Disputed.  The facts establish that the plan devised by Chittick and Menaged 

had already been developed and implemented.  DCSOF Ex. 36 (Receiver analysis of $1 

million workout loan). Beauchamp suggested that a Forbearance Agreement be executed to 

provide some minimal protection to DenSco.  DCSOF Ex. 37 (January 15, 2014 email from 

Beauchamp to Chittick) (Exh. 175) (“We still need to get Scott to sign the Term Sheet and 
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then the Forbearance Agreement to protect DenSco as we proceed.”); DCSOF Ex. 38 

(February 7, 2014 email from Beauchamp to Chittick) (Exh. 343) (advising Chittick that he 

needs to have “a sworn set of facts that you can rely upon.”).  Beauchamp attempted to 

negotiate those protections, including admissions from Menaged, commitments to fund 

from Menaged, protections from potential Menaged bankruptcy filings, the right to make 

all proper disclosures to DenSco investors, etc.  DCSOF Ex. 24; DCSOF Ex. 25; DCSOF 

Ex. 26; DCSOF Ex. 27; DCSOF Ex. 28; DCSOF Ex. 29; DCSOF Ex. 30.  The terms of the 

workout, however, were largely in place by January 7, 2014, and Chittick and Menaged 

had already started performing on the workout plan. DCSOF Ex. 36.  Further, Chittick 

repeatedly failed to heed Beauchamp’s advice.  For example, he refused to include 

language whereby Menaged would admit that he was required to put DenSco in first 

position.  DCSOF Ex. 15 (January 16, 2014 email exchange between Beauchamp and 

Chittick) (Exh. 45).   

120. Disputed.  Paragraph 120 contains no facts and is opinion and argument.  

Defendants did not violate the standard of care.  DCSOF Ex. 13; DCSOF Ex. 4. Defendants 

were not required to make a noisy withdrawal.  DCSOF Ex. 4 at ¶ 43.  Objection: 

Irrelevant, argumentative, legal conclusion.   

121. Disputed.  See Response to Paragraph 119.    

122.  Disputed and vague as to the term “major role,” as to what “material terms 

changed,” as to what “parties” discussed all sorts of proposals.  For example, while 

Plaintiff cites Menaged for the proposition that Chittick and Menaged were exchanging 

“ideas about the work out plan,” that citation does not support the inference that 

Beauchamp was in the loop on those exchanges.  To the contrary, Chittick and Menaged 

had apparently agreed not to follow or use the Forbearance Agreement, and repeatedly 

denigrated its potential value.  DCSOF Ex. 39 (Various emails between Chittick and 

Menaged in February 2014); DCSOF Ex. 40 (April 3, 2014 email from Menaged to 
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Chittick) at CH_REC_CHI_0068720 (Menaged writing to Chittick that “I have signed the 

Notes and Agreement even though it is not anymore a true understanding of what we are 

doing. . . .  So lots of this is no longer valid or True, but I signed it so at least you have it 

for and not to have Dave Change it again and again with every move we make.”). See also 

Response to Paragraph 119.  Objection: vague, argumentative. 

123. Disputed and vague as to “unsecured lending” and “negotiated.”  Chittick and 

Menaged developed the terms and conditions for DenSco’s additional borrowing to support 

the workout.  DCSOF Ex. 19.    This is supported by the Menaged testimony cited by 

Plaintiff, which does not support the alleged “fact” that Beauchamp negotiated those 

lending terms.  Further, Chittick failed to fully apprise Beauchamp of the actual amount 

owed by Menaged, or at issue in the First Fraud, when he first approached Beauchamp in 

January 2014.  DCSOF Ex. 41 (March 21, 2014 email from Chittick to Beauchamp) (Exh. 

392).  

124. Disputed.  Beauchamp negotiated against Menaged and his counsel to ensure 

that the agreement complied with DenSco’s fiduciary duties to its investors by allowing 

DenSco to make full disclosures.  As Beauchamp explained to Chittick, “[i]n order to 

comply with the specific securities disclosure requirements, I left ____ (blank) the amount 

of time for Scott to be able to review and comment upon the proposed disclosure (suggest 

48 hours) and I did not give him the right to disapprove and block what you can or cannot 

disclose.  DenSco and you as the promoter of DenSco’s offering have to make the 

decisions as to what is to be disclosed or not.”  DCSOF Ex. 30.  The final confidentiality 

provision in the Forbearance Agreement included a carve out for “current or future 

investors.”  Id.  Expert Olson disputes the assertion that the ultimately confidentiality 

provision falls below the standard of care.  DCSOF Ex. 3 at ¶ 5. 

125. Disputed.  An email sent on March 13, 2014 – 2 days after the alleged phone 

call with Menaged – establishes that Beauchamp was insistent on disclosure being provided 
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to the investors as soon as possible.  That email admonished Chittick: “we are already very 

late in providing information to your investors about this problem and the resulting 

material changes from your business plan.  We cannot give Scott and his attorney any time 

to cause further delay in getting this Forbearance Agreement finished and the necessary 

disclosure prepared and circulated.”  DCSOF Ex. 30.  Beauchamp consistently and 

repeated advised Chittick as to his fiduciary duties, including the duty of disclosure to 

DenSco’s investors.  DCSOF Ex. 24; DCSOF Ex. 25; DCSOF Ex. 26; DCSOF Ex. 27; 

DCSOF Ex. 28; DCSOF Ex. 29; DCSOF Ex. 30.  See generally Responses to Paragraphs 

above disputing assertion that Defendants counseled DenSco that it did not need to make 

disclosures, citing to various communications wherein Defendants counseled DenSco 

regarding its fiduciary duties, including duty of disclosure, and noting Chittick’s long held 

understanding that material information must be disclosed. 

126.  Disputed.  Paragraph 126 contains no facts and is pure opinion and argument.  

Defendants did not violate the standard of care.  DCSOF Ex. 13 at p. 30.  Advising DenSco 

to formalize its arrangement with Menaged in a forbearance agreement, that might at least 

provide some additional protections, was the appropriate advice.  DCSOF Ex. 13 at p. 20-

25.  Objection: Irrelevant and argumentative.   

127. Disputed.  Plaintiff cites to no evidence to support Paragraph 127.  

Additionally, Plaintiff does not accurately represent the full email exchange between 

Chittick and Beauchamp.  On January 9, 2014, Chittick sends an email that appears to be 

explaining why he believes it is ok to wire money directly to a borrower, rather than a 

trustee, and the process by which he obtains a receipt.  DCSOF Ex. 42 (January 9, 2014 

email exchange between Beauchamp and Chittick).  In response, Beauchamp writes, “Let 

me see what the other lenders got from the Trustee and we can make a better decision.  

There is either another way to do it or someone described a procedure that does not work.”  

Id. See further response to Paragraph 128. 
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128. Disputed.  Plaintiff has provided no evidence to support Paragraph 128.  

Additionally, Chittick’s January 7, 2014 email to Beauchamp appears to explain for the 

first time DenSco’s general business practice of lending money directly to borrowers to 

purchase properties, rather than funding loans to the trustee.  DCSOF Ex. 19.  Upon 

learning that information, Beauchamp repeatedly advised Chittick that he needed to fund 

DenSco’s loans directly to a trustee to safeguard DenSco’s money and its preferred lien 

priority.  DCSOF Ex. 10 at 358:18-19, 359-361; DCSOF Ex. 43 (Menaged Depo. Tr.) at 

239:1-9. Chittick averred that he understood that the procedure was incorrect and that he 

would fix it moving forward.  DCSOF Ex. 10 at 364:17-24.  Clark Hill believed that 

representation.  DCSOF Ex. 23 at 106:22-107:3 (testifying that “[Clark Hill] did not know 

what Denny was going to . . . still go[] forward with his practices.”). 

129. Disputed.  Paragraph 129 contains no facts and is pure argument.  Defendants 

dispute that they fell below the standard of care or aided and abetted any breaches of 

fiduciary duty.  DCSOF Ex. 13; DCSOF Ex. 4. 

130. Disputed.  Menaged specifically testified that it was Chittick who wanted 

evidence of cashier’s checks.  DCSOF Ex. 43 at 402:14-21.  Paragraph 130 also constitutes 

hearsay, to the extent that it purports to recite that what Chittick told Menaged that 

Beauchamp said is true.  Objection: Hearsay, foundation.  See also Response to Paragraph 

128. 

131. Disputed.  Paragraph 131 contains no facts and is pure argument.  Moreover, 

it is flatly contradicted by Defendants’ experts.  DCSOF Ex. 13 at p. 30.   Defendants met 

the standard of care. DCSOF Ex. 13; DCSOF Ex. 4. Objection: Irrelevant and 

argumentative. 

132.  Disputed.  Paragraph 132 contains no facts and is pure argument.  Moreover, 

it is flatly contradicted by Defendants’ experts.  DCSOF Ex. 13 at p. 30.   Defendants met 
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the standard of care. DCSOF Ex. 13; DCSOF Ex. 4. Objection: Irrelevant and 

argumentative. 

133. Disputed.  For one, the minimal evidence cited by the Receiver does not 

support the allegation that Chittick would have followed any advice provided by DenSco.   

This case if proof of how demonstrably untrue that statement is.  While Chittick showed 

himself to be a good client who followed advice prior to 2014, Chittick consistently failed 

to be forthright with Clark Hill and follow legal advice thereafter.  For example, Chittick’s 

January 7, 2014 email contained numerous misrepresentations regarding DenSco’s lending 

relationship with Menaged.  Chittick wrote in that email that “I’ve been lending to Scott 

Menaged through few different LLC’s and his name since 2007.  [I]’ve lent him 50 million 

dollars and [I]’ve never had a problem with payment or issue that hasn’t been resolved.”  

That email failed to mention that Menaged had been double liening properties secured by 

DenSco’s funds since September 2012.  DSOF ¶¶ 32-33.  Chittick also failed to mention 

that DenSco had lent Menaged $31 million in 2013 alone, and had $28.5 million in 

outstanding loans to Menaged as of the end of 2013, a large portion of which were more 

than six months past due.  A significant number of these past due loans were made in 2012.  

DSOF ¶ 34.  Chittick then failed to inform Clark Hill that he had no intention of holding 

Menaged to the Forbearance Agreement.  Just prior to signing the agreement, Menaged 

informed Chittick that “I have signed the Notes and Agreement even though it is not 

anymore a true understanding of what we are doing. . . .  So lots of this is no longer valid or 

True, but I signed it so at least you have it for and not to have Dave Change it again and 

again with every move we make.”  DCSOF Ex. 40. Further, Chittick failed to make 

numerous disclosures to Defendants in 2012 and 2013 regarding his failure to fund money 

correctly, the long standing double lien issue, and the decision to lend more than half of 

DenSco’s portfolio to Menaged.  See Defendants Statements of Facts in Support of Motion 

for Summary Judgment on Joint and Several Liability at ¶¶ 3, 5, 11, 12, 22-24, 29, 64.  See 
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generally Responses to Paragraphs above disputing assertion that Defendants counseled 

DenSco that it did not need to make disclosures and citing to various communications 

wherein Defendants counseled DenSco regarding its fiduciary duties, including duty of 

disclosure, all of which Chittick would ignore. 

134. Disputed.  Paragraph 134 contains no facts and is pure argument.  Defendants 

also object to the inference that Defendants have been untruthful regarding the advice 

provided.  Objection: Irrelevant and argumentative. 

135. Disputed in part.  Although the statement quotes some of the language in the 

referenced email, Defendants dispute the inference that Beauchamp failed to disclose the 

termination because there was no termination.  As set forth above, the only evidence is that 

Defendants terminated the representation. See also Response to Paragraph 136. 

136. Disputed in part.  The email exchange that Beauchamp had with Clark Hill’s 

Darrell Davis and Mark Sifferman did not naturally require Beauchamp to reveal that 

Beauchamp had terminated DenSco as a client almost two years earlier.  As Beauchamp’s 

initial email to Davis and Sifferman recounted, Beauchamp “[did] not know what to think 

and . . . [did] not understand why or what brought him to that.  As of now, I am to wait for 

a package with instructions that Denny sent to me just before he committed suicide.  

Initially the thought is that is that his actions were based on personal issues and not 

business related.”  CSOF Ex. 1. Defendants dispute the inference that it was somehow 

nefarious or wrong for Beauchamp to not remember purported “irregularities” in an email 

exchange shortly after the suicide of a friend.  Objection: Argumentative.  

137. Disputed.  Defendants dispute that they “continued” representing DenSco and 

the inference that Defendants never terminated DenSco as a securities client.  Plaintiff has 

cited to no evidence to support Paragraph 137.  Additionally, the Rhodes Report correctly 

recounts that “Beauchamp and Clark Hill’s short-lived legal work to help start the 

administration of [Chittick’s] estate and communicate with investors and the Arizona 
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Corporation Commission were discrete tasks that, because of Beauchamp’s history with the 

company, it was logical for his firm to perform.  In essence, like Emergency Room doctors, 

Beauchamp and the law firm stabilized the situation and then passed it on to other 

lawyers.”  DCSOF Ex. 4 at ¶ 44.  There was no conflict.  DCSOF Ex. 13 at p. 28.   

138. Disputed.  Defendants object to Paragraph 138’s characterization that the 

email cited by Plaintiff “dissuade[d] DenSco investors from supporting receivership.”  The 

email speaks for itself.  Furthermore, the email evidences that the Arizona Corporation 

Commission had already become involved in investigating DenSco.  Defendants’ experts 

have also opined that Clark Hill and Beauchamp did not violate the standard of care by 

undertaking “a limited representation to open an estate and arrange for the appointment of 

[Chittick’s sister] as the personal representative of Mr. Chittick’s estate.”  DCSOF Ex. 13 

at p. 28.  Objection: Argumentative.  

139. Disputed. Paragraph 139 contains no facts and is pure opinion and argument.  

Plaintiff is required to set out individual statements of fact supported by evidence.  

Paragraph 139 is pure argument purportedly supported by 11 separate statements of fact 

included in a prior pleading.  Defendants’ experts have also opined that Clark Hill and 

Beauchamp did not violate the standard of care in conducting limited work on behalf of 

DenSco after Chittick’s passing.  DCSOF Ex. 13 at p. 28-29.  Objection: Irrelevant and 

argumentative.  

140.  Disputed.  Paragraph 140 contains no facts and is pure opinion and argument. 

Also, at noted in the Report of Kevin Olson, Clark Hill and Beauchamp’s role was limited 

with regards to the work it did in finding an attorney to represent the Chittick Estate.  At 

[Chittick’s sister’s]  request Clark Hill undertook a limited representation to open an estate 

and arrange for the appointment of [Chittick’s sister] as the personal representative of Mr. 

Chittick’s estate since [Denny’s sister] had no other contacts in Arizona.”  DCSOF Ex. 13 

at p. 28.  Chittick’s sister, Shawna Heuer, testified that she chose to hire Kevin Merritt - the 
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alleged “friendly attorneys” - after another attorney whom she personally knew in Idaho 

named Peter Erbland “contacted Mr. Merritt, spoke with him, did a little due diligence on 

his own part.”  Ex. 44 (Heuer Depo. Tr.) at p.62:24-63:10.  Mr. Erbland then told Ms. 

Heuer that Mr. Merritt was “a good guy.  I think he would be a good person for you to use.  

So he kind of gave me some direction.”  Id.  Objection: Argumentative.  

141. Disputed.  Beauchamp has consistently maintained that he represented only 

DenSco and Chittick as the President of DenSco.  DCSOF Ex. 10 at 102:24-103:5, 105:12-

106:16.  Beauchamp explicitly wrote to the Arizona Corporation Commission on August 

10, 2016 that: “I have not previously represented Denny Chittick and I do not have 

authority to accept the service of the Subpoena on Mr. Chittick or his Estate, so some of the 

items listed in the Subpoena (e.g. Denny Chittick’s personal tax records) are not within my 

control and I have forwarded the Subpoena to the Personal Representative for his Estate, 

Shawna Chittick Heuer.  Ex. 45 (August 10, 2016 letter from Beauchamp to W. Coy) (Exh. 

434). Though Clark Hill submitted a declaration that stated that Beauchamp “was acting as 

counsel for not only DenSco but its president Mr. Chittick,” Beauchamp clarified that what 

the declaration should have specified was that he was counsel for Mr. Chittick as the 

President of DenSco.  DCSOF Ex. 10 at 140:9-11, 140:24-141:9.  Defendants dispute any 

inference by the Plaintiff that Beauchamp or anyone at Clark Hill sought to, or did, submit 

a misleading declaration.  Objection: Argumentative.  

142. Disputed.  Paragraph 142 contains no facts and is pure opinion and argument. 

There is no evidence that the Receiver was hampered in any way from “promptly 

obtain[ing] records related to DenSco.”  Also, at noted in the Report of Kevin Olson, 

Beauchamp only “briefly stepped in to gather information, maintain the status quo, provide 

information to the ACC, and provide updates to investors until someone else could be 

appointed.  DCSOF Ex. 13 at p. 29.  Objection: Argumentative. 
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143. Disputed.  Paragraph 143 contains no facts and is pure opinion and argument.  

Defendants are not “claiming” anything.  The record establishes that Beauchamp 

terminated DenSco as a client in May 2014.  DCSOF Ex. 10 at 121:20-122:4, 164:1-14; 

DCSOF Ex. 23 at 111:5-112:12.  See Response to Paragraph 105.  Objection: 

Argumentative.  

144. Disputed in part.  Though Clark Hill properly billed DenSco for services 

rendered, Defendants deny that billing for such services constitutes a benefit that the Court 

can weigh in determining whether to apply the defense of In Pari Delicto. Objection: 

Argumentative. 
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STEVEN GREGORY BUNGER, 12/3/2018                          

he talked about his wife.

Q. But you don't remember what it might be?

A. I don't remember what it was.

Q. Do you have any idea who might know that?

A. Brian.

Q. Brian Imdieke?

A. Yeah.  I think he is going to be your important

witness.

Q. Is there any way you could -- and I know over a

period of time it might have varied, but how frequently

would you have communicated with Mr. Chittick up to the

time of his death?

A. I mean, I might talk to him every couple days,

because he walks by my front door with his kids and I'll

do small talk with him and his kids, but real

conversations weren't that frequent.  And a lot of them

were emails that you probably have copies of.

Q. Right.

And I understand he wasn't a good friend.  You

knew him I think primarily from business, but how would

you describe him if someone had not met him before?  How

would -- could you share with us your view of what kind of

person he was, what his characteristics --

A. Yes.

Q. -- or personality traits were?
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STEVEN GREGORY BUNGER, 12/3/2018                          

A. I would say wicked smart.  I would say high

integrity.  I would say a very strategic, very calculating

person, in a good way.  Not socially adept.  Like he would

say what's on his mind with no sugar, and for people that

aren't used to that, it would rub them wrong, but for me,

I didn't care.  He is a good guy.

Q. Did he strike you as being honest?

A. Very honest.

Q. Good with numbers?

A. Wicked smart.  Good with numbers.  In fact, he

would brag about going to -- doing something to the

Federal Reserve or something.  He went and did a

presentation to the Federal Reserve about numbers.

Q. You talked about him not being socially adept.

Did he have many friends? 

A. It didn't look that way to me.

Q. Do you think that's something you could judge?

A. No, I couldn't judge, but I -- I just know him

through a mutual friend who just said he was very -- even

in a corporate environment, as the company got bigger, he

was less effective because he couldn't manage people.

Q. And you are talking about Insight?

A. Yeah.

Q. Could you tell any difference in his behavior,

that is Denny Chittick's behavior, between prior to him
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STEVEN GREGORY BUNGER, 12/3/2018                          

but I got the impression he had a first lien or at least a

lien that would keep him in a spot to cover that

60 percent.

Q. And I think you have -- you indicated earlier in

your testimony that he was savvy when it came to being

able to evaluate the value of properties, right?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you know how he did that?

A. He -- he has tremendous memory and tremendous

analytical skills, and he has got tremendous history that

he can lean on using that analytical skills and memory,

and that's how he did it.

He has seen good deals and bad deals, and he 

would know that one side of the street is T.W. Lewis, the 

next side of the street was some other builder and which 

one was built better and held the value more, is what he 

portrayed to me. 

Q. So he had a historical knowledge and a good

memory of different neighborhoods in the city?

A. Yeah.  And he could see data differently than

most people could see data.

MR. CAMPBELL:  John, I just need to talk to

Geoff for five minutes before he goes off to court, so

maybe we could take a break.

MR. DeWULF:  Yeah.  You want to take a break?  I
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guy named Steve Jurich who is a founder and owner of IQ

Wealth Management, but do you remember a meeting where

somebody came and talked about investments?

A. For some reason, either that, or I just remember

some oil and gas stuff.  I remember some stuff that I go,

what am I watching?  But it wouldn't surprise me if it

did.

Q. Okay. 

A. I mean, he was trying -- he was playing a very

masterful game, I thought.  I call it a full move, where

he is building credibility with his flock of followers by

giving them things they need in exchange for a lot of

loyalty.  That's my guess.  That's how I was reading it,

because I do things like this.  Not in a bad way, but in a

way you care about the person, and you are doing it

because you care about them, and it makes the relationship

stronger.

Q. Did you have the impression that Denny Chittick

cared about you?

A. Yes.

Q. How did that manifest itself?  What was the

evidence of that?

A. Well, he was a neighbor.  I watched his kids or

played with his kids.  I -- if I asked him any question

any time of the day, he would answer my questions.  He
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A. Yeah.

Q. Right?

594. 

A. This is a different question.

Q. Right.

It looks like there are a few, and you are going 

to see them, where you are asking for Denny Chittick's 

view of value, real estate value.   

Did you do that periodically? 

A. Yeah.

Q. Because you thought he was knowledgeable about

real estate value?

A. Yes.

Q. And this, are you asking him to look at a deal

that actually was brought to you by Mike Coffman at --

A. Clear Funds.

Q. -- at Clear?

A. Yes.  Why where I was, on this deal I was going

to have the first lien.

Q. All right.  And Denny Chittick on March 11, 2013

is telling you it's a good deal, right?

A. Right.

Q. And then 595.  It -- you are asking him for,

again, his --

A. Right.
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BE IT KNOWN that the foregoing proceeding was 
taken before me; that the witness before testifying was 
duly sworn by me to testify to the whole truth; that the 
questions propounded to the witness and the answers of the 
witness thereto were taken down by me in shorthand and 
thereafter reduced to typewriting under my direction; that 
the foregoing is a true and correct transcript of all 
proceedings had upon the taking of said deposition, all 
done to the best of my skill and ability. 

 
I CERTIFY that I am in no way related to any of 

the parties hereto nor am I in any way interested in the 
outcome hereof. 
 
 

[ ]  Review and signature was requested. 
[X]  Review and signature was waived. 
[ ]  Review and signature was not requested. 

 
 

I CERTIFY that I have complied with the ethical 
obligations in ACJA Sections 7-206(F)(3) and 
7-206-(J)(1)(g)(1) and (2). 
 
 
                                              12/15/2018 
_______________________________________     _____________ 
Kelly Sue Oglesby                               Date 
Arizona Certified Reporter No. 50178 
 
 

I CERTIFY that JD Reporting, Inc. has complied 
with the ethical obligations in ACJA Sections 
7-206(J)(1)(g)(1) and (6). 
 
 
                                              12/15/2018 
_______________________________________     _____________ 
JD REPORTING, INC.                              Date 
Arizona Registered Reporting Firm R1012 
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF ARIZONA 
 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF MARICOPA 
 
Peter S. Davis, as Receiver of )
DenSco Investment Corporation, )
an Arizona corporation, )
                             )
          Plaintiff,  )
 )
      vs.                          )  NO. CV2017-013832 
 )
Clark Hill PLC, a Michigan )
limited liability company; )
David G. Beauchamp and Jane Doe )
Beauchamp, Husband and Wife,  )
 )
          Defendants.  )
___________________________________) 
 
 
 

DEPOSITION OF BRIAN IMDIEKE 
 

Phoenix, Arizona 
December 12, 2018 

10:00 a.m. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
REPORTED BY: 
KELLY SUE OGLESBY, RPR 
Arizona CR No. 50178 
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BRIAN IMDIEKE, 12/12/2018                                 

A. I did have some interaction, yeah, with both of

them, and I'm trying to think of the right words.  They

were always amicable, but never really loving outwardly.

When they were in a room together, they were pleasant and

happy and smiling and things like that, but, you know, not

hold hands or, you know, extend a kiss now and then, that

kind of thing.  It wasn't them.

Q. I see.

When you learned that they were getting divorced 

or got divorced, was that news to you, was it surprising 

to you?  Do you recall? 

A. Yeah, it surprised me.  I didn't expect it.

Q. Did you ever ask about it or did he ever share

anything about it?

A. No.  I mean, again, it's kind of like -- it's

like talking about religion and politics.  You just kind

of stay away from it.

Q. What did you observe about Denny Chittick in his

role as a parent?

A. Good father, in my opinion.  I mean, you know,

he always had interaction with his kids.  He was -- you

know, he would go -- not only go to their games, but be

the coach.  Wanted to teach them good values.  He was a

good father.

Q. Some folks have described him as the smartest
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BRIAN IMDIEKE, 12/12/2018                                 

guy in the room.

Would that be consistent with your view? 

A. In a financial discussion, probably yes.

Q. Did you ever gain an impression of him as it

related to his willingness to take advice?

A. That's a good question, but I don't really -- I

don't recall an instance or a circumstance to verify that.

Q. Do you know if he ever shared the details of the

finances in DenSco with anyone?

A. Not that I'm aware of.  He didn't share them

with me.

Q. All right.  There was an accountant, Dave

Preston, who was also an investor.

Do you know Mr. Preston? 

A. I know Dave.  He is also my accountant.

Q. Do you know whether Mr. Chittick ever shared the

details of DenSco's finances with Mr. Preston?

A. I only assumed that he did.  I don't have any

firsthand knowledge.

Q. There also is an investor named Robert Koehler.

Do you know Mr. Koehler? 

A. I know the name.  I don't know who he is,

though.

Q. Do you have any knowledge as to whether

Mr. Chittick shared DenSco's financial information with

JD REPORTING, INC. | 602.254.1345 | jdri@jdreporting.co

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



125

BRIAN IMDIEKE, 12/12/2018                                 

BE IT KNOWN that the foregoing proceeding was 
taken before me; that the witness before testifying was 
duly sworn by me to testify to the whole truth; that the 
questions propounded to the witness and the answers of the 
witness thereto were taken down by me in shorthand and 
thereafter reduced to typewriting under my direction; that 
the foregoing is a true and correct transcript of all 
proceedings had upon the taking of said deposition, all 
done to the best of my skill and ability. 

 
I CERTIFY that I am in no way related to any of 

the parties hereto nor am I in any way interested in the 
outcome hereof. 
 
 

[X]  Review and signature was requested. 
[ ]  Review and signature was waived. 
[ ]  Review and signature was not requested. 

 
 

I CERTIFY that I have complied with the ethical 
obligations in ACJA Sections 7-206(F)(3) and 
7-206-(J)(1)(g)(1) and (2). 
 
 
                                              12/19/2018 
_______________________________________     _____________ 
Kelly Sue Oglesby                               Date 
Arizona Certified Reporter No. 50178 
 
 

I CERTIFY that JD Reporting, Inc. has complied 
with the ethical obligations in ACJA Sections 
7-206(J)(1)(g)(1) and (6). 
 
 
                                              12/19/2018 
_______________________________________     _____________ 
JD REPORTING, INC.                              Date 
Arizona Registered Reporting Firm R1012 
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF ARIZONA 
 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF MARICOPA 
 
Peter S. Davis, as Receiver of )
DenSco Investment Corporation, )
an Arizona corporation, )
                             )
          Plaintiff,  )
 )
      vs.                          )  NO. CV2017-013832 
 )
Clark Hill PLC, a Michigan )
limited liability company; )
David G. Beauchamp and Jane Doe )
Beauchamp, Husband and Wife,  )
 )
          Defendants.  )
___________________________________) 
 
 
 

DEPOSITION OF VICTOR GOJCAJ 
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1:35 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
REPORTED BY: 
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VICTOR GOJCAJ, 12/17/2018                                 

A. Am I wrong?

Q. I don't know the answer to that.

A. Oh, I thought you had papers.  Okay.

Q. No.  I was just wondering what your experience

was.

You know, one of the complaints in our lawsuit 

is that the lawyer, Beauchamp, should have advised 

Mr. Chittick about certain lending practices and those 

kinds of things. 

A. Okay.

Q. Is it your opinion, in your experience of

working with Denny Chittick, that he was a smart and

knowledgeable hard-money lender?

A. I have -- I have borrowed, what, 80 to

100 million a year, maybe something like that, a little

more, a little less.  He is probably the top two I have

ever met in my career.  He is the top two, most detailed

lender that I have ever met in my career, and I know them

all.  I have met them all.  He is not asleep at the wheel.

Absolutely no chance.

Q. So he knew what his rights were.  He just

sometimes chose not to enforce his rights?

A. Denny taught title companies how to do their

job.  There is nothing you are going to tell me about

Denny.  When all this happened with Scott, everybody
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VICTOR GOJCAJ, 12/17/2018                                 

debated me:  Did Denny know?  And I said to everybody:

Yes, Denny knew what was going on.  You ain't pulling a

fast one on him.

Q. And you think a large reason why he let himself

get into this business arrangement with Menaged was that

he was drawn to that it was kind of glamorous and that

Scott Menaged was on TV and it represented kind of money

and lifestyle and that kind of thing?

A. Yes, and I think he was playing catch-up.  You

know, Scott promised him false hopes, and Scott befriended

him very much so, and Denny used his heart instead of his

head.

Q. Used his heart how?

A. Making decisions incorrectly.

Q. Do you know when Scott Menaged started seriously

doing business with Denny Chittick?

A. Nope.  And I also didn't even know he was

forwarding it.  So by seeing the email --

Q. Yeah.

A. -- unless you heard from me, you would have

thought I knew about Scott, but I don't think past 60

seconds I have ever sat and spoke to the guy, other than

the casino.

Q. You are talking about speaking to Scott Menaged,

right?
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VICTOR GOJCAJ, 12/17/2018                                 

BE IT KNOWN that the foregoing proceeding was 
taken before me; that the witness before testifying was 
duly sworn by me to testify to the whole truth; that the 
questions propounded to the witness and the answers of the 
witness thereto were taken down by me in shorthand and 
thereafter reduced to typewriting under my direction; that 
the foregoing is a true and correct transcript of all 
proceedings had upon the taking of said deposition, all 
done to the best of my skill and ability. 

 
I CERTIFY that I am in no way related to any of 

the parties hereto nor am I in any way interested in the 
outcome hereof. 
 
 

[ ]  Review and signature was requested. 
[X]  Review and signature was waived. 
[ ]  Review and signature was not requested. 

 
 

I CERTIFY that I have complied with the ethical 
obligations in ACJA Sections 7-206(F)(3) and 
7-206-(J)(1)(g)(1) and (2). 
 
 
                                              12/30/2018 
_______________________________________     _____________ 
Kelly Sue Oglesby                               Date 
Arizona Certified Reporter No. 50178 
 
 

I CERTIFY that JD Reporting, Inc. has complied 
with the ethical obligations in ACJA Sections 
7-206(J)(1)(g)(1) and (6). 
 
 
                                              12/30/2018 
_______________________________________     _____________ 
JD REPORTING, INC.                              Date 
Arizona Registered Reporting Firm R1012 
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF ARIZONA 
 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF MARICOPA 
 
 
Peter S. Davis, as Receiver  ) 
of DenSco Investment         ) 
Corporation, an Arizona      )   No. CV2017-013832 
corporation,                 ) 
                             ) 
                Plaintiff,   ) 
v.                           ) 
                             )  
Clark Hill PLC, a Michigan   )  
limited liability company;   ) 
David G. Beauchamp and Jane  ) 
Doe Beauchamp, husband and   ) 
wife,                        ) 
                Defendants.  ) 
_____________________________) 
 
 
 
 
 

 
DEPOSITION OF DORI ANN DAVIS 

 
Phoenix, Arizona 
March 9, 2019 
9:01 a.m. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
REPORTED BY: 
 
Annette Satterlee, RPR, CRR, CRC 
Arizona CR No. 50179 
 
Registered Reporting Firm R1012 
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Deposition of Dori Ann Davis, 3/9/2019                  

BY MS. PATKI:   

Q. Would you like me to repeat the question?

A. Yes, please.

Q. What were your initial impressions of Denny?

A. He was smart.  He was very methodical.  He was

welcoming.  He was friendly.

Q. Do you remember when you met him initially,

was your now-husband friends with Denny?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you remember when you first met Denny how

long your husband had known Denny?

A. I don't remember the specific amount of years

that they had known each other, but they had worked

together at Insight.

Q. Yeah.  And I --

A. So it was probably at least eight years.

Maybe ten years.  I don't know.

Q. Do you remember prior to meeting Denny your

husband telling you about Denny?

A. Prior to meeting him do I remember my husband

talking about him?

Q. Yes.

A. No.

Q. And you said that you didn't remember the

exact year that you met him.  Is that correct?
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Deposition of Dori Ann Davis, 3/9/2019                  

CERTIFIED REPORTER'S CERTIFICATE 

     BE IT KNOWN that the foregoing proceeding was taken 
before me; that the witness before testifying was duly 
sworn by me to testify to the whole truth; that the 
questions propounded to the witness and the answers of 
the witness thereto were taken down by me in shorthand 
and thereafter reduced to typewriting under my 
direction; that the foregoing pages is a true and 
correct transcript of all proceedings had upon the 
taking of said proceeding, all done to the best of my 
skill and ability. 
 
     I CERTIFY that I am not related to, nor employed 
by, any of the parties hereto, nor am I in any way 
interested in the outcome thereof.   
 
            [XX] Review and signature was requested. 
            [  ] Review and signature was waived. 
            [  ] Review and signature was not requested. 
 
          I CERTIFY that I have complied with the 
ethical obligations in ACJA Sections 7-206(F)(3) and  
7-206(J)(1)(g)(1) and (2). 
 

__________________________       _____________________ 
Annette Satterlee, RPR, CRR              Date 
AZ CR No. 50179 

 

     I CERTIFY that JD Reporting, Inc., has complied 
with the ethical obligations in ACJA 7-260(J)(1)(g)(1) 
through (6). 

 

 
__________________________       _____________________ 
JD Reporting, Inc.                        Date 
Registered Reporting Firm R1012 
 

     JD Reporting, Inc. | 602.254.1345 | jdri@jdreporting.co

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF ARIZONA 
 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF MARICOPA 
 
Peter S. Davis, as Receiver of )
DenSco Investment Corporation, )
an Arizona corporation, )
                             )
          Plaintiff,  )
 )
      vs.                          )  NO. CV2017-013832 
 )
Clark Hill PLC, a Michigan )
limited liability company; )
David G. Beauchamp and Jane Doe )
Beauchamp, Husband and Wife,  )
 )
          Defendants.  )
___________________________________) 
 
 
 

DEPOSITION OF PAUL KENT 
 

Phoenix, Arizona 
March 19, 2019 

9:04 a.m. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
REPORTED BY: 
KELLY SUE OGLESBY, RPR 
Arizona CR No. 50178 
Registered Reporting Firm R1012 
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PAUL KENT, 3/19/2019                                      

Q. So that was your understanding in your brain, or

did you actually talk to Denny about that?

A. I don't think that he said:  I need to keep

everything loaned out because it's less profitable if I

have money sitting in the bank.  I think I figured, you

know --

Q. Figured it out?

A. -- I think I figured that out and maybe

confirmed with him that, oh, yeah, this is -- you need to

keep it loaned out.

Q. And so you understood that the security was

really in the properties --

A. Yes.

Q. -- that were securing the loans?

A. Yes.

Q. And you didn't have any concerns regarding that

model because Denny had a strong knowledge regarding the

financing and lending procedures?

MR. STURR:  Object to the form.

THE WITNESS:  I would say my experience with

Denny and the length of time that I was in the investment

made me feel very comfortable.

Maybe you can ask the question again. 

Q. Yeah.

Did you feel comfortable with Denny's knowledge 
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PAUL KENT, 3/19/2019                                      

of how to run DenSco as a hard-money lender? 

A. Yeah.  Yes.

Q. Did you have any specific discussions with Denny

about that that made you feel that way?

A. Not really.

Q. Okay.

A. Just my understanding of anything that Denny was

put in charge of or was in a work environment, he

understood it, analyzed it, figured out a good way of

improving it or doing it, so this was a similar type of

thing.

Q. Okay.  Next exhibit, ending in 352.

(Deposition Exhibit No. 793 was marked for 

identification.)  

Q. If you will take a look at Exhibit 793.

A. Okay.

Q. The bottom email is a reference to you acting as

a reference for Denny and DenSco.

Do you recall receiving this email? 

A. I'm reading to myself.

Yeah, I remember this.

Q. Did you act as a reference for DenSco?

A. I think so.  I can't specifically recall talking

to Robert or Rodd Newhouse, but I -- it seems like I said

I would, and I'm sure if he called me, I would have.
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PAUL KENT, 3/19/2019                                      

BE IT KNOWN that the foregoing proceeding was 
taken before me; that the witness before testifying was 
duly sworn by me to testify to the whole truth; that the 
questions propounded to the witness and the answers of the 
witness thereto were taken down by me in shorthand and 
thereafter reduced to typewriting under my direction; that 
the foregoing is a true and correct transcript of all 
proceedings had upon the taking of said deposition, all 
done to the best of my skill and ability. 

 
I CERTIFY that I am in no way related to any of 

the parties hereto nor am I in any way interested in the 
outcome hereof. 
 
 

[X]  Review and signature was requested. 
[ ]  Review and signature was waived. 
[ ]  Review and signature was not requested. 

 
 

I CERTIFY that I have complied with the ethical 
obligations in ACJA Sections 7-206(F)(3) and 
7-206-(J)(1)(g)(1) and (2). 
 
 
                                              3/27/2019 
_______________________________________     _____________ 
Kelly Sue Oglesby                               Date 
Arizona Certified Reporter No. 50178 
 
 

I CERTIFY that JD Reporting, Inc. has complied 
with the ethical obligations in ACJA Sections 
7-206(J)(1)(g)(1) and (6). 
 
 
                                              3/27/2019 
_______________________________________     _____________ 
JD REPORTING, INC.                              Date 
Arizona Registered Reporting Firm R1012 
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Confidential Private Offering Memorandum

DenSco Investment Corporation

July 12011
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D1C0004461



No _____________ Name of Payee

Confidential Private Offering Memorandum

DenSco Investment Corporation

General Obligations Notes

Minimum Purchase $50000

The General Obligation Notes the Notes are general obligations of DenSco

Investment Corporation an Arizona corporation the Company The Notes together with all

other outstanding notes and all other advances or liabilities owed by the Company to any holder

of an outstanding note will be secured by general pledge of all assets owned by or later

acquired by the Company The Companys largest assets will be the Trust Deeds as defined

herein acquired by the Company and the Notes will be superior in priority and liquidation

preference to Notes subscribed for by officers and shareholders of the Company Interest will be

paid monthly quarterly or at maturity The Notes are not insured or guaranteed by any state or

federal government entity or any insurance company and the Company will not establish

sinking fund for the Notes The Company generally may transfer sell or substitute collateral for

the Notes The Company may modify the interest rate to be paid on subsequently issued Notes

The Company will use good faith efforts to prepay Notes upon receipt of written request but the

Company will not be obligated to do so The Notes may be redeemed by the Company prior to

maturity upon notice at price equal to the principal amount of the Notes plus accrued interest to

the date of redemption See Description of Securities Note Terms Default may occur with

respect to one Note and not another The Notes may be purchased directly from the Company

without commission The Company intends to offer the Notes on continuous basis until the

earlier of the sale of the maximum offering or two years from the date of this

memorandum provided however the Company reserves the right to amend modify and/or

terminate this offering if the Company changes its operations or method of offering in any

material respect See Description of Securities and Plan of Distribution

688856.4

D1C0004462



PRIOR PERFORMANCE

Mr Chittick organized the Company in April of 2001 to provide short-term funding

source for primarily real estate developers and foreclosure specialists Mr Chittick has arranged

for the funding and administration of real estate loans since that time chart set forth below

indicates the Companys history in raising money from investors the number of loans made the

aggregate amount of such loans the underlying values of the security for such loans and any

problems with respect to such loans

Mr Chittick initially capitalized the company with one million dollars of his personal

funds From July 2001 through December 2001 an additional $500000 was raised from

investors In 2002 an additional $930000 was raised from investors In 2003 an additional

$1550000 was raised from existing and new investors In 2004 the amount from both old and

new investors increased to an additional $2450000 In 2005 an additional $2670000 was

raised from existing and new investors In 2006 an additional $2800000 was raised from

existing and new investors In 2007 an additional $2400000 was raised from existing and new

investors In 2008 an additional $3000000 was raised from existing and new investors In

2009 an additional $2100000 was raised from existing and new investors In 2010 an

additional $2800000 was raised from existing and new investors From January 2011 to June

2011 an additional $4700000 was raised from existing and new investors Mr Chittick uses an

equity line of credit to help facilitate cash flow for the Company All of the money raised from

investors has been through the sale of promissory notes like those being offered in this

placement Such notes were for terms of to 60 months and have to date drawn interest at the

rate of to 12% per armum The Company has never defaulted on either interest or principal for

any of such notes

The money raised by the Company from investors has historically been divided into

large portfolio of loans secured by marketable properties with varying values and locations in the

Phoenix metro area The Company is currently lending in approximately 20 cities in the Phoenix

metro area which includes Maricopa and Pinal Counties The Company will have loans secured

by properties in many of these cities simultaneously The Company has endeavored to maintain

large and diverse base of borrowers as well as diverse selection of properties as collateral for

688856.4 36

D1C0004505



378 93 $14520

69 $5685000.00 $878000.00 66 $5267000.00 $9076300.00

73000 00.00 .00

185 $19907000.00 $30422600.00 170 $17951700.00 $26939500.00

57 300.0 940.00

215 $34468100.00 $52784000.00 212 $35301250.00 $53 57200.00

2800.00

304 $38864660.00 $63671300.00 257 534578755.00 $56369400.00

11 078 $3941

390 $37973097.00 $63771350.00 355 $37175201.00 $61 666170.00

36

86 41117 4416977
2622

______
2019

In 2006 one loan that was foreclosed on and successfully resold did not pay all the

interest due However the small uncollected amount was absorbed by the Company

In 2007 one condominium loan two house loans and one land loan were foreclosed

While the condominium and houses were sold with minimal principal loss much of the interest

688856.4 37

D1C0004506

its loans to the borrowers However in response to the more recent challenging conditions in the

real estate market the Company has focused on maintaining relationships with borrowers that

have proven track record with good payment history and performance The Company

continues to strive to achieve diverse borrower base by attempting to ensure that one borrower

will not comprise more than 10 to 15 percent of the total portfolio

All real estate loans funded by the Company have been and are intended to be secured

through first position trust deeds The loan to value ratio of the Companys overall portfolio has

averaged less than 70% and the Company intends to maintain loan to value ratio of 50% to

65%

Year Value of Loans Loans Repaid

Value

Value of Homes

Repaid

2002

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

7011

Through June 30 2011

From 2001-2005 all interest due from all loans was collected



was collected on all four loans One land loan was written off The loss was absorbed by the

Company

In 2008 one condominium and six homes were sold with minimal principal loss much of

the interest was collected on all the loans The loss was absorbed by the Company There were

15 more homes that were either foreclosed on or ownership was acquired through the deed in

lieu process These houses are presently either for sale on the retail market or have been rented

and are for sale on the investor market

In 2009 one condominium and 12 homes were sold with principle loss much of the

interest was collected on all the loans The loss was absorbed by the Company The Company

also acquired 2-plex that was construction loan This is being rented and managed by

property management firm

In 2010 one house was sold for loss It was acquired through foreclosure in 2009 the

loss was absorbed by the Company

In 2011 three homes were sold for loss The losses were absorbed by the Company

There were three homes that were sold for gain and all interest was paid in full One house is

presently in escrow which will close in July to which gain will be made

The Company presently has three condominiums 12 houses and 12-plex that are all

being rented professional management company has been retained to manage these properties

All of these properties are listed to be sold The rent received is at or slight negative to the cost of

capital for the Company It was Managements decision to retain these properties rather than sell

them and take loss Now that the market has shown some signs of strengthening it is believed

that these properties can be sold for minimal loss to the Company

The Company has one condominium and one lot are culTently for sale The lot is

currently be negotiated to be rented by construction company at the cost of capital The goal is

sell both of these properties as soon as possible
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Since inception through June 30 2011 the Company has participated in 2622 loans with

an average loan amount of $116000 with the highest single loan being $800000 and lowest

being $12000 The aggregate amount of loans funded is $306786893 with property values

totaling $470411170 The total amount of loans that have funded and closed is $274416977

with home values equaling $453340340 These loans have borne interest rates of 18% per

annum The interest rate paid to noteholders has ranged from 8% to 12% per annum through

such date Each and every Noteholder has been paid the interest and principle due to that

Noteholder in accordance with the respective terms of the Noteholders Notes Despite any

losses incurred by the Company from its borrowers no Noteholder has sustained any diminished

return or loss on their investment in Note from the Company
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MANAGEMENT

Directors and Executive Officers

The Director and Executive Officer of the Company are Denny Chittick 4_ President

Vice President Treasurer and Secretary

Denny Chittick worked at Insight Enterprises mc publicly traded company for

nearly 10 years holding many different positions from finance accounting operations and held

the position of Sr Vice President and ClO when he left the company in 1997 Since leaving

Insight he has been involved in several different companies including software company

internet company and finance company Mr Chittick holds degree in Finance from Arizona

State University

Real Estate Consultant

The Company will have only one employee which will require the Company to use

outside consultants on periodic basis to provide various services These consultants may be

retained to assist with any necessary due diligence in connection with these loans and to the

extent necessary to assist with the closing of loan

Employees

With the assistance of outside consultants on an as-needed basis Mr Chittick intends to

operate the Company as its primary employee analyzing negotiating originating purchasing

and servicing Trust Deeds by himself As the portfolio of contracts increases the Company may

add additional personnel
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1 John E. De Wulf (006850) 
Marvin C. Ruth (024220) 

2 Vidula U. Patki (030742) 
COPPERSMITH BROCKELMAN PLC 

3 2800 North Central Avenue, Suite 1900 
Phoenix, Arizona 85004 

4 T: ( 602) 224-0999 
F: (602) 224-0620 

5 jdewulf@cblawyers.com 
mruth@cblawyers.com 

6 vpatki@cblawyers.com 

7 Attorneys for Defendants 

8 

9 

10 -. 

SUPERIOR COURT OF ARIZONA 

COUNTY OF MARICOPA 

11 Peter S. Davis, as Receiver ofDenSco 
Investment Corporation, an Arizona 

12 corporation, 

13 Plaintiff, 

14 V. 

15 Clark Hill PLC, a Michigan limited liability 
company; David G. Beauchamp and Jane 

16 Doe Beauchamp, husband and wife, 

17 Defendants. 

No. CV20I 7-013832 

DEFENDANTS' EIGHTH 
SUPPLEMENTAL RULE 26.1 
DISCLOSURE STATEMENT 

18 Defendants Clark Hill PLC, David G. Beauchamp and Jane Doe Beauchamp 

19 ( collectively, "Defendants") supplement their initial disclosure statement according to 

20 Arizona Rule of Civil Procedure 26.1. Defendants reserve the right to amend or supplement 

21 this disclosure statement as discovery progresses. 

22 This case is in process and thus the content of this disclosure statement is preliminary 

23 and subject to supplementation, amendment, explanation, change and amplification. Because 

24 discovery is continuing, there may be information, documents, and materials related to the 

25 various allegations and defenses set forth in the pleadings of which Defendants are presently 

26 unaware. Defendants note that they do not currently have access to all potentially relevant 
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1 hard money lending would not have been atypical given the real estate market at the time, 

2 and DenSco had provided assurances that it had adequate internal procedures to manage its 

3 business. 

4 In addition, Mr. Beauchamp and his prior law firms, including Gammage & Burnham, 

5 provided advice to DenSco regarding proper loan documentation and procedures since at 

6 least 2007. DenSco and Mr. Chittick were both advised, and understood, (a) that DenSco 

7 should fund loans through a trustee, title company or other fiduciary, (b) that DenSco was 

8 representing to its investors that DenSco's loans would be in first position, and (c) that it was 

9 of fundamental importance that DenSco safeguard the use of its investors' funds in 

10 conjunction with properly recording liens, in order to ensure that DenSco's loans were in 

11 first position. 

12 In early summer 2013, Mr. Beauchamp advised DenSco that it needed to update its 

13 2011 POM given the passage of time and changes in the scope of DenSco's fund raising. 

14 Mr. Chittick was well aware based on historical practice and his work with other hard money 

15 lenders, including Mr. Gould and Mr. Koehler, that it was necessary to keep investors up to 

16 date with regular disclosures. In particular, based on Mr. Chittick's representations to Mr. 

17 Beauchamp, DenSco either had or would soon eclipse the $50 million maximum offering set 

18 forth in the 2011 POM. Consequently, Mr. Beauchamp began drafting revisions to the 2011 

19 POM, which included updates to the maximum offering and updates on DenSco's 

20 performance to date, among other revisions. Mr. Beauchamp, however, was never able to 

21 finalize the 2013 POM. Although Mr. Beauchamp asked for updated investment, loan and 

22 financial information regarding DenSco, Mr. Chittick stalled on providing the information, 

23 preferring to wait until after he scaled down the amount outstanding to investors. Mr. 

24 Beauchamp repeatedly advised DenSco that an update was necessary irrespective of 

25 DenSco' s plans regarding the outstanding amount of its offerings, and opened a file at Clark 

26 Hill to complete the update, but Mr. Chittick continued to delay. 
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11 
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13 

14 

D. Mr. Beauchamp leaves Bryan Cave, hears nothing from Mr. Chittick for 
months. 

Mr. Beauchamp left Bryan Cave at the end of August 2013. Prior to his departure, 

Mr. Beauchamp had repeatedly made clear to DenSco and Mr. Chittick that they needed to 

update DenSco's POM. On August 30, 2013, Mr. Beauchamp and Bryan Cave sent Mr. 

Beauchamp's clients, including DenSco, a joint separation letter informing them that Mr. 

Beauchamp was joining Clark Hill effective as of September 1, 2013. The letter invited 

those clients to either request the transition of their files to Mr. Beauchamp or affinnatively 

request that the files remain at Bryan Cave. Mr. Chittick initially agreed to transfer a portion 

ofDenSco's files to Clark Hill, but aside from DenSco's authorization letter, Mr. Beauchamp 

never heard from Mr. Chittick regarding the unfinished 2013 POM, or any other matter, until 

December 2013. 

E. DenSco contacts Mr. Beauchamp in late 2013, slowly reveals scope of 
Menaged issues over several months 

In December 2013, Mr. Chittick contacted Mr. Beauchamp for the first time in months. 

15 He told Mr. Beauchamp over the phone that he had run into an issue with some of his loans to 

16 Menaged, and specifically, that properties securing a few DenSco loans were each subject to a 

17 second deed of trust competing for priority with DenSco's deed of trust. Mr. Beauchamp 

18 reminded Mr. Chittick that he still needed to update DenSco's private offering memorandum. 

19 After briefly discussing the allegedly limited double lien issue, Mr. Chittick emphasized to Mr. 

20 Beauchamp that Mr. Chittick wanted to avoid litigation with other lenders. Mr. Chittick, 

21 however, did not request any advice or help. Rather, Mr. Chittick indicated that he wanted to 

22 continue working on a plan with Menaged to resolve the double-lien issue-a plan, that 

23 unbeknownst to Mr. Beauchamp, Mr. Chittick was already well on his way to implementing. 

24 Accordingly, Mr. Beauchamp suggested that Mr. Chittick and Menaged document their plan. 

25 Nothing more came of the issue with Menaged until January. Mr. Beauchamp's actions in this 

26 regard were appropriate and met the standard of care. 
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52. All timesheets or invoices produced by Plaintiff, including timesheets and 

invoices reflecting Plaintiffs' experts (RECEIVER_005546-5627), Peter Davis', 

and Ryan Anderson's work. 

53. All documents placed in the Receiver's Depository. 

54. All documents posted to the Receiver's website at 

https://denscoreceiverl .godaddysites.com/home.html 

5 5. All documents filed or to be filed in any proceeding brought by the Receiver, and 

all documents produced in any such proceeding. 

56. All correspondence between counsel in the above captioned proceeding, 

including the communications produced herewith. 

57. All documents recorded with the Maricopa County Recorder's office regarding 

DenSco and other lender liens on properties purchased by Menaged or his 

entities, including documents produced herewith. 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 Defendants reserves the right to supplement the list of documents that may be relevant 

15 as information becomes available. 

16 X. 

17 

INSURANCE AGREEMENTS. 

Defendants produced the insurance policies in effect during the relevant time period 

18 and the November 10, 2017 correspondence from Mendes & Mount, LLP, all of which are 

19 stamped "Confidential Materials." 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 
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DATED this 13th day of September, 2019. 

::PPER~ PLC 
John E. De f 

71 

Marvin C. Ruth 
Vidula U. Patki 
2800 North Central Avenue, Suite 1900 
Phoenix, Arizona 85004 
Attorneys for Defendants 
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New DenSco Offering Page of

David Beauchamp

From David Beauchamp

Sent Friday June 15 2007 139 PM

To Carney Richard

Cc Denny Chittick

Subject RE New DenSco Offering

Rich

Good to hear from you hope that you are not still working the long days with long hours

With respect to DenScos update to its POM the terms of the offering are the same but we did increase the maximum offering amount due to the

on-going roll-over of the existing investors every months or so The intent was merely to do an update to the disclosure so that it stays current like

we did couple of years ago Since DenSco has regular sales of roll-over investments there have probably been sales within the last six months

Although have not confirmed with Denny there have probably also been some sales since June due to the regular roll-over of investors

Accordingly agree that an amendment to the offering is probably the correct approach because it is probably an integrated offering and that will

keep it as simple as possible

Please let me know what you would like me to do and what you will be able to do to assist DenSco in this matter

Thanks again David

David Beauchamp Esq

Gammage Burnham PLLC

Two North Central Ave 18th Floor

Phoenix Arizona 85004-4470

Telephone 602/256-4413

Fax 602/256-4475

dbeauchamp@gblaw.com

IRS Circular 230 Disclosure

To ensure compliance with requirements imposed by the IRS we inform you that any U.S tax advice contained in this communication including

any attachments is not intended or written to be used and cannot be used for the purpose of avoiding tax related penalties under the Internal

Revenue Code or ii promoting marketing or recommending to another party any tax-related matters addressed herein

From Carney Richard RPCquarles.com
Sent Friday June 15 2007 115 PM

To David Beauchamp

Subject RE New DenSco Offering

Dave

Good to hear from you

If the POM is just being updated perhaps we can treat it as an amendment to Form Did the offering amount change or terms of offering Were

sales made recently in the current offering If so perhaps we can just file an amendment unless you think there have been material changes If we

file as new offering and sales occurred less than months ago we will probably have to consider the offerings integrated

Rich

Richard Carney

1x

Legal Specaliet and Manager Broker-Dealer

end lnveetment Advisei Ser.icos

Quarles Brnoy L.LP

33 East Main Stiect

Suite $00

Madison Wisconsin 53703

Direct Dial 608 283-2457
Direct 608 294-4934

E-rnaii rpc.@rtes.com

6/15/2007

D1C0002470



New DenSco Offering Page of

From David Beauchamp
Sent Friday June 15 2007 243 PM

To Carney Richard

Cc Denny Chittick

Subject New DenSco Offering

Rich

hope this email finds you in good health and busy but not too busy to enjoy life

As of June 2007 we updated DenScos POM subscription documents and investor questionnaires as well as its loan documents to be used with

its borrowers This update was part of our preparation of new POM for DenSco because the last one was two years old and needed to be

updated with the more recent prior experience information

As part of this updated offering thought that DenSco should file new Form with the SEC AZ and other applicable states but Denny wanted

me to check with you so that you could coordinate these filings for DenSco

Please let me know your thoughts concerning the best procedure to ensure compliance for DenSco in connection with this matter

Take care and thanks again David

David Beauchamp Esq

Gammage Burnham PLLC

Two North Central Ave 18th Floor

Phoenix Arizona 85004-4470

Telephone 602/256-4413

Fax 602/256-4475

dbeauchampgbIaw.com

IRS Circular 230 Disclosure

To ensure compliance with requirements imposed by the IRS we inform you that any tax advice contained in this communication including

any attachments is not intended or written to be used and cannot be used for the purpose of avoiding tax related penalties under the Internal

Revenue Code or ii promoting marketing or recommending to another party any tax-related matters addressed herein

This email is intended solely for the use of the individual to whom it is addressed and may contain information that is privileged confidential or

otherwise exempt from disclosure under applicable law If the reader of this email is not the intended recipient or the employee or agent responsible

for delivering the message to the intended recipient you are hereby notified that any dissemination distribution or copying of this communication is

strictly prohibited If you have received this communication in error please immediately notify us by telephone and return the original message to us

at the listed email address Thank you

please note Effective Monday February 2007 the new office address of Queries Brady LLP-Madison

is 33 East Main Street Suite 900 Our telephone and fax numbers remain the same
This electronic mail transmission and any attachments are confidential and may be privileged

They should be read or retained only by the intended recipient If you have received this

transmission in error please notify the sender immediately and delete the transmission from

your system In addition in order to comply with Treasury Circular 230 we are required to

inform you that unless we have specifically stated to the contrary in writing any advice we

provide in this email or any attachment concerning federal tax issues or submissions is not

intended or written to be used and cannot be used to avoid federal tax penalties

6/15/2007

D1C0002471
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DAVID GEORGE BEAUCHAMP, VOLUME I, 7/19/2018               

that I was leaving the firm. 

Q. Okay.  So we have the original meeting, which is

an annual review where someone mentions something about

originations; four months later, more or less, you have a

meeting where you are told it's not a fit; and now there

is a third meeting after that.

Tell me about this third meeting where you said 

you are leaving. 

A. I was told that Jay was going to be out of the

office for some family stuff, and I told him that I had an

offer and was considering it.  I was going to probably

take it.  I didn't know the specific detail on the date

and when, but, yes, I would be leaving.  Because he asked

me to keep him informed if I received an offer and if I

looked like I was going to take it.

Q. All right.

A. So I -- as a courtesy, I did it, knowing he was

going to be out of town for a week to ten days.

Q. Who did you get an office from?

A. Clark Hill.

Q. Fair to say you were asked to leave the firm?

A. I believe "it's not a fit" would equate to that,

but I was dumbfounded the way it was delivered and said to

me, because there had been no prior discussions, but it's,

you know, when a firm makes that decision, you just
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DAVID GEORGE BEAUCHAMP, VOLUME I, 7/19/2018               

Q. Okay.  What -- well, I understand --

A. From the time that I accepted the offer to the

time that I moved over, it was at least two weeks.

Q. Okay.  So once you had a final offer you were

happy with, you were over there within two weeks?

A. Right.

Q. And then how long did you negotiate over this

offer with Clark Hill, from the time you first talked to

them till you reached something you were happy with?

A. That's hard to say, because the interview

process at Clark Hill is you meet a lot of people in a lot

of different offices, and there are both videoconferences

and traveling involved.  And parts of things were

negotiated over a period of time.

If I had -- I don't even want to guess, because 

I -- at that time I was talking with other firms as well, 

and they kind of all -- several balls were moving forward 

at the same time. 

Q. Okay.  So I just want to know what's happening

here in this twenty -- this is really 2013 when this is

going on.  

So from the time you were told, you know, this 

isn't a fit, I take it from that point in time you are 

looking for employment elsewhere? 

A. No.  My first priority was to my clients, as
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DAVID GEORGE BEAUCHAMP, VOLUME I, 7/19/2018               

it's ethically required, and -- and Bryan Cave understood

and agreed with that.

Q. Fair enough.

But fair to say from the time you were told you 

were not a fit, you started looking for work elsewhere? 

A. No.  I think I took a couple weeks to get my

mind around it and decide if I wanted to go into a firm or

if I wanted to relocate and take a job with a private

equity group that had approached me six months earlier.

Q. Okay.

A. And so I had to make that decision first, and I

focused on client matters.  And then the phone started

ringing, which was about the same time people from Bryan

Cave were coming in to talk to me, and it was like, okay,

the word's out.

Q. All right.  I'm just trying to get some time

parameters here.  Okay?

From the time you make a decision I got to find

a job somewhere else to the time you accept employment on

the deal you negotiated with Clark Hill, what time period

are we talking about?

A. I don't remember when I first talked to Clark

Hill so I really can't answer that, but you are talking I

believe the end of June to -- to mid-August, and it was

the time period where I explored different options and
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DAVID GEORGE BEAUCHAMP, VOLUME I, 7/19/2018               

that I continuously requested that he get on his loans, 

I'm sorry, the loans to his borrowers.   

He also did not, which I found just toward the 

end of my time at Bryan Cave, did not follow the 

instructions with respect to providing the dollars to 

either the trustee or the title company under an 

instruction letter, and instead in certain instances, I 

was informed he would send it to the borrower, who would 

get a cashier's check and deliver it to the trustee, which 

I was told was four or five times by Mr. Chittick, which 

has subsequently been shown to be many more times than he 

revealed to me.   

At Clark Hill and at the time at Bryan Cave, he 

was not providing a lot of the information requested.  He 

seemed thoroughly distracted, which is why he stopped the 

work on the memorandum in August of 2013.  And while I was 

at Clark Hill, I -- at that time it was pulling teeth to 

get information out of him, which was very, very unusual.   

And at the time I was giving him clear advice as 

far as what to do, he would not let me independently 

confirm that he was giving that advice, which I -- he said 

I've never lied to you, and on that basis, that was true, 

so we proceeded the priority was the Forbearance Agreement 

at that time.   

And I thought I did the absolute best job 
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DAVID GEORGE BEAUCHAMP, VOLUME I, 7/19/2018               

part, he did follow, or I -- through April/May 2014, I

believed he was following the legal advice, but not

necessarily the recommendations.

Q. Mr. Beauchamp, if I read your 26.1 statement

correctly, you are blaming Mr. Chittick for what happened

in this case.  True?

MR. DeWULF:  Object to form.

THE WITNESS:  I thought I indicated that

Mr. Menaged was the primary person and who exercised

control over Mr. Chittick in ways I never understood.  

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  Sir, you state, do you not, 

you believe that Mr. Chittick instructed you not to finish 

the private offering memorandum in the year 2013, correct?   

MR. DeWULF:  Would you read that back, please.

(The requested portion of the record was read.) 

THE WITNESS:  I did state he instructed me, and

that was based upon a conversation where he had to provide

specific answers to information that we needed right then

in order to finish the private offering memorandum.  He

said he did not have time, and I said then you are saying

to put it on hold?  And he said, yes, put it on hold.

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  All right.  And that was 

against your advice.  True? 

A. Yes, that -- my advice was to get it done, but

we could not get it done without that information, and he
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explained it was an impossibility to get that information

together at that point.

Q. In your 26.1 statement you state that you told

Mr. Chittick not to work with Mr. Menaged.  He wasn't to

be trusted.  True?

A. True.

Q. He ignored your advice.  True?

A. I believe that was more of a recommendation,

because it wasn't legal advice with respect to that.  It

was a recommendation based upon how I had seen Mr. Menaged

act with Mr. Chittick and how I had seen Mr. Chittick act

with Mr. Menaged, that there was some type of mental

control there.  That's not the right term, but it was a

deference that clearly worked to DenSco's disadvantage.

Q. All right.  Turn to page 14 of your Rule 26.1

statement, line 3.  You state under oath, "Nevertheless,

Mr. Beauchamp at one point became concerned enough at

Menaged's intransigence and the apparent influence he held

over Mr. Chittick, that he reached out to third parties in

late January 2014 to inquire about Menaged.  Those third

parties informed him that Menaged was generally someone to

be distrusted and not someone to do business with.

Mr. Beauchamp attempted to persuade Mr. Chittick of this

during several heated conversations, but Mr. Chittick

ignored these admonitions, explaining that while Menaged
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according to what we know, right? 

A. Correct.

Q. In the real world is there ever a time where a

lawyer has to go out and see if there is more facts?

MR. DeWULF:  Object to form.

THE WITNESS:  It really would have to depend

upon a lot of circumstances.

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  All right.  I think we were 

talking about times that Mr. Chittick ignored your advice.  

On your Rule 26.1 statement, again on page 14.  Well, let 

me go about it this way.   

You told Mr. Chittick again and again that he 

needed to immediately disclose to the investors what had 

happened with respect to Mr. Menaged, right? 

A. I told Mr. Chittick that he was required to tell

his investors what had happened with Menaged.  I stated he

could not take any money from any new client, he could not

take any rollover money from an existing client, without

giving them full disclosure.

I thought we had a reasonable period of time,

and typically a Forbearance Agreement is something that's

done in two, three weeks, to advise all of his existing

investors, because these were long-term notes from his

investors.  

And -- and that was -- you know, the original 
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plan was to get the forbearance finalized, and that's what 

Mr. Chittick was insisting upon before we did the full 

written disclosure.  But he had assured me he wasn't 

taking any new money or any rollover money, which was 

deemed new under the circumstances, from any investor 

without telling them exactly what was going on.   

And a couple of times he asked for a clean 

version, not a redlined version, of, you know, can I send 

this to, you know, an investor so that they can see this 

description or what's going on and -- of the Forbearance 

Agreement so they know what's going on.   

I do not know who he had intended to provide it 

to, but he did ask the question, and the only concern I 

had with that is that he had a confidentiality 

understanding with Menaged about sharing it with third 

parties, and I told him that, but I said you do need to 

provide, you know, the information and in terms of what is 

going on. 

Q. Mr. Beauchamp, I am confused.  Maybe you can

clarify some things for me.

Are you telling me you were aware, while you

were representing Mr. Chittick, that he was continuing to

raise money from new investors and from rollover investors

after January 9th, 2014?

A. I became aware of that during the process.  I
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11:27 a.m.) 

VIDEOGRAPHER:  My name is Mary Onuschak with the

film of Legal Video Specialists, Phoenix, Arizona.  This

begins media two of the videotaped deposition of David G.

Beauchamp.  The time is 11:27 a.m.  We are now back on the

record.

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  Mr. Beauchamp, if you will 

turn to Exhibit No. 4, that's your Rule 26.1 statement 

that you verified under oath, and I want you to turn to 

page 3, line 7.   

Do you make the following statement under oath?  

"Although the various firms' engagement letters with 

DenSco only specifically identify DenSco as the client, 

DenSco could not operate or engage with legal counsel 

except through its president and sole owner, 

Mr. Chittick." 

Did you write that? 

A. I approved it.

Q. You verified it?

A. I don't remember who wrote it.

Q. Okay.  I'm sorry.  You verify it as true under

oath, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And you say, "DenSco had no other employees;

Mr. Chittick was responsible for all aspects of DenSco's
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business, and Mr. Chittick understood that Mr. Beauchamp,

as an incident to Mr. Beauchamp's representation of

DenSco, was also representing Mr. Chittick in his capacity

as president of DenSco."  True?

A. True.

Q. All right.  You understand there is a big

difference between communicating with Mr. Chittick as the

president and owner of DenSco and representing him

individually.  True?

A. True.

Q. You never represented Mr. Chittick individually.

True?

A. In connection with the licensing issues with the

Arizona Department of Financial Institutions for a

mortgage broker, because that pertained to his getting a

license for DenSco, that would be the closest thing to any

personal representation, but it was required for DenSco to

go through the procedure, but it was for DenSco that I did

the work.  Because he was not licensed, and I simply had

to provide evidence that he -- you know, he wasn't getting

paid for it.  He was an officer of the company and this is

how the loans were done.

Q. Well, DenSco's position was that the Arizona

financial department institutions had no regulatory

control over them.
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A. According to what Wendy Coy said, they had

received calls from investors.  But in addition to that, I

had contacted them for purposes of, you know, trying to

deal with some of the issues pertaining to the company and

trying to deal with compliance issues.

Q. And you see -- I want you to look at the first

paragraph.  And I want you to go down to the middle with

the sentence that starts "However, I have not previously

represented."  

Are you with me? 

A. Yes.

Q. And you say and write, quote, "However, I have

not previously represented Denny Chittick and I do not

have authority to accept the service of Subpoena on

Mr. Chittick or his Estate."

Did you write that? 

A. Yes.

Q. So just so we are absolutely clear, prior to

August 10th, 2016, your position was you represented

DenSco and you had never represented Mr. Chittick

personally?

A. In connection with the matters that she was --

that she was asking about.

Q. Had you represented him personally on -- well,

she is asking you about DenSco and its business, right?
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A. No.  She wanted -- 

Q. What's she asking you about?

A. She wanted all his personal tax records.  I

mean, the -- the subpoena was she wanted his personal tax

records going back a number of years.  She wanted an

updated financial statement showing all of his holdings,

his --

Q. All right.

A. I didn't have any of that information.

Q. But you told her you had not previously

represented Dennis Chittick.

Did I read that wrong? 

A. No.  No, you are reading it correctly.  And

if -- I probably should have, knowing what I know now,

stated not previously represented Denny Chittick, paren,

outside of his role as president as DenSco.

Q. Okay.  Well, I don't quite -- when you are

dealing with a corporation, you have to deal with the

president, right?

A. But you also deal with that person's

responsibilities to the corporation.

Q. Right.

You are just dealing with Mr. Chittick because 

he is the president and owner of the corporation.  Your 

client is the corporation.  True? 

JD REPORTING, INC. | 602.254.1345 | jdri@jdreporting.co

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



121

DAVID GEORGE BEAUCHAMP, VOLUME I, 7/19/2018               

fact an owner raising money for your -- for a client that

it owns, your firm uses or it did use the exact same or

very, very similar language that we have, that it's a

potential conflict of interest.

That is accepted practice and was discussed at 

several CLE seminars I was attended -- I attended, and it 

discussed that it could be asserted later it was a 

conflict of interest, disclose it as a risk factor, 

because you are going through the individual for the 

company, and if somebody tries to bifurcate what you did 

with 20/20 hindsight, they could claim there was a 

conflict of interest. 

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  Mr. Beauchamp, we are on this 

path because I want to know who your client is. 

A. I have --

Q. And I get more confused the more I hear you.

Did you ever represent Mr. Chittick personally, 

yes or no? 

A. No, I did not.

Q. Did you ever consider there was a conflict of

interest between Mr. Chittick and DenSco?

A. Only when he refused to do the disclosure that

we provided to him in May 2014 to disclose the Forbearance

Agreement to its investors.

Q. And that's when you terminated, right?
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A. That is correct.

Q. But you were never Mr. Chittick's attorney.

True?

A. That is correct.

Q. Well, then let's turn to Exhibit 295.

MR. DeWULF:  Say it again?  Two what?

MR. CAMPBELL:  295.

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  So Exhibit 295, there is a 

couple pages here, these are -- these are all your 

handwritten notes, correct? 

A. I don't see any handwritten notes at the

beginning, and I don't think I have ever seen this

document before.

Q. Wait a minute.  Are you on 295?

A. Oh, I'm sorry.  Now I am.  Sorry.

Q. These are your handwriting, right?

I didn't think it was a hard question.  Is this 

your handwriting? 

A. Yes, this is.  I'm reading it.  Sorry.

Q. So --

A. But there is more than just one quick page,

so...

Q. I didn't ask you to read it.  Can you identify

your handwriting?

A. And I am trying to look at multiple pages to do
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Q. Did you review this affidavit in preparation for

your deposition?

A. I reviewed it some time ago.

Q. When it says "I understood that Mr. Chittick

considered that I was his counsel," you were saying that

Mr. Chittick thought you were his individual counsel.

True?

MR. DeWULF:  Object to form.

THE WITNESS:  As I previously indicated, I

thought Mr. Chittick considered that I was his counsel in

connection with my being -- representing DenSco.

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  You took the rules of ethics 

in law school, didn't you? 

A. A long time ago.

Q. When a client -- when someone comes you to and

says I believe that you are my attorney and that's not

true, what is your responsibility?

MR. DeWULF:  Object to form.

THE WITNESS:  Your responsibility is to correct

the facts.

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  Did you ever tell 

Mr. Chittick that he was wrong to consider you his 

counsel? 

A. We did have a conversation several times that

I'm his counsel in connection with being an officer and
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director of DenSco, and DenSco is the client.

Q. How could you sign this affidavit that you knew

he considered you were his counsel, if you corrected him,

and not tell the Court?

MR. DeWULF:  Object to form.

THE WITNESS:  As I have tried to explain, I

interpreted the wording here that Mr. Chittick considered

that I was his counsel as well as counsel for DenSco was

in connection with matters for DenSco.

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  Sir, you go on in the next 

paragraph and say it's impossible for me, impossible to 

distinguish between what is an attorney/client 

communication with Mr. Chittick and what is an 

attorney/client communication with DenSco.  You signed 

that under oath for the Court. 

MR. DeWULF:  Object to form.

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  You don't say here that "I 

only represented him as the president of DenSco and I 

wasn't his individual attorney," do you? 

A. This states, "or what attorney-client

communications were solely corporate only and what was

personal to Mr. Chittick as the President of DenSco."

Q. Have you ever run across a concept called fraud

on the Court, Mr. Beauchamp?

MR. DeWULF:  Object to form.
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Q. Fair to say that Mr. Chittick did not want to

disclose his problems to the investors?

MR. DeWULF:  Object to form.

THE WITNESS:  Do you want to restate the

question?

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  No. 

Fair to say --  

A. At what time?

Q. When you were dealing -- sir, you terminated

your representation of Mr. Chittick and DenSco because he

would not disclose to the investors the fraud that

Mr. Menaged had committed on him.  True?

MR. DeWULF:  Object to form.

THE WITNESS:  That -- that -- that is true.

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  And from the very first time 

this problem arose, let's take your meeting of 

January 9th, 2014, January 9th, 2014, Mr. Chittick did not 

want to disclose this problem to his investors? 

MR. DeWULF:  Would you read that back, please.

(The requested portion of the record was read.) 

MR. DeWULF:  Object to form.

THE WITNESS:  I'm not -- I'm not sure how to

answer it without getting inside Denny's mind.

On January 9th, 2014, when I told him he had to 

disclose this before taking any new money, he balked at 
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it.  I explained it again is a material issue, and he said 

okay.  At -- I left that meeting that he understood his 

obligation and that he would do it for any new money 

brought in or any rollover money.   

MR. CAMPBELL:  Can you read me back his answer

again.

(The requested portion of the record was read.) 

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  Again, you were aware after 

that meeting that he was going to take new monies and take 

new rollover monies, but somehow he was going to disclose 

it? 

MR. DeWULF:  Object to form.

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  Do you want me to read your 

answer back to you? 

A. No, I heard it read.

At the January 9th meeting, I explained to him 

that he is frozen right now.  He needs to -- we need to 

get a handle on this and get it resolved.  And he 

indicated that he had other obligations with other 

borrowers and he had some notes that were coming due and 

to roll over.   

And I said you can't take that money, the 

rollover money without doing full disclosure.  He goes 

what about if I borrow on my line of credit and deal with 

it?  And I said are they looking to you or to the fund?  
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And he said to me.  And I -- well, you can borrow, you 

know, on your own and reloan it to the fund because you do 

know the facts, but you can't take any, and that's the 

bottom line.   

And based upon his previous experience with 

Insight and having been through this process many, many 

times, he understood his obligation. 

Q. Okay.  Just so I'm clear, to your knowledge,

Mr. Chittick was not raising any money after your meeting

with him; he froze raising any new money?

A. That -- that was my advice to him.  And

initially, January 9th, I didn't think he was going to be

doing that, other than borrowing on his line of credit and

reloaning it to the company or possibly borrowing

personally from some of the other heavy-wheeled investors

in reloaning the money to the company.

Q. You know today, Mr. Beauchamp, that he never

stopped raising money.  True?

MR. DeWULF:  Object to form.

THE WITNESS:  I have no personal knowledge, but

it is such common knowledge from everybody in the Court, I

accept that.

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  All right.  Did you ever read 

the receiver's report in this case? 

A. A long, long time ago, yes.
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A. I told Denny we would -- that we were in the

process of revising the POM.  We will get you the

applicable sections dealing with what you have to disclose

to your investors, describing the Forbearance Agreement,

and the questions that we need to finish the POM.  If we

can't get the information necessary to finish the POM,

then we have to do an amendment with regarding to the

Forbearance Agreement.

"Well, no, I want to wait on that for a while," 

et cetera, et cetera, was his response.  Again, I'm 

paraphrasing, please understand.  It's been a while and it 

was a rather difficult conversation.  And I said:  We will 

give it to you, but we expect that we have to make sure 

that this is done and provided to your investors. 

Q. Okay.  But, Mr. Beauchamp, these breaches of

fiduciary duty, these violations of the securities law are

taking place every single day.

You understood that, right? 

MR. DeWULF:  Object to form.

THE WITNESS:  I didn't understand it was every

single day.  He had so much money rolling in with payoffs

of previous loans and things of that nature, I -- he told

me it -- he was dealing with his line of credit to cover

the shortfalls and everything:  Oh, maybe a few times I

have accepted rollovers, whatever.
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THE WITNESS:  As he indicated there, he wanted

to have a solution to show them as opposed to just

sounding an alarm, like:  Oh, my God, this happened.  That

was his expression.

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  All right. 

A. The -- proceed.

Q. On January 9th when you learned that Mr. Menaged

had defrauded DenSco, DenSco's duties were to inform the

investors as soon as possible.  True?

MR. DeWULF:  Object to form.

THE WITNESS:  DenSco had a twofold obligation.

The first was he could -- was not supposed to 

take any new investment in to the company or any rollover 

investment without doing up-to-date disclosure to those 

investors.   

The second obligation, to the extent the 

investors were already locked into two-year notes that 

hadn't come up for renewal or anything yet, he needed to 

get the information to them as quickly as reasonably 

possible, I believe, is what -- is what I have read in 

that case. 

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  I want you to focus on 

fiduciary duty.  Okay?   

DenSco has a fiduciary duty to disclose material 

facts to its investor.  True? 

JD REPORTING, INC. | 602.254.1345 | jdri@jdreporting.co

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



197

DAVID GEORGE BEAUCHAMP, VOLUME I, 7/19/2018               

files cleaned up and transfer them since you are going to

have other counsel to handle your securities work going

forward."  And I -- I did not write and send a letter.

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  All right.  Well, you only 

did not write and send a letter; you didn't even do a 

handwritten note in the file that you terminated.  True? 

A. Well, Daniel Schenck and I were the only ones

doing work at the time, and we had discussed it and he

understood that he was simply doing work on the, you know,

cleanup of the forbearance, because we were done with this

client.

Q. I wasn't asking you about Mr. Schenck.

You didn't create any written document 

whatsoever, a note to the file, a handwritten typed to 

your calendar page, there was not a single piece of 

writing in May of 2014 that I can look to that says:  Oh, 

here is David saying he is terminating his representation. 

A. I was coordinating the steps with Mark

Sifferman, and -- and Denny had said:  Don't bother, don't

send me a letter.  I'm looking for other counsel.  So I

didn't do it.  I didn't do it.

Q. There is nothing in the file, in your file,

Mr. Beauchamp, in May of 2019 (sic) that you talked to

Mr. Sifferman or had any conversation with anyone in the

firm about termination.
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Rule 26.1 statement on pages 5, 6, and 7 discuss the FREO 

lawsuit, correct? 

A. Yes.

Q. And everything you said with respect to the FREO

lawsuit, you verified under oath not just once, but four

times, correct?

MR. DeWULF:  Object to form.

THE WITNESS:  Let me reread pages 5, 6, and 7

to -- yeah.  Yes, I did verify this under oath.

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  All right.  I want you to 

turn to the bottom of page 6.  And you will see on line 22 

you verify under oath that, "Mr. Beauchamp did, however, 

explain to Mr. Chittick that this lawsuit would need to be 

disclosed in DenSco's 2013 POM." 

Do you see that? 

A. Yes.

Q. And then you say, "In addition, Mr. Beauchamp

advised Mr. Chittick, as he had done previously, that

Mr. Chittick needed to fund DenSco's loans directly to the

trustee or escrow company conducting the sale, rather than

provide loan funds directly to the borrower, to ensure

that DenSco's deed of trust was protected."

Do you see that? 

A. Yes.

Q. So at the time you told Mr. Chittick that this
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lawsuit would need to be disclosed, which was in

June 14th of 2013, you also told him not to give the money

directly to Menaged, but to give it to the trustee,

correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And the only reason you would have done that is

because the Complaint told you that there was a piece of

property double funded, one to Active Funding, one to

DenSco, and you must have talked with Mr. Chittick how

that happened, and he told you that he wired the money to

Menaged.

Is that what happened, Mr. Beauchamp? 

MR. DeWULF:  Object to form.

THE WITNESS:  I -- that's a -- I don't recall

that, that specific conversation.

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  Is there -- why would you 

even talk to him about how he is funding his loans, if 

it's an immaterial lawsuit that you haven't looked at at 

all?  Why would you talk to him about how he funds his 

loans? 

A. It -- it probably -- if it did, it probably came

up in the conversation and he explained how it happened in

things like he explains the details in the background,

which gets...

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  All right.  But you have said 
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Cave attorneys, right?

A. Correct.

Q. Let's turn to Exhibit 133.  Exhibit 133 are the

Bryan Cave time records for July 2013.

Do you see that? 

A. Yes.

Q. And it looks like, starting on -- you will see

on July 10th is the last time you communicate with

Mr. Wang and Ms. Sipes?

MR. CAMPBELL:  Object to form.

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  July 10, 2013. 

A. That's the last time that it's recorded here,

yes.

Q. And then from July 12th, 2013, until July 31,

you have a number of time entries indicating that you are

working on the private offering memorandum.  Fair?

A. That is the description.

Q. Now, the only written work we have on the

private offering memorandum is that July 2013 POM we

previously did.

Do you recall if you did any other written work 

with respect to the POM? 

MR. DeWULF:  Object to form.

THE WITNESS:  Yes, I did.  There were a number

of situations where I reviewed the file and the previous
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file with respect to status of disclosure items,

background information.

I also was trying to relate the facts and 

circumstances to the other litigation matters.  And also 

at this time, we did -- I did get on his website and 

confirm that the changes had been made and he had in fact 

taken it down. 

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  Are there other drafts, I 

mean, are there a series of drafts in July on the private 

offering memorandum? 

A. That's not -- typically what I do is work on the

background to a particular section before it gets

incorporated to the draft to the client.

Q. All right.  As I look at your time entries from

July 12th, 2013, to July 31, 2013, I don't see anything

reflecting a telephone call with Mr. Chittick.

MR. DeWULF:  Object to form.

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  Do you see any billing 

entries reflecting a telephone call to Mr. Chittick 

between July 12th and July 31, 2013? 

A. I do not see an entry.

Q. When did you leave Bryan Cave?

A. It was the last business day in August.

Q. All right.  And then so you started work at

Clark Hill the next day in September?
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A. I believe Monday was Labor Day, and I traveled

to Detroit that day for orientation and computer training.

Q. All right.  If you turn to Exhibit No. 139, 139

is the Bryan Cave invoice for your time in August at Bryan

Cave, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Now, I don't know.  Would you have reviewed

this?  It's dated in September.

A. No.

Q. All right.  You will see the only time entry you

have in August is for .4 tenths of an hour, reviewing and

responding to emails concerning Reg D.  

Do you see that? 

A. Yes.

Q. You don't show any telephone call with

Mr. Chittick with respect to that August billing

statement, right?

A. No, not on -- on that bill, no.  That is -- I

thought I saw notes of another conversation in there,

though.

Q. When did Mr. Chittick tell you to stop work?

A. It was early in August.  I don't remember the

specifics.  It was clearly before I announced any

decision.

Q. Well, it must have been after August 6, 2013,
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Q. And then what do you read after that?

A. "Need to discuss timing & update."  Later that

day he called me back and --

Q. Hold on.  Let's stay on that one.

I didn't see anything in that August 26 message 

you left him that he had instructed you to stop work. 

MR. DeWULF:  Object to form.

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  You are -- you are leaving 

him a message to get information from him, right? 

A. To get it to the file, because he said it was

done, and he never sent it to me after saying it was done.

Q. All right.  And then you had a telephone call

with him later that day?

A. Yeah.  And he --

Q. And you write, in your handwriting:  Explained

delay with POM.

Did you write that? 

A. Yes, I did.  And that was -- that was a

reference, again, to his -- I believe it was a reference,

again, to his decision to put it on hold for the time

being, because he wasn't able to focus on it and get us

the information.

Q. You weren't explaining your delay on the POM,

Mr. Beauchamp?

A. No.

JD REPORTING, INC. | 602.254.1345 | jdri@jdreporting.co

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



305

DAVID GEORGE BEAUCHAMP, VOLUME II, 7/20/2018               

hasn't had this issue before, so he had separated the two.

Q. Again, I'm going to instruct you, I'm going to

ask you a yes-or-no answer.  If you can answer it yes or

no, fine.  If you can't, just tell me you can't.  Okay?

When you had this telephone call from 

Mr. Chittick in December 2013, did you remember that you 

had told Mr. Chittick the previous summer that the 

litigation had to be disclosed in a private offering 

memorandum? 

MR. DeWULF:  Object to form.

THE WITNESS:  I'm -- I'm pretty sure I did, yes.

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  When you had this 

conversation with Mr. Chittick in December 2013, did you 

also recall that the previous summer you had told 

Mr. Chittick:  Do not give money directly to Easy 

Investments, give it to the trustee? 

MR. DeWULF:  Object to form.

THE WITNESS:  Yes, I -- I do recall reminding

him of that.

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  So when you had this 

conversation in December 2013, you remembered that, gee, 

this was an issue I dealt with in the summer and here it 

is back again in December.  True?   

MR. DeWULF:  Object to form.

THE WITNESS:  I am not sure that in the brief
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to any email, between January 1, 2014, and the time you 

terminated your representation of DenSco, where you 

advised Mr. Chittick by email not to fund the loan by 

giving, wiring money to Menaged, but hand deliver a check 

to the trustee, correct? 

MR. DeWULF:  Object to form.

THE WITNESS:  I'm not familiar with every email

that went out, so I cannot say yes or no that there is --

so you are right, I cannot point to an email off the top

of my head.

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  In the preparation for your 

deposition today and in reviewing documents for your 

deposition, did you see a single email that you can recall 

from January 1, 2014, until the time you terminated, where 

you sent an email saying "Don't wire the money to the 

borrower.  Hand deliver it to the trustee"? 

MR. DeWULF:  Object to form.

THE WITNESS:  I -- I don't recall an email, but

we had numerous conversations on that point.

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  I want you to put that book 

back up and bring down Volume 2. 

MR. DeWULF:  Volume 2?

MR. CAMPBELL:  Volume 2, Exhibit 61.

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  All right.  Are you on 

Exhibit 61? 
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A. Yes.

Q. So Exhibit 61 is some sort of appointment

calendar.

Is this -- do you have within Clark Hill an 

appointment calendar where you can post meetings? 

A. There -- I have never seen this format, but,

yes, there is a way to do that.

Q. All right.  So you say this looks -- this is

Mr. Anderson.  It's on January 29th, 2014.  The subject is

David B, rev, which I assume is reviewed DenSco loan

documents and procedures re closing and 1st lien position,

title company.

I was just going to ask, do you have any 

recollection of meeting with Mr. Anderson at any time to 

talk about DenSco loan document and procedures re closing 

and 1st lien position? 

A. I don't have a recollection of a meeting, but I

have recollection of talking to him.

Q. Okay.  Give me a recollection of what your

discussion was with Mr. Anderson regarding DenSco loan

docs and procedures re closing and 1st lien position,

title co.

A. He had reviewed Bob Miller's letter, and I

indicated that the client was not accepting my advice as

to what he -- how he had to do, and he asked for an
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independent view.  That's why I got you involved with no

background information.  And we need to, you know, confirm

to the client what is the procedure.  And he said:  Well,

he has got to go through the trustee or the title company.

I said:  Then you need to tell him that.

Q. All right.  So you told Mr. Anderson that he had

to tell Mr. Chittick that the proper procedure was to give

the money to the trustee, not to wire it to the borrower?

A. Denny wanted independent confirmation.  He

didn't want it from me.  And the best way to deal with

that was to either have -- you know, to have Bob deal with

Denny directly so Denny wouldn't accuse me of filtering

it.

Q. I understand, but I'm just trying -- you know,

when we have multiple --

A. I understand.

Q. When you have multiple team members on a case,

different people have different responsibilities.  And I

hear you saying that it was Mr. Anderson's responsibility

to get back to Mr. Chittick and let him know that he is

independently confirming that he is not to send the money

to the borrower, he is to bring the check to the trustee?

MR. DeWULF:  Object to form.

THE WITNESS:  It -- it was either that he needed

to coordinate with Daniel to get back to him, but I had to
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be out of the loop.  This needs to be a way, outside my

hands.

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  All right.  I understand, but 

Mr. Chittick had asked for advice from Clark Hill about 

this procedure of funding?  

A. Correct.

Q. Clark Hill said "We will give you advice,"

correct?

A. Well, I had provided advice and he wanted a

second opinion, yeah.

Q. And Clark Hill said "We will give you a second

opinion," right?

A. Correct.

Q. And the person that was going to give

Mr. Chittick a second opinion was going to be

Mr. Anderson?

MR. DeWULF:  Object to form.

THE WITNESS:  It was going to be some

combination of Mr. Anderson and Mr. Schenck.

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  All right.  So either 

Mr. Anderson or Mr. Schenck was going to give the advice 

back to Mr. Chittick, am I correct, but you are out of the 

loop? 

A. On this issue, yes.

Q. All right.  In preparation for your deposition,
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MR. DeWULF:  Object to form.

THE WITNESS:  It references the escrow letter,

the title company in terms of that, and how he closed

other loans for other clients for me.  He always used the

escrow letter to convey with the money going, you are

receiving on behalf of the lender.  That is how Bob

Anderson operated.

What was the balance of the question?  I'm 

sorry. 

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  Mr. Anderson in his 

deposition said that this document had nothing to do with 

how you fund the loan.   

Are you disagreeing with that? 

MR. DeWULF:  Object to the form.

THE WITNESS:  If -- if he provided this, this

could have been a separate request from the client.

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  Do you have any recollection 

whether you did anything to confirm that either 

Mr. Anderson or Mr. Schenck actually gave legal advice to 

Mr. Chittick about how to fund the loan? 

A. I -- I did talk with Denny, and he said -- he

didn't indicate where it came from, but:  I understand the

objections to the procedure to funding and I'm going to

modify my procedures.

So at that point I thought he had gotten the 
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BE IT KNOWN that the foregoing proceeding was 
taken before me; that the witness before testifying was 
duly sworn by me to testify to the whole truth; that the 
questions propounded to the witness and the answers of the 
witness thereto were taken down by me in shorthand and 
thereafter reduced to typewriting under my direction; that 
the foregoing is a true and correct transcript of all 
proceedings had upon the taking of said deposition, all 
done to the best of my skill and ability. 

 
I CERTIFY that I am in no way related to any of 

the parties hereto nor am I in any way interested in the 
outcome hereof. 
 
 

[X]  Review and signature was requested. 
[ ]  Review and signature was waived. 
[ ]  Review and signature was not requested. 

 
 

I CERTIFY that I have complied with the ethical 
obligations in ACJA Sections 7-206(F)(3) and 
7-206-(J)(1)(g)(1) and (2). 
 
 
                                              8/2/2018 
_______________________________________     _____________ 
Kelly Sue Oglesby                               Date 
Arizona Certified Reporter No. 50178 
 
 

I CERTIFY that JD Reporting, Inc. has complied 
with the ethical obligations in ACJA Sections 
7-206(J)(1)(g)(1) and (6). 
 
 
                                              8/2/2018 
_______________________________________     _____________ 
JD REPORTING, INC.                              Date 
Arizona Registered Reporting Firm R1012 
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Michael K. Jeanes, Clerk of Court
*** Electronically Filed ***

12/17/2013 8:00 AM
SUPERIOR COURT OF ARIZONA

MARICOPA COUNTY

CV 2013-007663 12/06/2013

Docket Code 005 Form V000A Page 1

CLERK OF THE COURT
HON. SALLY SCHNEIDER DUNCAN J. Kiraly/C. Castro

Deputy

FREO ARIZONA L L C RICHARD L COBB

v.

EASY INVESTMENTS L L C, et al. STEFAN M PALYS

BRADFORD E KLEIN
KIM R LEPORE

MINUTE ENTRY

Courtroom 702 - Central Court Building

9:57 a.m. This is the time set for oral Argument on summary judgment. Plaintiff Freo 
Arizona, LLC is represented by counsel, Joseph J. Glenn. Defendants Easy Investment, LLC and 
Active Funding Group, LLC are represented by counsel, Stefan M. Palys and Jeffrey J. Goulder. 
Defendant Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC is represented by counsel, Kim R. Lepore. 

Court Reporter, Robin Bobbie, is present and a record of the proceedings is also made by 
audio and/or videotape.

Arguments are presented on Plaintiff’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, filed on 
July 11, 2013, and Defendants Easy Investments, LLC and Active Funding Group, LLC’s Cross-
Motion for Summary Judgment against Freo Arizona, LLC, filed on September 4, 2013.

For the reasons stated on the record,

THE COURT FINDS that A.R.S. §33-811(C) operates to prevent Plaintiff Freo Arizona, 
LLC from reviving defenses when it failed to timely seek an injunction. Accordingly,

IT IS ORDERED denying Plaintiff’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment.
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED granting Defendants Easy Investments, LLC and Active 
Funding Group, LLC’s Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment against Freo Arizona, LLC.

Arguments are presented on Defendants Easy Investments, LLC and Active Funding 
Group, LLC’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Against Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC, filed 
on September 4, 2013. 

For the reasons set forth on the record, 

THE COURT FINDS that Defendant Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC had a duty and 
breached that duty. Accordingly,

IT IS ORDERED granting Defendants Easy Investments, LLC and Active Funding 
Group, LLC’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Against Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC, filed 
on September 4, 2013, on liability under the tort of another doctrine and denying the Motion as 
to damages. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED denying Defendants Active Funding Group, LLC’s Motion 
for Partial Summary Judgment, filed on November 8, 2013.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that counsel shall submit a form of Judgment for the 
Court’s consideration and signature by December 13, 2013. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED as follows:

Counsel and/or the parties shall meet in person to discuss all of the matters set forth in 
Ariz. R. Civ. P. Rule 16(b). Counsel and/or the parties shall prepare and file with the Court, no 
later than 5:00 p.m. on December 20, 2013, a Joint Proposed Scheduling Order, for discovery, 
motion and disclosure deadlines.

If the parties agree to the dates, they should prepare an Order in the form attached 
hereto, containing the provisions which are applicable to their case.  

The Joint Proposed Scheduling Order shall include specific dates (“June 5, 2012”, rather 
than “45 days prior to trial”).  Please do not incorporate a firm trial date in the proposed Order.
This Court will set a firm trial date only after discovery has been completed and the parties have 
in good faith participated in a mediation or settlement conference. 
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If counsel and/or the parties are unable to agree on any of the items that are to be 
included in the Order, the reasons for their inability to agree shall be set forth in their proposed 
Order.

Once the initial Joint Pretrial Scheduling Memorandum is submitted, the Court will 
review the Proposed Scheduling Order and schedule a telephonic pretrial status/scheduling 
conference (via separate minute entry). At the telephonic pretrial status/scheduling
conference, if the parties have completed discovery and are ready for trial, the Court will 
set a firm date for the Final Trial Management Conference and trial. If the parties are not 
ready for trial, the matter may be placed on the Court’s calendar for dismissal. 

If, at any time, the parties believe a telephonic or in-person pretrial conference is
necessary or warranted, they should address the reasons in the Joint Proposed Scheduling Order.

Notice Regarding Substantive Motions: The Court will not accept omnibus motions, 
responses and replies. All motions, responses and replies shall be filed on individual claims and 
counts separately. Counsel shall not combine any motion with a responsive pleading. If omnibus 
motions are filed, the Court reserves the right to reject the motions. No motion shall exceed the 
page limitation without prior Court approval.

If a Joint Proposed Scheduling Order is not timely submitted as ordered, the Court will 
place the matter on the Court’s calendar for dismissal.

IT IS ORDERED if a Notice of Settlement is filed the Court will dismiss the case with 
prejudice within thirty (30) days from the receipt of the Notice of Settlement. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED if there is a pending status conference scheduled with the 
Court, and the parties have settled the case, the parties must file a Motion to Vacate Telephonic 
Pretrial Status/Scheduling Conference within three (3) business days prior to the Court 
appearance or, in the alternative, shall be prepared to place a Rule 80(d) Agreement on the 
record.

10:33 a.m. Matter concludes. 

ALERT:  The Arizona Supreme Court Administrative Order 2011-140 directs the Clerk's 
Office not to accept paper filings from attorneys in civil cases.  Civil cases must still be initiated 
on paper; however, subsequent documents must be eFiled through AZTurboCourt unless an 
exception defined in the Administrative Order applies.
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PROPOSED SCHEDULING ORDER
Ariz. R. Civ. P. Rule 16(b)   

The Court having received the parties Joint Pretrial Scheduling Memorandum,

IT IS ORDERED entering the following schedule for disclosure as set forth unless the 
parties obtain written modifications by the Court:

1. The parties shall mutually and simultaneously disclose areas of expert testimony by 5:00 
p.m. on __________. [OR]

a. Plaintiffs shall disclose areas of expert testimony by 5:00 p.m. on __________.

b. Defendants shall disclose areas of expert testimony by 5:00 p.m. on __________.

2. The parties shall mutually and simultaneously disclose the identity and opinions of their 
expert witnesses by 5:00 p.m. __________. [OR]

a. Plaintiffs shall disclose the identity and opinions of their expert witnesses by 5:00 
p.m. on __________.

b. Defendants shall disclose the identity and opinions of their expert witnesses by
5:00 p.m. on __________.

3. Any and all discovery requests shall be served by 5:00 p.m. on __________.

4. The parties shall disclose all non-expert testimony by 5:00 p.m. on __________. [OR]

a. Plaintiffs shall disclose areas of non-expert testimony by 5:00 p.m. on 
__________.

b. Defendants shall disclose areas of non-expert testimony by 5:00 p.m. on 
__________.

5. The parties shall mutually and simultaneously disclose their rebuttal expert witnesses and 
opinions by 5:00 p.m. on __________.

6. All discovery shall be completed by 5:00 p.m. on __________.
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7. The parties shall have exchanged up-to-date final Rule 26.1 Supplemental Disclosure 
Statements by 5:00 p.m. on __________. This Order does not replace the parties’ 
obligation to seasonably disclose on an on-going basis under Rule 26.1 as information 
becomes available.

8. The parties shall file dispositive motions no later than 5:00 p.m. on __________.

9. Settlement conference (choose one):

The parties shall participate in private mediation by (120 days out).

[OR]

IT IS ORDERED the parties shall participate in a Settlement Conference. This case is 
referred to the Court's Office of Alternative Dispute Resolution for the appointment of a Judge 
Pro Tempore to conduct a Settlement Conference.   Counsel and/or the parties will receive a 
minute entry from ADR appointing the Judge Pro Tempore.   Counsel and any "pro per" parties 
will contact the appointed Judge Pro Tempore to arrange the date, time and location for the 
Settlement Conference.  The Judge Pro Tempore is requested to conduct a Settlement 
Conference no later than (120 days out). The Office of Alternative Dispute Resolution will not 
do the scheduling of the Settlement Conference so please do not contact that office. 

If counsel prefer to use a private mediator to conduct the Settlement Conference, a 
Stipulation and Order re: Alternative to ADR must be presented to the Court no later than 
5:00 p.m. on (90 days out).

All counsel and their clients, non-lawyer representatives and insurance adjusters 
who have full and complete authority to settle the case, shall personally appear at the 
settlement conference and participate in good faith even if no settlement is expected.  
Sanctions may be imposed for failure to participate.

 
10. No expert witnesses, expert opinions, lay witnesses, or exhibits shall be used at trial other 

than those disclosed in a timely manner, except for good cause shown or written 
agreement of the parties.

11. Should any discovery disputes arise, counsel, prior to filing discovery motions, shall meet 
and confer pursuant to Rule 37, Ariz. R. Civ. P.

12. The dates set forth in this Order are FIRM dates and will not be extended or modified 
absent good cause.  Lack of preparation will not ordinarily be considered good cause.
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13. This case is removed from the Inactive Calendar and all requirements of Rule 38.1, Ariz. 
R. Civ. P., are waived unless and until otherwise ordered by the Court.

14. A Telephonic Pretrial Status/Scheduling Conference is set for __________, at _____ 
a.m./p.m. for the purpose of setting a trial date if the case has not settled. Time allotted: 
15 minutes. Counsel shall have their trial calendars available.  Counsel for Plaintiff shall 
initiate the conference call by first arranging the presence of all other counsel on the 
conference call and by calling this division at: (602)506-9042 promptly at the scheduled 
time. The call should be placed from a land-line telephone in an area with no background 
noise as this will prevent the parties from hearing the proceedings in the courtroom.  The 
call may not be placed from a vehicle.  Please do not call from a cellular telephone.  

NOTE:  This Court utilizes FTR for an electronic record of the proceedings.  However, 
any party may request the presence of a court reporter by contacting the division three (3) court 
business days before the scheduled hearing.

Dated: __________

HON. SALLY SCHNEIDER DUNCAN
JUDICIAL OFFICER OF THE SUPERIOR COURT









Stringer Lindsay

From Beauchamp David

Sent Thursday January 09 2014 921 AM
To Stringer Lindsay

Subject Fw the details

Attachments RM Easy Investments.doc DOT Easy Investments.doc Note Easy Investment.doc HUD

Pratt 90k.pdf

Please print this for me and reserve conf room from 10 to noon today with whiteboard

Thanks

David Beauchamp

CLARK HILL PLC

14850 Scottsdale Rd Suite 500 Phoenix Arizona 85254

480.684.1126 direct 480.684.1166 fax 602.319.5602 cell

dbeauchampclarkhill.com www.clarkhill.com

From Denny Chittick

Sent Tuesday January 07 2014 0149 PM

To Beauchamp David

Cc Yomtov Menaged smena98754@aol.com
Subject the details

thought would give you something to read so that you are up to

date and you can have questions for us when we arrive im

bringing Scott with me

Ive been lending to Scott Menaged through few different LLCs

and his name since 2007 ive lent him 50 million dollars and have

never had problem with payment or issue that hasnt been

resolved

Sometime last year his wife became ill with cancer his cousin was

working with him and took on stronger day to day role as scott

was distracted with his wife Scott always was the one that

determined what properties to buy how much etc his cousin was

doing paperwork checks and management of the day to day At

some point his cousin decided to take advantage of our relationship

and started to steal money Scott would request loan from me his
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cousin would request loan from another borrower would say
there are as many as 1/2 dozen different lenders in total
Because of our long term relationship when Scott needed money
would wire the money to his account and he would pay the trustee

do this same thing with several borrowers and bidding cos As an

example He would buy property at auction for 100k its worth

145k he would ask me for 80k would wire it to him he would pay
the trustee with my 80k and his 20k and he would sign the RM
which ive attached all docs you have reviewed and have been
reveiwed by guy at your last law firm maybe two firms ago in

2007 ive attached them would record the RM the day he paid
for the property then once the trustees deed was recorded which

during the last few years has been at times weeks from the

auction date to the recorded date then would record my DOT this

is practice that have done its recognized by all the

escrow cos Some title agents wont see anything before the

trustees deed recording as valid lien some look at the whole

chain for me to be covered would record the RM to muddy up
title then record the DOT after the trustees deed to ensure my first

position lien when the loan is paid off always send release for

both liens when say that some title officers request it and some
dont it seems to matter of opinion rather than hard and fast

law/requirement/demand/ or something of that nature Again this is

what do on every single auction property no matter who is the

borrower

What is cousin was doing was receiving the funds from me then

requesting them from the other lenders these other lenders would

cut cashiers check for the agreed upon loan amount and then

take it to the trustee and receive the receipt they would then record

DOT immediately then after the trustees deed is recorded they

would re-record their DOT Sometimes would record my RM first

sometimes they would then after the trustees deed sometimes

would record my DOT first sometimes they would
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The cousin absconded with the funds Scott figured this out in mid
November He came to me and told me what was happening he
said he had talked to the other lenders and they agreed that this

was mess and as long as they got their interest and were being
paid off they wouldnt foreclose sue or anything else

Scott and spent great amount of time creating plan to fix this

Our plan is simple sell off the properties and pay off both liens with

interest and make everyone whole Because many of the houses
were bought in the first half of last year they are upside down but
not nearly as bad as you would think if Scott paid 100k lent 80k
and another lender lent 80k the house is now worth 140k its

upside down 20k However there are some houses that are more
upside down than this Cornirup with the short fall on au thee
houses is challenge but we believe its doable our plan is

combination of injecting capital and extending cheaper money
along with continuing the business as hes run it for years by
flipping homes which will generate profits

The Plan

all lenders will be paid their interest except me im allowing my
interest to accrue

im extending him million dollars against home at 3%
he is bringing in 4-5 million dollars over the next 120 days from

liquidating some assets as well as getting some money back that

the cousin stole and other sources
hes got majority of these houses rented this brings in lot of

money every month
the houses that hes buying now and will be flipping will bring in

money every week starting next week or two
as the houses become vacant either because of ending the lease

or the tenant leaves scott will fix up the house and sell it retail this

will drive the order in which the houses will be sold
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he also owns dozens of houses that only have one lien on them

and have substantial equity in them and hell be selling these as

the tenants vacate

ive been over this plan 100 times and the numbers and truly

believe this is the right avenue to fix the problem we have been

proceeding with this plan since November and weve already

cleared up about 10% of the total $s in question thats in the

slowest part of the selling season We feel once things pick up

seasonally we can speed this up

the gentleman that handed me the paperwork believes because he

physically paid the trustee that he is in first position but agrees its

messy he wants me to subordinate to him no matter who recorded

first we have paid off one of his loans youll see onlhtslistPratt

paid in full ive attached the hud-1 and you see that it shows me in

first position versus his belief now thats one title agents opinion

understand thats not settling legal dispute on whos in first or

second

know that cant sign the subordination because that goes against

everything that tell my investors plus can tell you there are

several other lenders waiting to see what do if sign with this

group they want to have me sign one for them too

What we need is an agreement that as long as the other lenders

are being paid their interest and payoffs continue to come we
have 12 more houses in escrow currently all planned to close in

the next 30 days that no one initiates foreclosure for obvious

reasons which will give us time to execute our plan

let me know any questions so that when we meet we can be

productive as possible

thx
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dc

DenSco Investment Corp
www.denscoinvestment.com

602-469-3001

602-532-7737
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Beauchamp David

From Beauchamp David

Sent Tuesday January 21 2014 157 PM
To Denny Chittick

Subject RE update

Denny

If knew the attorney that they are now using could try to confirm the timing If you or Scott talk to Dan or the others

please try to get name

understand the fine line that you are taking am just very concerned about the payoffs getting so far ahead of the

documentation have authorized the preparation of the Forbearance Agreement and the related documents Under

normal circumstances this should be finalized and signed before you advance all of this additional money We plan to

get the documents to you and Scott later this week Hopefully we can get the documents signed later this week

Best David

David Beauchamp

CLARK HILL PLC

14850 Scottsdale Rd Suite 500 Phoenix Arizona 85254
480.684.1126 direct 480.684.1166 fax 602.319.5602 cell
dbeauchampcäclarkhilI.com www.clarkhill.com

From Denny Chittick dcmoney@yahoo.com
Sent Tuesday January 21 2014 150 PM
To Beauchamp David

Subject Re update

we talked about that she can run title for me and just tell me that

im clear shes also working with us to get the payoffs so well see
how it works out understand the risk im trying to walk fine line

between doing it right and doing it quickly know how to do it right

just dont know how fast have to do it to keep them at bey can
do million this week which will cut it in 1/2 with payoffs coming
in through the end of the month should be able to have them

completely paid off with in another weeks knocking some off

little at time just dont know if theyll give us that time..

DenSco Investment Corp
www.denscoinvestment.com
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602-469-3001

602-532-7737

From Beauchamp David DBeauchamp@ClarkHilLcom
To Denny Chittick dcmoney@yahoo.com
Sent Tuesday January21 2014 142 PM
Subject RE update

Denny

If you do this outside escrow you will probably not be eligible for title insurance Under the

circumstances title insurance would be good to have to deal with the lien issues You might want to

ask Debbie what procedure you could use to expedite the pay-offs and still have her company be able

to issue title insurance

Would it make sense to split up the payoffs of these loans into two or three different escrows and title

agencies

Best David

David Beauchamp

CLARK HILL PLC

14850 Scottsdale Rd Suite 500 Phoenix Arizona 85254
480.684.1126 directJ 480.684.1166 fax 1602.319.5602 cell
dbeauchampSclarkhjll.com www.clarkhill.com

From Denny Chittick

Sent Tuesday January21 2014 1242 PM
To Beauchamp David

Subject update

we are going to pay off tomorrow title cant work fast

enough the earliest we can do more through title is friday

based on what debbie is saying we may need to get payoff

directly from them and just exchange checks and releases

outside of title

dc

DenSco Investment Corp
www.denscoinvestment.com

602-469-3001

602-532-7737

LEGAL NOTICE This e-mail is for the exclusive use of the intended recipients and may contain privileged and
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confidential information If you are not an intended recipient please notify the sender delete the e-mail from yourcomputer and do not copy or disclose it to anyone else Your receipt of this message is not intended to waive
any applicable privilege Neither this e-mail nor any attachments establish an attorney-client relationshipconstitute an electronic signature or provide consent to contract electronically unless expressly so stated byClark Hill attorney in the body of this e-mail or an attachment

FEDERAL TAX ADVICE DISCLAIMER Under Treasury Regulations we are informing you that to the
extent this message includes any federal tax advice this message is not intended or written by the sender to beused and cannot be used for the purpose of avoiding federal tax penalties
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF ARIZONA 
 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF MARICOPA 
 
Peter S. Davis, as Receiver of )
DenSco Investment Corporation, )
an Arizona corporation, )
                             )
          Plaintiff,  )
 )
      vs.                          )  NO. CV2017-013832 
 )
Clark Hill PLC, a Michigan )
limited liability company; )
David G. Beauchamp and Jane Doe )
Beauchamp, Husband and Wife,  )
 )
          Defendants.  )
___________________________________) 
 
 
 

VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF DANIEL ALLEN SCHENCK 
 

Phoenix, Arizona 
June 19, 2018 

9:05 a.m. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
REPORTED BY: 
KELLY SUE OGLESBY, RPR 
Arizona CR No. 50178 
Registered Reporting Firm R1012 
 
PREPARED FOR:               
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DANIEL ALLEN SCHENCK, 6/19/2018                           

he was going to heed it.  And that's just it.

Q. If he was wiring money to the borrower --

A. Okay.

Q. -- that would be a very material fact for an

investor.  True?

A. I can't say that.

Q. You can't say that?

How did the first fraud take place? 

MR. DeWULF:  Object to form.

THE WITNESS:  Well, there was a problem with the

way that he was sending the money to him.

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  He was wiring the money to 

the borrower, correct? 

A. Right.

Q. And that allowed Mr. Menaged or his cousin to

hold the money, fund the property from another lender --

A. Uh-huh.

Q. -- and steal the money that he got from

DenSco --

MR. DeWULF:  Object to form.

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  -- right? 

A. That sound like the scenario that happened, but,

again, I don't know all the facts on it.  But I -- I guess

my concern with the way you have worded the question is

it's assuming that we knew that Denny was not going to
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DANIEL ALLEN SCHENCK, 6/19/2018                           

change his practices and that he was still going to

continue to do it that way, and we did not know what Denny

was going to do still going forward with his practices.

Q. How do you draft a private offering memorandum

without knowing that?

A. Well, that's when this is a draft and we are

identifying some of the first issues that needed to be

identified.  But then we are going to have to go, you

know, confirm with the client if it's still accurate.

Q. Turn to Exhibit No. 4 again.  This is the

Rule 26.1 statement from your law firm.

A. Okay.

Q. Turn to page 14.  You will see on line 19 --

A. Yes.

Q. -- it starts, and let me see if I can quote this

correctly:  Mr. Beauchamp and his associate, Daniel

Schenck, began drafting the updated POM in April and May

2014.  Specifically, the draft 2014 POM would have:

Provided a description of the Forbearance Agreement

(including all the parties' funding obligations), the

reason it was necessary, its effect on DenSco's books;

updated DenSco's goals for intended loan-to-value ratios;

updated the descriptions regarding DenSco's loan funding

and securitization procedures; updated the number of loan

defaults triggering foreclosure; and amended the

JD REPORTING, INC. | 602.254.1345 | jdri@jdreporting.co
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DANIEL ALLEN SCHENCK, 6/19/2018                           

private offering memorandum you drafted?

A. As I sit here today, I don't know.  And part of

it could have been I didn't know if the practices were

changing or not.  Again, this was a first draft.

Q. Did Mr. Beauchamp ever come to you and tell you

he had terminated DenSco as a client?

A. Yes.

Q. When did he do that?

A. It probably was within a week or a couple weeks

at least -- I'm trying to frame up -- after this initial

draft was, I think gave it to David, and then I think he

then was working with Denny on, you know, starting to fill

it in more and to update it with the correct information

and such.  It was around that time period.

Q. So you think -- we know from your billing

records that you gave it to Mr. Beauchamp on May 14th, so

you think within one week, by May 21st, Mr. Beauchamp came

to you and said we are terminating DenSco as a client?

MR. DeWULF:  I think that's a

mischaracterization of what he said, Counsel.  I'll object

to form.

MR. CAMPBELL:  Let him say -- he can correct me

if I'm wrong.

THE WITNESS:  Okay.  I would say it was probably

within days or weeks after that.  I don't -- I can't
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DANIEL ALLEN SCHENCK, 6/19/2018                           

pinpoint when it was.

 Q.   (BY MR. CAMPBELL)  Days or weeks? 

A. Yeah.

Q. How many times have you terminated a client?

A. Me?  Only a handful of times.

Q. How many times has a partner come to you and

said we are terminating a client, cease work?

A. Just a handful of times.

Q. What are Clark Hill's procedures when a client

is terminated?

A. I don't know that there are actually set

procedures on -- firm-wide on how to do that.

Q. Do you terminate work?

A. Since this, I have done a couple of that, yeah.

Q. So once Mr. Beauchamp came and talked to you,

you did no further work on the case?

A. No, I don't think that would be accurate.

Q. How can you terminate a client and do no further

work for them and then continue working for them?

A. Well, I think on this particular situation, I

think we understood that we were no longer representing

them and going to continue this, but that it would be

handed off to another counsel.

So we were trying essentially to put it in the 

best shape possible so that the new counsel that was going 
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DANIEL ALLEN SCHENCK, 6/19/2018                           

BE IT KNOWN that the foregoing proceeding was 
taken before me; that the witness before testifying was 
duly sworn by me to testify to the whole truth; that the 
questions propounded to the witness and the answers of the 
witness thereto were taken down by me in shorthand and 
thereafter reduced to typewriting under my direction; that 
the foregoing is a true and correct transcript of all 
proceedings had upon the taking of said deposition, all 
done to the best of my skill and ability. 

 
I CERTIFY that I am in no way related to any of 

the parties hereto nor am I in any way interested in the 
outcome hereof. 
 
 

[ ]  Review and signature was requested. 
[ ]  Review and signature was waived. 
[X]  Review and signature was not requested. 

 
 

I CERTIFY that I have complied with the ethical 
obligations in ACJA Sections 7-206(F)(3) and 
7-206-(J)(1)(g)(1) and (2). 
 
 
                                              7/3/2018 
_______________________________________     _____________ 
Kelly Sue Oglesby                               Date 
Arizona Certified Reporter No. 50178 
 
 

I CERTIFY that JD Reporting, Inc. has complied 
with the ethical obligations in ACJA Sections 
7-206(J)(1)(g)(1) and (6). 
 
 
                                              7/3/2018 
_______________________________________     _____________ 
JD REPORTING, INC.                              Date 
Arizona Registered Reporting Firm R1012 
 
 
  

JD REPORTING, INC. | 602.254.1345 | jdri@jdreporting.co

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

           Kelly Sue Oglesby









Te 7r
Beauchamp David

From
Beauchamp David

Sent
Tuesday February 04 2014 902 PM

To
Denny

Subject RE Attached Redline of Forbearance Agreement

Denny

Before we all get into room you and need to make sure that we have clear understanding of what you can do andwhat you cannot do without going back to all of your investors for approval We have deal that works for you and
your investors and is fair to Scott Now Jeff is trying to better the deal for Scott but you already have been more than
generous trying to help Scott out of Scotts problem Again this goes back to Jeff not acknowledging that this is Scotts
problem and instead insisting that this is your problem because you did not make sure that Scott handled the loans
properly and that you did not take the necessary actions so that DenSco had first lien on each of the properties As
Jeff said to me why did Denny do it this way pay Scott directly and why did DenSco not get title insurance if Dennywanted to be in first position Those are not questions to clarify point but rather to change the underlying
understanding of who created this problem Jeff is trying to have you think that you have significant responsibility for
creating this problem as opposed to this being created by Scotts cousin working for Scott Hopefully my poor attemptsto explain the difference in perspective are sufficient for you to understand it

Over the last ten years have prepared far in excess of 100 if not closer to 200 forbearance agreements for various
institutional and private lenders There are certain standard issues that have evolved over the yearsUNDERSTAND THAT AT YOUR REQUEST DID NOT INCLUDE ANY HARSH OR SIGNIFICANTLY PRO-LENDER
PROVISIONS Accordingly there is nothing included to give and trade over small issues already did not includethem These changes from Jeff are cutting muscle and bone that are needed to protect you

For example did you agree to NOT have Scott pay your attorneys fees If so that will be the first time that have ever
seen the legal fees for the preparation of Forbearance Agreement to not be paid by the Borrower

have also never seen forbearance not include cross-default provision to other obligations of the Borrower to the
lender

have also never seen some of the other changes that Jeff inserted For example the changes require you to defend
yourself against any other lender which has conflicting lien one of Scotts properties even though Scotts office
created this problem by having two lenders loan on the same property In forbearance the Borrower takes full

responsibility for the problems created and what needs to be done to resolve the problem Jeff is trying to make youfeel that you are guilty so you have to assume significant responsibility in the agreement to share in Scotts problembut nobody stole the money from you You can help and have helped Scott but you cannot OBLIGATE DenSco to further
help Scott because that would breach your fiduciary duty to your investors

Best David

David Beauchamp

CLARK HILL PLC

14850 Scottsdale Rd Suite 500 Phoenix Arizona 85254
480.684.1126 directI 480.684.1166 faxJ 602.319.5602 cell
dbeauchamDäcIarkhillm www.clarkhill.com

From Denny
Sent Tuesday February 04 2014 830 PM

D1C0006673



To Béauchamp David

Subject Re Attached Redline of Forbearance Agreement

This is degrading in to quagmire to which never would have imagined will talk to Scott and it looks like we will haveto get in room and beat this whole thing out

Sent from my iPad

On Feb 2014 at 727 PM Beauchamp David DBeauchamDClarkHill corn wrote

Den fly

cannot promise you that this redline captures all of the changes but it seems to have all of the changesthat have identified by comparing Jeffs version of the agreement to the version that sent

Please review this and let me know when you might have time to discuss these changes and what didyou discuss with Scott

With respect to the language concerning the first lien you and had discussed including that afterlooked at the mortgage document that contained that express obligation You had said to leave it inbut Jeff has taken that language out and only left in the delayed interest payment Unfortunately Jeffhas previously said that he could defeat any default claim based on no current interest paymentsbecause you had offered to defer interest when
this problem Again Jeff is

trying to take advantage of you because you are trying to help Scott Since Scott was only concernedabout referencing DenScos rights to first lien position due to potential litigation being filed by Dans
group against Scott that should no longer be an issue

Although have asked for this and we have discussed this several times we still do not have an actual
copy of any of the loan documents for any of the loans that you made to Scott that are the subject ofthis problem This is really important for many different reasons but key reason is the guarantee atthe bottom of the note that Scott signed

Best David

David Beauchamp

CLARK HILL PLC

14850 Scottsdale Rd Suite 500 Phoenix Arizona 85254
480.684.1126 direct 1480.684.1166 fax 1602.319.5602 cell
dbeaucharnDjcIarkjll www.cJarkifl corn

From phXcanoncolorcIarkhill corn Phxcanoncolorclarkh III camSent Tuesday February 04 2014 652 PM
To Schenck Daniel Beauchamp David
Subject Attached Image

LEGAL NOTICE This e-mail is for the exclusive use of the intended recipients and may containprivileged and confidential information If you are not an intended recipient please notify the senderdelete the e-mail from your computer and do not copy or disclose it to anyone else Your receipt of thismessage is not intended to waive any applicable privilege Neither this e-mail nor any attachmentsestablish an attorney-client relationship constitute an electronic signature or provide consent to contractelectronically unless expressly so stated by Clark Hill attorney in the body of this e-mail or anattachment
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FEDERAL TAX ADVICE DISCLAIMER Under Treasury Regulations we are informing you that tothe extent this message includes any federal tax advice this message is not intended or written by thesender to be used and cannot be used for the purpose of avoiding federal tax penalties

3640001 .pdf

D1C0006675

















































































































Beauchamp David

From Beauchamp David

Sent
Sunday February 09 2014 913 PM

To dcmoney@yahoo.com
Cc Beauchamp David

Subject Re Status

Denny

Your point is understood If possible please recognize and understand that you will use the document even if you and
Scott never refer to it again It has to have the necessary and essential terms to protect you from potential litigation
from investors and third parties

Best David

David Beauchamp
CLARK HILL PLC

14850 Scottsdale Rd Suite 500 Phoenix Arizona 85254
480.684.1126 direct 480.684.1166 fax 602.319.5602 cell

dbeauchamp@clarkhillcom www.clarkhill.com

From Denny Chittick

Sent Sunday February 09 2014 0905 PM
To Beauchamp David

Subject Re Status

trust that we are in balance and have even more confidence that
scott andi can solve this problem with out issue and we never have
to use the document that weve worked so long on getting
completed

DenSco Investment Corp
www.denscoinvestment corn

602-469-3001

602-532-7737

From Beauchamp David DBeauchamp@ClarkHjII corn
To dcmoneyyahoo.com dcmoney@yahoo.com
Cc Beauchamp David DBeauchamp@CJarkHiJl corn

D1C0006707



Sent sunday February 2014 856 PM
Subject Re Status

Denny

Please understand that you are limited in what risk or liability you can assume Your fiduciary duty toyour investors makes this difficult balancing act

All the best David

David Beauchamp
CLARK HILL PLC
14850 Scottsdale Rd Suite 500 Phoenix Arizona 85254
480.684.1126 direct 1480.684.1166 fax 1602.319.5602 cell
dbeaucharnp@clarkhill corn www.clarkhijl.com

From Denny Chittick
corn

Sent Sunday February 09 2014 0845 PM
To Beauchamp David

Subject Re Status

hope that we can get it resolved without leavinga huge
liability or risk on the table thats all scott said
dc

DenSco Investment Corp
www.densco investment corn

602-469-3001

602-532-7737

From Beauchamp David DBeaucharnp@ClarkHijf cornTo dcmoneyyahoo.corn dcmoneyyahoo cornCc Beauchamp David DBeaucharnp@ClarkHijj corn
Sent Sunday February 2014 843 PM
Subject Re Status

Denny

How can we be finally making progress when my litigation partner said gave away the storeOther than the business points that Jeff tried to change do not see what else we can give upin the Agreement

Did Scott share any other information

Best David

D1C0006708



DavidG Beauchamp
CLARK HILL PLC
14850 Scottsdale Rd Suite 500 Phoenix Arizona 85254
480.684.1126 direct 1480.684.1166 fax 1602.319.5602 cell
dbeauchamp@clarkhilj.com www.clarkhill corn

From Denny Chittick
corn

Sent Sunday February 09 2014 0834 PM
To Beauchamp David

Subject Re Status

heard from scott jeff read it all scott said was jeff said
now we are making progress

scott has meeting with jeff tomrorow morning

thought that was good
dc

DenSco Investment Corp
www denscoinvestrnent corn

602-469-3001

602-532-7737

From Beauchamp David DBeauchamp@ClarkHill cornTo dcrnoney@yahoo.com dcrnoneyyahoo.com
Cc Beauchamp David DBeaucharnp@ClarkH ill corn
Sent Sunday February 2014 828 PM
Subject Status

Denny

Anything happen this weekend

Best David

David Beauchamp
CLARK HILL PLC
14850 Scottsdale Rd Suite 500 Phoenix Arizona 85254
480.684.1126 direct 1480.684.1166 fax 1602.319.5602 cell
dbeauchanipcIarkhiJI corn www.clarkhjllcorn
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LEGAL NOTICE This e-mail is for the exclusive use of the intended
recipients and may contain privileged and confidential information If you are
not an intended recipient please notify the sender delete the e-mail from your
computer and do not copy or disclose it to anyone else Your receipt of this

message is not intended to waive any applicable privilege Neither this e-mail
nor any attachments establish an attorney-client relationship constitute an
electronic signature or provide consent to contract electronically unless
expressly so stated by Clark Hill attorney in the body of this e-mail or an
attachment

FEDERAL TAX ADVICE DISCLAIMER Under Treasury Regulations we
are informing you that to the extent this message includes any federal tax
advice this message is not intended or written by the sender to be used and
cannot be used for the purpose of avoiding federal tax penalties

LEGAL NOTICE This e-mail is for the exclusive use of the intended recipients and may contain
privileged and confidential information If you are not an intended recipient please notify the senderdelete the e-mail from your computer and do not copy or disclose it to anyone else Your receipt of this
message is not intended to waive any applicable privilege Neither this e-mail nor any attachmentsestablish an attorney-client relationship constute-a erontc signature or provtdeonserit to contract
electronically unless expressly so stated by Clark Hill attorney in the body of this e-mail or an
attachment

FEDERAL TAX ADVICE DISCLAIMER Under Treasury Regulations we are informing you that tothe extent this message includes any federal tax advice this message is not intended or written by thesender to be used and cannot be used for the purpose of avoiding federal tax penalties

LEGAL NOTICE This e-mail is for the exclusive use of the intended recipients and may contain privileged andconfidential information If you are not an intended recipient please notify the sender delete the e-mail from yourcomputer and do not copy or disclose it to anyone else Your receipt of this message is not intended to waive
any applicable privilege Neither this e-mail nor any attachments establish an attorney-client relationshipconstitute an electronic signature or provide consent to contract electronically unless expressly so stated byClark Hill attorney in the body of this e-mail or an attachment

FEDERAL TAX ADVICE DISCLAIMER Under Treasury Regulations we are informing you that to theextent this message includes any federal tax advice this message is not intended or written by the sender to beused and cannot be used for the purpose of avoiding federal tax penalties
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF ARIZONA 
 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF MARICOPA 
 
Peter S. Davis, as Receiver of )
DenSco Investment Corporation, )
an Arizona corporation, )
                             )
          Plaintiff,  )
 )
      vs.                          )  NO. CV2017-013832 
 )
Clark Hill PLC, a Michigan )
limited liability company; )
David G. Beauchamp and Jane Doe )
Beauchamp, Husband and Wife,  )
 )
          Defendants.  )
___________________________________) 
 
 
 

VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF SCOTT RHODES 
 

Phoenix, Arizona 
May 15, 2019 
9:05 a.m. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
REPORTED BY: 
KELLY SUE OGLESBY, RPR 
Arizona CR No. 50178 
Registered Reporting Firm R1012 
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SCOTT RHODES, 5/15/2019                                   

had committed a securities violation, and it was paramount 

that we get the disclosure statement out in writing to all 

of the investors as quickly as possible.  His 

representations that he had advised everybody and told 

them to the contrary, we needed something more formal than 

that. 

A. Correct.

Q. You agree with Mr. Beauchamp that at that point

in time, Mr. Beauchamp believed there was a securities

violation?

A. Well, certainly that's what he said, and there

is no reason to question his professional judgment about

that call.

Q. Right.

A. Up until that time before, I -- there was a

question as to whether the written POM and then of course

there might have been oral disclosures made, but it

appears at this point in April, early May, Mr. Beauchamp

is concluding that there had been either no oral

disclosures or inadequate oral disclosures.

Q. And in the situation or circumstance when your

client is committing an ongoing fraud, securities fraud,

or a crime, there is a mandatory duty to withdraw.  True?

A. Yes, I think that at this point the withdrawal

was mandatory.
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SCOTT RHODES, 5/15/2019                                   

BE IT KNOWN that the foregoing proceeding was 
taken before me; that the witness before testifying was 
duly sworn by me to testify to the whole truth; that the 
questions propounded to the witness and the answers of the 
witness thereto were taken down by me in shorthand and 
thereafter reduced to typewriting under my direction; that 
the foregoing is a true and correct transcript of all 
proceedings had upon the taking of said deposition, all 
done to the best of my skill and ability. 

 
I CERTIFY that I am in no way related to any of 

the parties hereto nor am I in any way interested in the 
outcome hereof. 
 
 

[X]  Review and signature was requested. 
[ ]  Review and signature was waived. 
[ ]  Review and signature was not requested. 

 
 

I CERTIFY that I have complied with the ethical 
obligations in ACJA Sections 7-206(F)(3) and 
7-206-(J)(1)(g)(1) and (2). 
 
 
                                              5/24/2019 
_______________________________________     _____________ 
Kelly Sue Oglesby                               Date 
Arizona Certified Reporter No. 50178 
 
 

I CERTIFY that JD Reporting, Inc. has complied 
with the ethical obligations in ACJA Sections 
7-206(J)(1)(g)(1) and (6). 
 
 
                                              5/24/2019 
_______________________________________     _____________ 
JD REPORTING, INC.                              Date 
Arizona Registered Reporting Firm R1012 
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Geoffrey M. T. Sturr
O S B O R N 

M A L E D O N
gsturr@omlaw.com Direct Line 602.640.9377

2929 North Central Avenue 
21st Floor
Phoenix, Arizona 85012

Telephone
Facsimile
omlaw.com

602.640.9000
602.640.9050A PROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATION 

ATTORNEYS AT LAW

January 17, 2018

Via U.S. & Electronic Mail

John E. DeWulf, Esq.
Coppersmith Brockelman PEC 
2800 N. Central Avenue, Suite 1900 
Phoenix, AZ 85004

Re: Davis V. Clark Hill, et ak, CV2017-013832 
Calculation of Prejudgment Interest

Dear John:

As you know, the Receiver’s complaint requests, as an element of damages, prejudgment 
interest. Rule 68, regarding offers of judgment, also provides as a sanction for not doing better 
than the offer of judgment, prejudgment interest on both liquidated and unliquidated claims.

Prejudgment interest is sought on three different types of loans that were outstanding on 
Denny Chittick’s death, as summarized in the Receiver’s December 23, 2016 report: (i) a $5 
million workout loan made to Scott Menaged as part of the Forbearance Agreement; (ii) a $1 
million workout loan made to Menaged as part of the Forbearance Agreement; and (in) non­
workout loans that DenSco made to Menaged after DenSco learned of Menaged’s fraud in 
November 2013. As alleged in the complaint, the losses DenSco suffered on those loans were 
the proximate result of Clark Hill’s conduct. Prejudgment interest is also sought on Clark Hill 
legal fees paid by DenSco.

The purpose of this letter is to provide Clark Hill with information to assess its exposure 
for prejudgment interest.

1. $5 million “workout loan” to Menaged

Under the Forbearance Agreement that Clark Hill drafted and advised DenSco to sign, 
DenSco agreed to loan Menaged up to $5 million for use in connection with the sale or 
refinancing of any property listed in Exhibit A to the Agreement. The principal balance of that 
loan as of December 23, 2016 was $13,336,807.24. See Receiver’s Report, December 23, 2016, 
at page 9. We enclose, as Appendix A, a schedule showing how that balance was calculated. 
The schedule reflects that Menaged drew on this loan as early as February 2014, and made a last

mailto:gsturr@omlaw.com
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draw on August 18, 2015. As of October 5, 2015, the principal balance of the line of credit was 
$13,656,807.24, and remained at this amount until Chittick’s death in July 2016.

The rate of prejudgment interest in this case is 10%. A.R.S. § 44-1201(A), (F). Thus, a 
yearly calculation of prejudgment interest on DenSco’s $13,656,807.24 loss is $1,365,680.72.

2. $1 million “workout loan” to Menaged

The Forbearance Agreement also obligated DenSco to make a “new loan” to Menaged of 
up to $1 million as part of the “workout” that Clark Hill blessed and documented. The principal 
balance of that loan as of December 23, 2016 was $1,002,532.55. See Receiver’s Report, 
December 23, 2016, at page 9. We enclose, as Appendix B, a schedule showing how that 
balance was calculated. The schedule reflects that Menaged drew on this loan as early as 
December 13, 2013 and last drew on this loan on April 30, 2014, when the principal balance was 
$1,002,532.55. It remained at that amount until Chittick’s July 2016 death.

A yearly calculation of prejudgment interest on DenSco’s $1,002,532.55 loss is
$100,253.25.

3. Non-workout loans

As set forth in the Receiver’s December 23, 2016 report (at page 10), as of August 2016, 
when the Receiver was appointed, DenSco suffered losses of at least $28,332,300 because of 
loans made to Menaged outside of the “work out” loans contemplated by the Forbearance 
Agreement that were not secured. We enclose, as Appendix C, a schedule showing how that 
amount was calculated.

A yearly calculation of prejudgment interest on DenSco’s $28,332,300.00 loss is
$2,833,230.00.

4. Payments to Clark Hill for Attorneys’ Fees

As of June 24, 2016, Clark Hill received payment from DenSco for legal fees in the 
amount of $163,702.45. The Receiver seeks in the complaint the return of all those fees on the 
grounds that they were received after Clark Hill had committed a serious breach of fiduciary 
duty. The last fee payment was on June 24, 2016.

A yearly calculation of prejudgment interest on the Receiver’s attorney fee disgorgement 
claim is $16,370.25.

5. Conclusion

The date on which prejudgment interest began accruing will be decided by the Court. We 
submit that the Court could conclude that prejudgment interest began accruing on the loan losses 
as early as the date the Forbearance Agreement was signed in April 2014. Alternatively, the
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Court could conclude that prejudgment interest on the loan losses began accruing in August 
2016, when Clark Hill received Chittick’s pre-suicide writings that blamed Clark Hill for those 
losses. Clark Hill received a second notice of its exposure for prejudgment interest on the loan 
losses when the Receiver issued his December 23, 2016 report. At the latest, prejudgment 
interest has been accruing since October 17, 2017, when Clark Hill received a copy of the 
Complaint.

Clark Hill’s exposure for prejudgment interest is significant. As set forth above, Clark 
Hill faces yearly prejudgment interest of $4,315,534.22 that has been accruing and will continue 
to accrue to the date a judgment is satisfied. The Receiver reserves the right to revise or 
otherwise adjust that number as information acquired through disclosure and discovery is 
analyzed. The Receiver nevertheless assumes that Clark Hill possesses adequate information to 
assess its exposure for prejudgment interest.

Yours very truly,

MA'
Geoffrey M. T. Sturr

GMTS:dh
Enclosures

Colin F. Campbell, Esq.cc:
7433114
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Simon Consulting, LLC
Arizona Corporation Commission v. DenSco Investment Corporation

DenSco Investment Corporation
$5 Million Workout Loan - As of 07/28/16 (Date of Denny Chittick's Death)

Loan AmountCity, ZipLoan Date Loan No. Property Address
100,000.00

(100,000.00)
95.864.00 
79,380.98
41.382.56
79.252.00
88.896.00 
69,082.27 
67,353.16
78.538.63
68.127.63 
63,861.07 
92,372.15

181,653.80
(1,715.65)

112,625.27
38,414.70
63,544.61

120,000.00
18,235.26

170.000. 00
14.619.56 
20,000.00 
60,000.00

3,805.73
21.082.34
27.783.84
37.589.85 

184,645.10
25,930.11

120.000. 00 
35,000.00 
21,468.83

170.000. 00 
(4,182.39) 
4,547.94

131,720.03
110.000. 00 
32,360.22

120,000.00
7,794.45

190.000. 00
39.258.34 

107,140.72
93.442.35 
56,530.13

100.000. 00 
368.83

200,000.00
1,651.22

02/28/14 Workout Pay Gregg's Interest
Principal Payment 
2105 S 108th Ave

03/05/14
03/07/14
03/07/14
03/07/14
03/07/14
03/07/14
03/07/14
03/07/14
03/10/14
03/14/14
03/14/14
03/14/14
03/21/14
03/26/14
03/28/14
03/31/14
03/31/14
04/04/14
04/04/14
04/04/14
04/04/14
04/10/14
04/14/14
04/14/14
04/14/14
04/14/14
04/14/14
04/21/14
04/24/14
04/25/14
04/25/14
04/25/14
04/28/14
04/28/14
04/28/14
04/30/14
05/02/14
05/02/14
05/09/14
05/09/14
05/12/14
05/12/14
05/12/14
05/12/14
05/13/14
05/15/14
05/15/14
05/16/14
05/16/14

Workout
4505 Avondale, AZ 85323 

Tolleson, AZ 85353 
Mesa, AZ 85210 
Surprise, AZ 85379 
Laveen, AZ 85339 
Glendale, AZ 85306 
Buckeye, AZ 85326 
Glendale, AZ 85308 
Buckeye, AZ 85326 
Waddell, AZ 85355 
Buckeye, AZ 85326 
Phoenix, AZ 85044

4554 2027 S 101st Dr 
1942 S Emerson #252 
14869 W Caribbean Ln 
4119 W Valley View Dr 
4906 W Gelding Dr 
1697 S 233rd Ln 
4119 W Grovers Ave 
1040 S 220th Ln 
18146 W Puget Ave 
23846 W Gibson Ln 
15456 S 47th Place 
Principal Payment 
6024 E Wethersfield Rd 
13920 W Maui Ln 
1820 S 106th Ln 
25852 S Beech Creek dr 
25852 S Beech Creek dr 
707 E Potter Dr 
707 E Potter Dr 
16739 W Navajo St 
4745 W Golden Ln 
4745 W Golden Ln 
3154 W Via Montoya Dr 
635 S St Paul 
9832 E Olla Ave 
1427 W Windsorig Dr 
14904 W Port Royale Ln 
320 S 70th St #9 
320 S 70th St #9 
320 S 70th St #9 
7089 W Andrew Ln 
7089 W Andrew Ln 
7089 W Andrew Ln 
4705 N Brookview Terrace 
19296 W Adams St 
19296 W Adams St 
23851 WWier Ave 
23851 W Wier Ave 
18131 W Ruth Ave 
18131 W Ruth Ave 
17661 W Marconi Ave 
14365 W Verde Ln 
12602 N 60th St 
9423 W McRae Way 
9423 W McRae Way 
2210 S Keene St 
2210 S Keene St

4607
4645
4652
4656
4711
4690
4578
4644
4671
4503

Workout
4446 Scottsdale, AZ 85254 

Surprise, AZ 85379 
Tolleson, AZ 85353 
Sun Lakes, AZ 85248 
Sun Lakes, AZ 85248 
Phoenix, AZ 85024 
Phoenix, AZ 85024 
Goodyear, AZ 85338 
Glendale, AZ 85302 
Glendale, AZ 85302 
Phoenix, AZ 85027 
Mesa, AZ 85206 
Mesa, AZ 85212 
Phoenix, AZ 85045 
Surprise, AZ 85379 
Mesa, AZ 85208 
Mesa, AZ 85208 
Mesa, AZ 85208 
Peoria, AZ 85383 
Peoria, AZ 85383 
Peoria, AZ 85383 
Litchfield, AZ 85340 
Buckeye, AZ 85326 
Buckeye, AZ 85326 
Buckeye, AZ 85326 
Buckeye, AZ 85326 
Waddell, AZ 85355 
Waddell, AZ 85355 
Surprise, AZ 85388 
Goodyear, AZ 85338 
Scottsdale, AZ 85254 
Peoria, AZ 85382 
Peoria, AZ 85382 
Mesa, AZ 85209 
Mesa, AZ 85209

4483
4722
4431
4431
4604
4604
4589
4287
4287
4585
4665
4688
4459
4611
3926
3926
3926
4180
4180
4180
4636
4313
4313
4519
4519
4152
4152
4689
4703
4669
4383
4383
4434
4434
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Simon Consulting, LLC
Arizona Corporation Commission v. DenSco Investment Corporation

DenSco Investment Corporation
$5 Million Workout Loan - As of 07/28/16 (Date of Denny Chittick's Death)

Loan AmountLoan Date Loan No. Property Address City, Zip
Phoenix, AZ 85032 
Gilbert, AZ 85296 
Gilbert, AZ 85296 
Phoenix, AZ 85043 
Phoenix, AZ 85043 

15550 N Frank Lloyd Wright #1005 Scottsdale, AZ 85260
Tempo, AZ 85283 
Tempe, AZ 85283 
Gilbert, AZ 85298 
Gilbert, AZ 85298 
Phoenix, AZ 85048 
Surprise, AZ 85375 
Surprise, AZ 85375 
Surprise, AZ 85379 
Surprise, AZ 85379 
Phoenix, AZ 85027 
Fountain Hills, AZ 85268 
Surprise, AZ 85388 
Surprise, AZ 85388 
Glendale, AZ 85308 
Mesa, AZ 85209 
Mesa, AZ 85209 
Scottsdale, AZ 85255 
Scottsdale, AZ 85255

198,683.57
140.000. 00

12.676.24
90.000. 00
59.347.52 

176,884.68
170.000. 00 

2,053.55
240.000. 00 
28,487.82
96.956.75

140.000. 00
27.152.96

120.000. 00
35.887.76 
67,811.64

191,311.29
100.000. 00 

6,475.40
73.946.52 

160,000.00
10,543.58

250.000. 00 
98,873.28 
(5,988.38) 
40,000.00

130.000. 00
29.014.25
65.501.97

150.000. 00 
45,997.87

6,173.44
110.000. 00 
26,196.70 
24,182.08

120,000.00
19,039.20

(21,324.12)
84.030.98 
(7,977.69)

120,421.77
(23,088.43)
244,822.86
(78,786.68)
68,759.48

230,000.00
83,002.32
89,534.80

(24,052.70)
90,794.60

12602 N 60th St05/16/14
05/22/14
05/22/14
05/30/14
05/30/14
06/02/14
06/09/14
06/09/14
06/11/14
06/11/14
06/20/14
06/27/14
06/27/14
06/30/14
06/30/14
06/30/14
07/14/14
07/17/14
07/17/14
07/18/14
07/22/14
07/22/14
07/31/14
07/31/14
07/31/14
08/06/14
08/11/14
08/11/14
08/15/14
08/19/14
08/19/14
08/19/14
08/20/14
08/20/14
08/20/14
08/21/14
08/21/14
08/22/14
08/26/14
08/27/14
08/29/14
08/29/14
09/02/14
09/04/14
09/05/14
09/09/14
09/09/14
09/09/14
09/11/14
09/12/14

4618
2182 E Arabian Dr 
2182 E Arabian Dr 
7204 W Warner St 
7204 W Warner St

4386
4386
3927
3927
4546

5414 S Heather Dr4430
5414 S Heather Dr
2968 E Lynx Way
2968 E Lynx Way
17016 S 27th Place
17540 N Estrella Vista Dr
17540 N Estrella Vista Dr
14556 N 154th Ln
14556 N 154th Ln
1750 W Potter Dr
15143 E Aspen Dr
16527 W Post Dr
16527 W Post Dr
3740 W Villa Theresa Dr
2733 S Ananea St
2733 S Ananea St
20802 N Grayhawk Dr #1076
20802 N Grayhawk Dr #1076
Principal Payment
31008 W Columbus Ave
13512 W Marshall Ave
13512 W Marshall Ave
22261 W Moonlight Path
4529 E Sharon Dr
4529 E Sharon Dr
4529 E Sharon Dr
9451 E Becker Ln #B1057
9451 E Becker Ln #B1057
9451 E Becker Ln #B1057
1080 E Redwood Dr
1080 E Redwood Dr
Principal Payment
842 E Sheffield Ave
Principal Payment
3237 W Pleasant Ln
Principal Payment
5335 S Monte Vista St
Principal Payment
5916 W Fetlock TrI
5357 S Ranger Trail
5357 S Ranger Trail
5357 S Ranger Trail
Principal Payment
25209 S Saddletree Dr

4430
4397
4397
4544
4417
4417
4136
4136
4530
4624
4495
4495
4619
4454
4454
3610
3610

Workout
Buckeye, AZ 85326 
Litchfield, AZ 85340 
Litchfield, AZ 85340 
Buckeye, AZ 85326 
Phoenix, AZ 85032 
Phoenix, AZ 85032 
Phoenix, AZ 85032 
Scottsdale, AZ 85260 
Scottsdale, AZ 85260 
Scottsdale, AZ 85260 
Chandler, AZ 85286 
Chandler, AZ 85286

4541
4481
4481
4061
4003
4003
4003
3933
3933
3933
3975
3975

Workout
Gilbert, AZ 852964643

Workout
4381

Workout
4411

Workout
4732

Phoenix, AZ 85041

Chandler, AZ 85249

Phoenix, AZ 85085 
Gilbert, AZ 85296 
Gilbert, AZ 85296 
Gilbert, AZ 85296

4077
4077
4077

Workout
Sun Lakes, AZ 852484393

Page 2 of 5



Simon Consulting, LLC
Arizona Corporation Commission v. DenSco Investment Corporation

DenSco Investment Corporation
$5 Million Workout Loan - As of 07/28/16 (Date of Denny Chittick's Death)

Loan AmountCity, ZipLoan Date Loan No. Property Address
(16,173.61)
100,000.00
27.343.88 

220,000.00
48,302.06

(13,530.08)
150.000. 00
40.000. 00 
41,382.45 

(21,865.60) 
(12,657.65) 
144,173.16 
(83,424.68) 
(31,032.87) 
(31,141.49)
120.000. 00 
39,258.48 

(46,170.85)
80.000. 00
30.000. 00

4.251.94 
(45,740.42)
150.000. 00
45.000. 00
21.171.88 

(70,506.79) 
(45,105.06) 
(70,262.92)
210.000. 00 

48,679.35 
40,580.05 

(23,130.04) 
(15,191.31)

(9,595.56)
100.000. 00 
47,909.82

200,000.00
92,084.39
33,524.54

140.000. 00 
70,971.79
6,135.67

130.000. 00 
45,000.00

76.68
100.000. 00
48.280.94 
11,276.45

110,000.00
38,065.50

Workout Principal Payment09/12/14
7389 W Tierra Buena Ln Peoria, AZ 85382 

Peoria, AZ 85382 
Chandler, AZ 85226 
Chandler, AZ 85226

09/19/14
09/19/14
09/23/14
09/23/14
09/24/14
09/26/14
09/26/14
09/26/14
09/26/14
09/29/14
10/02/14
10/03/14
10/10/14
10/17/14
10/24/14
10/24/14
10/24/14
10/30/14
10/30/14
10/30/14
10/31/14
11/07/14
11/07/14
11/07/14
11/07/14
11/15/14
11/21/14
11/24/14
11/24/14
12/03/14
12/03/14
12/12/14
12/19/14
12/22/14
12/22/14
12/24/14
12/24/14
12/24/14
12/31/14
12/31/14
12/31/14
01/02/15
01/02/15
01/02/15
01/02/15
01/02/15
01/02/15
01/08/15
01/08/15

4228
7389 W Tierra Buena Ln 
311 N Kenneth PI 
311 N Kenneth PI 
Principal Payment 
18356 W Mission Ln 
18356 W Mission Ln 
18356 W Mission Ln 
Principal Payment 
Principal Payment 
3326 E Oriole Dr 
Principal Payment 
Principal Payment 
Principal Payment 
10721 WLaurelwood Ln 
10721 WLaurelwood Ln 
Principal Payment 
12802 W Willow Ave 
12802 W Willow Ave 
12802 W Willow Ave 
Principal Payment 
10769 W Runion Dr 
10769 W Runion Dr 
10769 W Runion Dr 
Principal Payment 
Principal Payment 
Principal Payment 
1431 E Bridgeport Pkwy 
1431 E Bridgeport Pkwy 
10440 W Hammond Ln 
Principal Payment 
Principal Payment 
Principal Payment 
2210 W Marco Polo Rd 
2210 W Marco Polo Rd 
2402 E Yucca St 
2402 E Yucca St 
2402 E Yucca St 
1892 E Ellis Dr 
1892 E Ellis Dr 
1892 E Ellis Dr 
11106 W Dana Ln 
11106 W Dana Ln 
11106 W Dana Ln 
11571 WHopi St 
11571 WHopi St 
11571 WHopi St 
2216 W Plata Cir 
2216 W Plata Cir

4228
3997
3997

Workout
3987
3987
3987

Workout
Workout

4409
Workout
Workout
Workout

3882
3882

Workout

Waddell, AZ 85355 
Waddell, AZ 85355 
Waddell, AZ 85355

Gilbert, AZ 85297

Avondale, AZ 85323 
Avondale, AZ 85323

El Mirage, AZ 85335 
El Mirage, AZ 85335 
El Mirage, AZ 85335

4020
4020
4020

Workout
Sun City, AZ 85373 
Sun City, AZ 85373 
Sun City, AZ 85373

4627
4627
4627

Workout
Workout
Workout

4122
4122
4482

Workout
Workout
Workout

Gilbert, AZ 85295 
Gilbert, AZ 85295 
Tolleson, AZ 85353

Phoenix, AZ 85027 
Phoenix, AZ 85027 
Phoenix, AZ 85028 
Phoenix, AZ 85028 
Phoenix, AZ 85028 
Tempe, AZ 85282 
Tempe, AZ 85282 
Tempe, AZ 85282 
Avondale, AZ 85323 
Avondale, AZ 85323 
Avondale, AZ 85323 
Avondale, AZ 85323 
Avondale, AZ 85323 
Avondale, AZ 85323 
Mesa, AZ 85202 
Mesa, AZ 85202

4129
4129
3976
3976
3976
3913
3913
3913
4027
4027
4027
4034
4034
4034
4501
4501
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Simon Consulting, LLC
Arizona Corporation Commission v. DenSco Investment Corporation

DenSco Investment Corporation
$5 Million Workout Loan - As of 07/28/16 (Date of Denny Chittick's Death)

Loan AmountCity, ZipLoan Date Loan No. Property Address
13,299.35
82,187.05
80,000.00
27,110.31

100,000.00
35,000.00
22.074.26 

100,000.00
32.146.84

150.000. 00
44.051.84 

5,964.96
200.000. 00

32.778.52 
160,000.00
69,213.96
21,933.38

120,000.00
3,078.09

120,000.00
40.000. 00 

8,624.70
120,000.00

4,096.29
48,537.08

100,000.00
32.332.52

140.000. 00 
51,882.91
80.000. 00 
7,917.44

87,823.21
100.000. 00 
40,000.00
12.879.27

130.000. 00 
68,254.24 
26,707.15 
92,551.37 
79,053.14 
92,956.23

120.000. 00 
46,867.99

4,828.34
99,262.30

(86,000.00)
120,000.00
70.000. 00 
28,296.67
60.000. 00

2216 W Plata Cir Mesa, AZ 85202 
Glendale, AZ 85303

01/08/15 4501
7703 W Lamar Rd
15677 W Ripple Cir
15677 W Ripple Cir
3150 E Beardsley Rd #1076
3150 E Beardsley Rd #1076
3150 E Beardsley Rd #1076
11744 W Hadley St
11744 W Hadley St
3740 E Sexton St
3740 E Sexton St
3740 E Sexton St
1561 E Mia Ln
1561 E Mia Ln
9016 S 41st Ln
9016 S 41st Ln
9016 S 41st Ln
114 E Valley View Dr
114 E Valley View Dr
7575 E Indian Bend Rd #2123
7575 E Indian Bend Rd #2123
7575 E Indian Bend Rd #2123
9521 E Posada Ave
9521 E Posada Ave
23949 W Hadley St
3154 W Foothill Dr
3154 W Foothill Dr
436 N 159th Ave
436 N 159th Ave
3354 W Monona Dr
3354 W Monona Dr
6346 W Valencia Dr
3333 W Apollo Rd
3333 W Apollo Rd
3333 W Apollo Rd
12827 W Desert Mirage Dr
12827 W Desert Mirage Dr
12827 W Desert Mirage Dr
8224 S 74th Ave
11530 W Flores Dr
8742 W Pioneer St
7771 W Marlette Ave
7771 W Marlette Ave
7771 W Marlette Ave
839 S Chatsworth Cir
Principal Payment
1500 N Markdale #1
1500 N Markdale #1
1500 N Markdale#!
6332 W Sonora St

01/30/15
02/06/15
02/06/15
02/20/15
02/20/15
02/20/15
02/24/15
02/24/15
03/02/15
03/02/15
03/02/15
03/05/15
03/05/15
03/12/15
03/12/15
03/12/15
03/16/15
03/16/15
03/26/15
03/26/15
03/26/15
04/01/15
04/01/15
04/08/15
04/15/15
04/15/15
05/01/15
05/01/15
05/15/15
05/15/15
05/27/15
05/28/15
05/28/15
05/28/15
05/29/15
05/29/15
05/29/15
05/29/15
05/29/15
06/01/15
06/02/15
06/02/15
06/02/15
06/10/15
06/17/15
06/26/15
06/26/15
06/26/15
06/26/15

4289
Goodyear, AZ 85338 
Goodyear, AZ 85338 
Phoenix, AZ 85050 
Phoenix, AZ 85050 
Phoenix, AZ 85050 
Avondale, AZ 85323 
Avondale, AZ 85323 
Gilbert, AZ 85295 
Gilbert, AZ 85295 
Gilbert, AZ 85295 
Gilbert, AZ 85298 
Gilbert, AZ 85298 
Laveen, AZ 85339 
Laveen, AZ 85339 
Laveen, AZ 85339 
Phoenix, AZ 85042 
Phoenix, AZ 85042 
Scottsdale, AZ 85250 
Scottsdale, AZ 85250 
Scottsdale, AZ 85250 
Mesa, AZ 85212 
Mesa, AZ 85212 
Buckeye, AZ 85326 
Phoenix, AZ 85027 
Phoenix, AZ 85027 
Goodyear, AZ 85338 
Goodyear, AZ 85338 
Phoenix, AZ 85027 
Phoenix, AZ 85027 
Laveen, AZ 85339 
Phoenix, AZ 85041 
Phoenix, AZ 85041 
Phoenix, AZ 85041 
Peoria, AZ 85383 
Peoria, AZ 85383 
Peoria, AZ 85383 
Laveen, AZ 85339 
El Mirage, AZ 85335 
Tolleson, AZ 85353 
Glendale, AZ 85303 
Glendale, AZ 85303 
Glendale, AZ 85303 
Mesa, AZ 85208

4227
4227
4038
4038
4038
4342
4342
3914
3914
3914
4509
4509
3994
3994
3994
4625
4625
4004
4004
4004
4410
4410
4035
4352
4352
4229
4229
4322
4322
4438
4069
4069
4069
4109
4109
4109
4422
4508
4637
3977
3977
3977
4540

Workout
3957 Mesa, AZ 85201 

Mesa, AZ 85201 
Mesa, AZ 85201 
Phoenix, AZ 85043

3957
3957
4116
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Simon Consulting, LLC
Arizona Corporation Commission v. DenSco Investment Corporation

DenSco Investment Corporation
$5 Million Workout Loan - As of 07/28/16 (Date of Denny Chittick's Death)

Loan AmountCity, ZipLoan Date Loan No. Property Address
Phoenix, AZ 85043 
Phoenix, AZ 85024 
Phoenix, AZ 85024 
Chandler, AZ 85286 
Chandler, AZ 85286 
Chandler, AZ 85286 
Chandler, AZ 85286 
Chandler, AZ 85286 
Tolleson, AZ 85353 
Glendale, AZ 85304 
Glendale, AZ 85304 
Buckeye, AZ 85326 
Buckeye, AZ 85326 
Buckeye, AZ 85326 
Mesa, AZ 85204 
Mesa, AZ 85204

33,689.72
130.000. 00 
62,670.91

230.000. 00 
103,078.80

2,820.14
7,179.86

24,977.14
82,401.40

100.000. 00 
19,606.50

110,000.00
40.000. 00 

8,056.39
90.000. 00 
30,104.35 

(80,000.00)
(100,000.00)

(2.400.00) 
(100,000.00)

(1.800.00) 
(100,000.00)

(50,000.00)

06/26/15 4116 6332 W Sonora St
06/30/15
06/30/15
07/15/15
07/15/15
07/15/15
07/15/15
07/15/15
07/16/15
07/30/15
07/30/15
08/11/15
08/11/15
08/11/15
08/18/15
08/18/15
09/08/15
09/14/15
09/17/15
09/21/15
09/21/15
09/28/15
10/05/15

4308 711 E Potter Dr 
711 E Potter Dr 
2367 E Balsam Dr 
2367 E Balsam Dr 
2367 E Balsam Dr 
2367 E Balsam Dr 
2367 E Balsam Dr 
10025 W Williams St 
5420 W Sunnyside Dr 
5420 W Sunnyside Dr 
23827 W Gibson Ln 
23827 W Gibson Ln 
23827 W Gibson Ln 
2360 E Carmel Ave 
2360 E Carmel Ave 
Principal Payment 
Principal Payment 
Principal Payment 
Principal Payment 
Principal Payment 
Principal Payment 
Principal Payment

4308
3998
3998
3998
3998
3998
4500
3959
3959
4343
4343
4343
4093
4093

Workout
Workout
Workout
Workout
Workout
Workout
Workout

13,656,807.24

Transactions Excluded from Calculation:
38.224.00
30.266.00
11.510.00 

(400,000.00)
(320,000.00)

13,336,807.24
13,336,807.24

Clark Hill, PLC 
Clark Hill, PLC 
Clark Hill, PLC
Interest income reallocated to principal

Workout
Workout
Workout
Workout

03/06/14
04/15/14
05/15/14
12/31/15

Subtotal; 
Adjusted Total: 

$5 Million Workout Loan Balance Per QB:
Difference:
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Simon Consulting, LLC
Arizona Corporation Commission v. DenSco Investment Corporation

DenSco Investment Corporation
$I Million Workout Loan - As of 07/28/16 (Date of Denny Chittick's Death)

Loan AmountCity, ZipLoan Date Loan No. Property Address
12/13/13 
12/27/13 
01/02/14 
01/02/14 
01/15/14 
01/16/14 
01/16/14 
01/16/14 
01/17/14 
01/17/14 
01/17/14 
01/17/14 
04/29/14 
04/30/14

11509 E Pratt Ave Mesa, 85212 
Phoenix, 85050 
Gilbert, 85295 
Scottsdale, 85254 
Chandler, 85225 
Surprise, 85388 
Glendale, 85308 
Buckeye, 85326 
Avondale, 85323 
Buckeye, 85326 
Surprise, 85379 
Mesa, 85212 
Gilbert, 85295 
Peoria, 85345

90,000.00
59,332.07

121,866.92
149,641.24
57,589.04
66.798.72 
57,724.34 
51,057.68
54.718.72 
44,801.81 
62,346.80 
99,290.55 
34,836.09 
52,528.57

4584
3150 E Beardsley Rd #1030 
1262 E Clifton Ave 
12614 N 62nd Street 
516 W Dublin St 
16010 N 170th Ln 
18425 N 56th Lane 
23687 W Wayland Dr 
11634 W Adams St 
25863 W St James Ave 
14904 W Port Royal e Ln 
7752 E Obispo Ave 
2681 SPalm St 
8742 W Grovers Ave

4545
4233
4626
4532
4513
4516
4524
4573
4574
4611
4628
4307
4729

1,002,532.55TOTAL:
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Simon Consulting, LLC
Arizona Corporation Commission v. DenSco Investment Corporation

DenSco Investment Corporation
Non-Workout Loans to Yomtov Scott Menaged, et al. - As of 07/28/16 (Date of Denny Chittick's Death)

City, Zip Loan AmountLoan Date Loan No. Property Address
160,000.00
50,000.00

200,200.00
201.300.00

1.556.800.00
589.500.00
407.800.00
488.400.00
268.500.00
237.400.00
271.100.00
234.400.00
348.500.00
386.900.00
412.300.00
399.100.00
278.300.00
251.800.00
243.100.00
149.300.00
296.500.00

1.554.300.00
302.500.00
346.800.00
349.500.00
328.400.00
751.800.00
319.600.00
277.500.00
305.100.00
294.400.00
259.400.00
178.500.00
149.100.00
178.100.00
169.100.00
198.300.00
298.500.00
187.400.00
213.800.00
354.400.00
241.100.00
284.500.00
634.200.00
179.800.00
170.700.00
315.800.00
309.400.00
299.700.00
409.500.00
257.400.00
297.300.00

10125 ELoboAve Mesa, 85209 
Mesa, 85209 
Cave Creek, 85331 
Surprise, 85375 
Scottsdale, 85260 
Mesa, 85207 
Peoria, 85382 
Phoenix, 85083 
Mesa, 85207 
Phoenix, 85022 
Sun Lakes, 85248 
Phoenix, 85041 
Goodyear, 85395 
Goodyear, 85395 
Goodyear, 85338 
Chandler, 85225 
Chandler, 85226 
Mesa, 85209 
Gilbert, 85298 
Phoenix, 85029 
Mesa, 85209 
Paradise Valley, 85253 
Phoenix, 85024 
Scottsdale, 85259 
Scottsdale, 85259 
Phoenix, 85083 
Scottsdale, 85255 
Chandler, 85286 
Surprise, 85374 
Phoenix, 85016 
Phoenix, 85028 
Phoenix, 85020 
Phoenix, 85053 
Phoenix, 85024 
Glendale, 85308 
Surprise, 85374 
Glendale, 58308 
Fountain Hills, 85268 
Chandler, 85226 
Phoenix, 85013 
New River, 85087 
New River, 85087 
Peoria, 85382 
Phoenix, 85016 
Phoenix, 85029 
Phoenix, 85051 
Gilbert, 85297 
Scottsdale, 85255 
Litchfield Park, 85340 
Scottsdale, 85255 
Mesa, 85212 
Surprise, 85374

08/14/13
01/22/14
05/20/16
05/23/16
05/25/16
05/26/16
05/26/16
05/26/16
05/27/16
05/27/16
05/27/16
05/27/16
05/31/16
05/31/16
05/31/16
05/31/16
05/31/16
06/01/16
06/01/16
06/01/16
06/01/16
06/02/16
06/03/16
06/03/16
06/03/16
06/06/16
06/06/16
06/06/16
06/06/16
06/07/16
06/07/16
06/07/16
06/07/16
06/07/16
06/07/16
06/08/16
06/08/16
06/08/16
06/08/16
06/08/16
06/08/16
06/09/16
06/09/16
06/09/16
06/09/16
06/09/16
06/10/16
06/10/16
06/10/16
06/10/16
06/10/16
06/13/16

4523-1
4523-2 10125 ELoboAve 

6013 E Egret St 
14883 W Bloomfield Rd 
9343 E Bahia Dr 
9029 E McDowell Rd 
25173 N 73rd Lane 
5710 W Desperado Way 
7431 E Nora St 
13834 N Burning Tree PI 
10418 E Champagne Dr 
4106 W Saint KateriRd 
14850 W Robson CirN 
4377 N 157th Lane 
11329 S Orion Dr 
914 W Whitten St 
5922 W Gail Dr 
9904 E Keats Ave 
851 E Aberdeen Dr 
1610 W Joan de Arc Ave 
7140 E Medina Ave 
7531 N Silvercrest Way 
2320 E Avenida Del Sol 
13300 E Via Linda #2056 
13503 E Charter Oak Dr 
6615 W Via DonaRd 
9267 E Desert Arroyos 
1134 W Mulberry Dr 
15126 W Rounder Dr 
4808 N 24th Street #421 
2513 E Mescal St 
8845 N 4th Street 
3029 W Marconi Ave 
1126 E Utopia Rd 
3901 W Angela Dr 
14749 W Lucas Ln 
4780 W Piute Ave 
14414 N Centruy Dr 
3830 W Laredo St 
225 W Denton Ln 
43629 N 20th Street 
45905 N 33rd Avenue 
12696 N 77th Avenue 
6112 N 31st Court 
4150 W Willow Ave 
8108 N 33rd Drive 
2854 E Baars Crt 
10586 E Morning Star Dr 
640 E Bird Ln 
7542 E Glenn Moore Rd 
11509 E Rambelwood Ave 
19713 N Rim Rd

8005
8008
8016
8017
8018
8019
8021
8022
8023
8025
8026
8027
8028
8029
8030
8032
8034
8035
8036
8039
8040
8041
8042
8044
8045
8046
8047
8048
8049
8050
8051
8052
8053
8054
8055
8056
8057
8058
8059
8060
8061
8062
8063
8064
8065
8066
8067
8068
8069
8071
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Simon Consulting, LLC
Arizona Corporation Commission v. DenSco Investment Corporation

DenSco Investment Corporation
Non-Workout Loans to Yomtov Scott Menaged, et al. - As of 07/28/16 (Date of Denny Chittick's Death)

City, Zip Loan AmountLoan Date Loan No. Property Address
06/13/16 
06/13/16 
06/13/16 
06/13/16 
06/13/16 
06/14/16 
06/14/16 
06/14/16 
06/14/16 
06/14/16 
06/15/16 
06/15/16 
06/15/16 
06/15/16 
06/15/16 
06/15/16 
06/16/16 
06/17/16 
06/17/16 
06/17/16 
06/17/16 
06/17/16 
06/17/16 
06/20/16 
06/20/16 
06/20/16 
06/20/16 
06/20/16 
06/20/16 
06/21/16 
06/21/16 
06/21/16 
06/21/16

Surprise, 85379 
Glbert, 85234 
Wittmann, 85361 
Avondale, 85323 
Gilbert, 85233 
Fountain Hills, 85268 
Scottsdale, 85254 
Peoria, 85383 
Phoenix, 85045 
Phoenix, 85023 
Gilbert, 85297 
Phoenix, 85041 
Gilbert, 85296 
Mesa, 85203 
Scottsdale, 85257 
Phoenix, 85042 
Paradise Valley, 85253 
Mesa, 85202 
Glendale, 85310 
Buckeye, 85326 
Surprise, 85379 
Paradise Valley, 85253 
Mesa, 85212 
Peoria, 85383 
Chandler, 85224 
Litchfield Park, 85340 
Avondale, 85323 
Phoenix, 85041 
Phoenix, 85041 
Phoenix, 85051 
Phoenix, 85019 
Scottsdale, 85255 
Glendale, 85304

264.100.00
256.700.00
213.200.00
246.800.00
223.100.00
389.700.00
364.200.00
471.100.00
254.700.00
163.800.00
347.900.00
181.600.00 
280,100.00
178.300.00
246.500.00
175.100.00 

1,661,200.00
200.900.00
370.100.00
253.300.00
249.700.00
113.800.00
251.200.00
418.800.00
411.200.00
179.600.00
174.500.00
221.300.00
176.800.00
141.800.00
136.800.00 

1,113,600.00
153.700.00

8072 11843 N 151st Drive
8073 3221 E Campbell Rd 

28318 N 246th Drive 
2127 N 124th Drive 
1334 W Sunset Crt 
15023 N Escondido Dr 
6021 E Sweetwater Ave 
7130 W Soflwind Dr 
16421 S 17th Drive 
2343 W Port Au Prince Ln 
4561 S Ranger Crt 
6436 S 23rd Avenue 
375 E Sagebrush St 
1951 E Ivy St 
6932 E Loma Land Dr 
1843 E Donner Dr 
7712 N Moonlight LN 
2733 W Ocaso Cir 
7164 W Planada Ln 
21083 WWycliff Crt 
14342 W Evans Dr 
10301 N 70th Street #234 
9035 E Oro Ave 
28566 N 124th Drive 
700 N Dobson RD #52 
12805 W Redondo Dr 
2113 N 119th Drive 
9225 S Leilan Ln 
2131 W Vineyard Rd 
3541 W Vogel Ave 
6313 N 40th Drive 
7960 E Hanover Way 
5109 W Mercer Ln

8074
8075
8076
8077
8078
8079
8080
8081
8084
8085
8086
8087
8088
8089
8090
8091
8092
8093
8094
8095
8096
8097
8098
8099
8100
8101
8102
8103
8104
8105
8106

TOTAL: 28,332,300.00
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                SUPERIOR COURT OF ARIZONA

                   COUNTY OF MARICOPA

PETER S. DAVIS, as Receiver of      ) 
DenSco Investment Corporation, an   )
Arizona corporation,                )
                                    ) 
          Plaintiff,                )        
                                    )
vs.                                 ) NO. CV2017-013832 
                                    )
CLARK HILL, PLC, a Michigan limited ) ***CONFIDENTIAL***
liability company; DAVID G.         )
BEAUCHAMP and JANE DOE BEAUCHAMP,   )
husband and wife,                   )
                                    )
          Defendants.               ) 

 ****************************************************** 

                   ORAL DEPOSITION OF

                  YOMTOV SCOTT MENAGED 

                   SEPTEMBER 24, 2019 

                      Volume 2 OF 2

  *****************************************************

               ORAL DEPOSITION of YOMTOV SCOTT MENAGED, 

produced as a witness at the instance of the Defendants 

and duly sworn, was taken in the above-styled and 

numbered cause on September 24, 2019, from 8:17 a.m. to 

3:42 p.m., at the La Tuna Federal Correction 

Institution, Anthony, Texas, pursuant to the Arizona 

Rules of Civil Procedure.

                                           Reported by:

                       Rhonda McCay, CSR, CCR, RPR, CLR
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1      Q.  Now, do you recall that earlier, that is, in 

2 January of 2014, when Mr. Beauchamp learned that 

3 Mr. Chittick was lending directly to his borrowers, that 

4 Mr. Beauchamp was upset about that?

5      A.  He was.

6      Q.  And do you remember him swearing and getting 

7 angry with Mr. Chittick about that?

8      A.  Yes.  I believe that was my bankruptcy 

9 testimony as well.

10      Q.  It was. 

11               Because he had advised Mr. Chittick that 

12 Mr. Chittick needed a loan -- I'm sorry.  Let me 

13 rephrase. 

14               Mr. Beauchamp was upset because he had 

15 advised Mr. Chittick that Mr. Chittick needed to loan 

16 the money or pay the money directly to the trustee, 

17 correct?  

18      A.  Mr. Beauchamp was upset because he wasn't 

19 following his own loan documents.  His loan documents 

20 say "I provided a check to XYZ trustee in the amount of 

21 XYZ for purchase of property XYZ."  And that didn't 

22 happen.

23      Q.  Did you -- I understand what you just said is 

24 that the documents provided specifically for that.  And 

25 did you also understand that that was the advice 
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1 detail, involves money being wired by DenSco into your 

2 bank account and cashier's check being cut with the help 

3 of a bank representative, correct?  

4      A.  Correct.

5      Q.  And the face of the cashier's check would 

6 reference DenSco being the source of the funds and the 

7 real estate property that the monies represented by the 

8 cashier's check were to be used to buy?

9      A.  That's correct.

10      Q.  Now, you would take a picture of those 

11 cashier's checks and send them back to Denny Chittick, 

12 correct?

13      A.  Correct.

14      Q.  Was it Denny Chittick who told you he wanted 

15 evidence of those cashier's checks?

16      A.  It was.

17      Q.  Wasn't it David Beauchamp's advice to Denny 

18 Chittick that was relayed to you that David Beauchamp 

19 was telling Denny Chittick, "You need proof that the 

20 money is being paid to the trustee"?

21      A.  Yes.

22      Q.  The term sheet -- it's 1133.  But I think 

23 you'll remember this.  You may not need to look at it. 

24      A.  Okay.  Go ahead.

25      Q.  The million dollar loan was going to be secured 
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1                   C E R T I F I C A T E

2

3 STATE OF TEXAS     )

4 COUNTY OF EL PASO  )

5

6

7

8          I, Rhonda McCay, Certified Shorthand Reporter in 

9 and for the State of Texas, State of New Mexico and 

10 Registered Professional Reporter, hereby certify that 

11 this transcript is a true record of the said 

12 proceedings, and that said transcription is done to the 

13 best of my ability.

14          GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND SEAL OF OFFICE on this   

15 1st of October, 2019.

16

17

18                     ____________________________
                    Rhonda McCay, CSR, CCR, RPR

19                     Texas Certification Number 4457 
                    Date Of Expiration:  1/31/2021

20                     REPORTERS INK, LLC 
                    Firm Registration Number 420

21                     221 N. Kansas, Suite 1101
                    El Paso, Texas 79901

22                     Ph.:  915.544.1515

23               

24

25               





IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF ARIZONA 
 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF MARICOPA 
 
Peter S. Davis, as Receiver of )
DenSco Investment Corporation, )
an Arizona corporation, )
                             )
          Plaintiff,  )
 )
      vs.                          )  NO. CV2017-013832 
 )
Clark Hill PLC, a Michigan )
limited liability company; )
David G. Beauchamp and Jane Doe )
Beauchamp, Husband and Wife,  )
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___________________________________) 
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SHAWNA CHITTICK HEUER, 8/22/2018                          

represent you in your capacity as the personal

representative for the estate?

A. Correct.

Q. And we will look at the chronology of that.

Your -- you had a lawyer in Idaho who was a 

friend of yours -- 

A. Correct.

Q. -- who had some involvement on this matter --

A. Correct.

Q. -- right?

A. Yes.

Q. I've lost track.  Is it Holbrand or -- 

A. Peter Erbland.

Q. Erbland.  Could you spell that?

A. E-r-b-l-a-n-d.

Q. What is your relationship with him?

A. He is the corporate attorney for my business or

my company that I work for, a close friend of the owner,

and I have known him a long time.  He was a friend.

Q. And I'm not going to ask you what you and he

spoke about or any advice or consultation you may have

had, but what role did he play with respect to helping you

get through this difficult time?

A. I went to him after I came back from Phoenix.  I

don't think it was the first time.  I went to him after I
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SHAWNA CHITTICK HEUER, 8/22/2018                          

received the subpoena and I explained to him this position

I was in, and that I had been referred to this attorney

and could he recommend one.  How do I -- how do I even

find the right attorney.  

You know, I just needed some guidance, and he 

told me he was happy to help me and he listened to me.  

And he contacted Kevin Merritt, spoke with him, did a 

little due diligence on his own part and said:  He is a 

good guy.  I think he would be a good person for you to 

use.  So he kind of gave me some direction. 

Q. Do you know if you spoke to any other lawyers or

he spoke to any other lawyers to serve in that role?

A. No.

Q. Do you remember whether you got any other names

other than the Gammage & Burnham lawyers?

A. David might have given me a couple of names, but

Kevin was the one that I think I remembered, and I took

that to Peter.

Q. You indicated a moment ago that David told you

that he was worried about a conflict.

Do you remember that testimony? 

A. Yes.

Q. And he wanted to make sure that you had

representation separately --

A. Yes.
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SHAWNA CHITTICK HEUER, 8/22/2018                          

BE IT KNOWN that the foregoing proceeding was 
taken before me; that the witness before testifying was 
duly sworn by me to testify to the whole truth; that the 
questions propounded to the witness and the answers of the 
witness thereto were taken down by me in shorthand and 
thereafter reduced to typewriting under my direction; that 
the foregoing is a true and correct transcript of all 
proceedings had upon the taking of said deposition, all 
done to the best of my skill and ability. 

 
I CERTIFY that I am in no way related to any of 

the parties hereto nor am I in any way interested in the 
outcome hereof. 
 
 

[X]  Review and signature was requested. 
[ ]  Review and signature was waived. 
[ ]  Review and signature was not requested. 

 
 

I CERTIFY that I have complied with the ethical 
obligations in ACJA Sections 7-206(F)(3) and 
7-206-(J)(1)(g)(1) and (2). 
 
 
                                              9/3/2018  
_______________________________________     _____________ 
Kelly Sue Oglesby                               Date 
Arizona Certified Reporter No. 50178 
 
 

I CERTIFY that JD Reporting, Inc. has complied 
with the ethical obligations in ACJA Sections 
7-206(J)(1)(g)(1) and (6). 
 
 
                                              9/3/2018 
_______________________________________     _____________ 
JD REPORTING, INC.                              Date 
Arizona Registered Reporting Firm R1012 
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